
 
  
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

Town Hall 
 Royal Tunbridge Wells 

 
Tuesday 10 July 2012 

 
 

 
To the Members of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  
 
I request your attendance at a meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to 
be held at the Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, on 
Wednesday, 18 July 2012, at 6.30 pm, when the following business is proposed to 
be transacted. 
 

1 Apologies for absence   

2 Declaration of interest   
In accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, at Part 6 of the 
Constitution. 
 
If a member has a prejudicial interest in an agenda item, this should be 
declared as the start of the meeting. 
 
Personal interests may be declared at this point or, alternatively, can be 
declared at the time when the specific item is being discussed. 
 
Members in doubt about such a declaration are advised to contact the 
Monitoring Officer before the date of the meeting.  

3 Announcements   
To receive announcements from the Mayor, the Leader of the Council, 
members of the Cabinet and the Chief Executive.  

4 The minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 1 - 18) 
The minutes of the previous meetings held on 23 May 2012 and 19 June 
2012 to be approved as a correct record.  

5 Questions from members of the public   
To receive questions from members of the public, of which due notice has 
been given, pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 21, to be submitted and 
answered.  

6 Questions from members of the Council   
To receive questions from members of the Council, of which due notice has 
been given, pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 18, to be submitted and 
answered.  

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 
 
 

7 New 'Standards Arrangements' for the Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Area (TWBA) under the Localism 
Act 2011  (Pages 19 - 70) 

8 Audit, Standards and Overview and Scrutiny Committees Annual 
Reports 2011/12  (Pages 71 - 116) 

9 Housing Strategy 2012-17  (Pages 117 - 180) 

10 Civic Medallion Award Scheme 2012  (Pages 181 - 186) 

11 Common Seal of the Council   
To authorise the Common Seal of the Council to be affixed to any contract, 
minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes, or pursuant to 
any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council.  

 
 

William Benson 
Chief Executive 

 



 
 

 
 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, duly convened and held at the 
Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, at 10.00 am on Wednesday, 23 May 

2012 
 

PRESENT:  
 

Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu, Bothwell, Chapelard, Mrs Cobbold, 
Mrs Crowhurst, Cunningham, Miss Derrick, Elliott, Dr Hall, Hastie, Ms Hill, Hills, Holden, 
Horwood, Lewis, Lockhart, Mrs March, McDermott, Neve, Noakes, Mrs Palmer, Patterson, 

Poile, Price, Rogers, Rook, Rusbridge, Scholes, Scott, Smith, Mrs Soyke, Stanyer, 
Mrs Thomas, Tompsett, Waldock, Wauchope, Ward, Mrs Weatherly, Webb and Woodward 

 
IN ATTENDANCE:  William Benson (Chief Executive), Paul Cummins (Legal Services 
Manager/Monitoring Officer) and Jane Clarke (Local Democracy Officer) 
 
APOLOGIES 
 
FC1/12 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Jukes, Bulman, Weeden, Mayhew 
and Williams. 
 

ELECTION OF MAYOR AND APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR 
 
FC2/12 
 

Election of the Mayor 
 
The Mayor proposed that Councillor John Smith be elected Mayor for the 
Municipal Year 2012/13. The Mayor praised Councillor Smith’s hard work as 
Deputy Mayor over the past year, and believed that he and his wife would 
fulfil his duties as Mayor well. She wished him success in his forthcoming 
year as Mayor, and commended his nomination to the Council. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King seconded the nomination and praised Councillor 
Smith’s diligence and hard work and noted several committees that he had 
served on, most notably as Chairman of Overview & Scrutiny during a period 
where the Council moved from a ‘weak’ rating to ‘excellent’. Councillor Smith 
was known as being proud to state he ‘loves where he lives’ and tried to 
represent the villages he served well, ensuring that the Council provided good 
value for money. Councillor Barrington-King believed he was an excellent 
candidate for Mayor, and urged the council to vote in favour of the 
nomination. 
 
Councillor Neve fully supported the nomination on behalf of the Liberal 
Democrats, and he was pleased to see a Mayor nominated from the rural 
area. 
 
Councillor Hill wished the Mayor a successful year on behalf of the Labour 
group and looked forward to working with him through the coming year. 
 
Councillor Webb fully endorsed the sentiments of the other groups and 
wished the Mayor well on behalf of the UK Independence Party group. 
 
A vote was taken to elect Councillor John Smith as Mayor for the ensuing 
Municipal Year. 
 

CARRIED 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 
 

 
 

 
RESOLV ED –  
 
That Councillor John Smith is elected Mayor for the ensuing Municipal Year 
2012/13. 
 
The new Mayor, Councillor Smith, thanked the members of the Council for 
electing him as Mayor. He felt that the previous Mayor had set a high 
standard and he hoped to live up to it. Councillor Smith had always been 
involved in local events, organisations and charities, and was first involved 
with local government in 2002, and during his time at the Council, was 
particularly proud of the period when the Council turned from a ‘weak’ 
performing organisation to a ‘strong’ performing one. Councillor Smith 
referred to long-standing issues within his local ward that he wanted to see 
resolved this year, and thanked his family and friends for supporting him 
throughout his involvement in political and civic life. 
 
The Mayor said that his priorities for the year would be his charity fund-raising 
for Hospice in the Weald, promoting youth and the voluntary sector – in 
particular helping young people to become involved with sport, jobs and the 
local economy – seeing money re-invested in local businesses, towns and 
villages, and helping the Council to manage its assets wisely and cautiously. 
Lastly, he thanked everyone for their support and good wishes. 
 
The Mayor announced that he had appointed the Reverend Alan Norris as his 
Chaplain, until his retirement in September. 
 
Appointment of the Deputy Mayor 
 
Councillor Scholes proposed that Councillor Ronen Basu be appointed 
Deputy Mayor for the ensuing Municipal Year. Councillor Scholes said that 
Councillor Basu had previously worked as a pathologist and had been 
awarded a Fellowship of the Royal College of Pathologists. He had been 
elected in 2008 and served on various committees with quiet determination. 
Councillor Basu also worked on several community projects with enthusiasm, 
as he would no doubt undertake the role of Deputy Mayor. Councillor Scholes 
commended the appointment of Councillor Basu as Deputy Mayor to the 
Council. 
 
Councillor Price seconded the nomination and fully endorsed the sentiments 
of Councillor Scholes. 
 
A vote was taken to appoint Councillor Ronen Basu as Deputy Mayor for the 
ensuing Municipal Year. 
 

CARRIED 
 

RESOLVED – That Councillor Ronen Basu is appointed Deputy Mayor for the 
ensuing Municipal Year 2012/13. 
 
The Deputy Mayor thanked Councillors Scholes and Price for his nomination, 
and gave thanks to Christine and John Davis for encouraging him to stand as 
a councillor, the Chief Executive for his professionalism, and his wife Sue 
Basu, who was also very excited about the coming Mayoral year. 
 

PRESENTATION OF A BADGE TO THE IMMEDIATE PAST MAYOR 

Agenda Item 4

Page 2



 
 

 
 

 
FC3/12 
 

A badge of office was presented to the immediate past Mayor, Councillor 
Elizabeth Thomas, and her Escort, Mr Robert Thomas.  
 
Councillor Thomas was sad to be leaving the role, but was glad to have been 
Mayor in the first place. She had supported many societies, charities and 
organisations during her Mayoral year, and her theme of Children Supporting 
Children had culminated in the Mayor’s Invitation Show at the Assembly Hall, 
which had raised £2,000 for her chosen charity Fegans, which supported 
local children. She had visited many schools during her time as Mayor and 
encouraged children to interact with civic life. The Mayor gave thanks to the 
Mayoral Office team, who had supported her so well throughout her year, and 
was pleased to present a cheque to Fegans for £18,000. 
 

DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 
FC4/12 
 

There were none. 
 

RETURN OF PERSONS ELECTED TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
FC5/12 
 

The Chief Executive, William Benson, as Returning Officer for the 3 May 
2012 Borough Elections, submitted the return of persons elected to Borough 
Councillors as set out in the agenda report. 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
FC6/12 
 

The Mayor made the following announcement: 
 
A) Hospice in the Weald – The Mayor had chosen Hospice in the Weald 

as the Mayors charity for this year. They were a charity based in 
Pembury, covering a population of over 350,000 people, and provided 
compassionate, individual, supportive and holistic care to people in 
the community they served.  

 
Their services were provided completely free of charge to patients, 
carers and their families and was not a part of the NHS. Running the 
charity cost over £5,000,000 each year, over £4,000,000 of which 
came from the local community. The Mayor hoped to raise a sum of 
£50,000 for the charity, through events such as Spring Ball, a sky 
dive, a classic car rally, two golf days and an evening event at 
Sissinghurst Castle. 

 
B) Royal Visit 31 May 2012 – The Mayor noted that the Earl and 

Countess of Wessex would be visiting Royal Tunbridge Wells on 31 
May 2012 for the Queen’s Diamond Jubilee. 

 
C) London Olympic Torch – The Mayor noted that the Olympic Torch 

would be visiting the Borough on 17 July 2012. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



 
 

 
 

 
ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC7/12 
 

Councillor Scholes proposed that Councillor David Jukes be elected as 
Leader of the Borough Council for a term of four years, or until the end of his 
term of office, whichever was the sooner.  
 
Councillor Barrington-King seconded the proposals. 
 
Councillor Scholes read out a statement on behalf of Councillor Jukes as 
follows: 
 
“It’s the first time in over 20 years that I have missed a Council AGM and 
Mayor Making ceremony. However I expected Bob Atwood to be Leader of 
the Council and that my absence wouldn’t be noticed. 
 
As it is I have to complete certain contractual obligations overseas which 
have been arranged for some months. 
 
I would like to record my thanks to the outgoing Mayor, Councillor Elizabeth 
Thomas, for a splendid year in office, and offer my best wishes to the new 
Mayor, Councillor John Smith, at the beginning of which I am sure is going to 
be a great year, and also to Councillor Ronan Basu on his appointment as 
Deputy Mayor.” 
 
A vote was taken to elect Councillor David Jukes as Leader of the Borough 
Council for a term of four years or until the end of his term of office, whichever 
was the sooner. 
 

CARRIED 
 

RESOLVED – That Councillor David Jukes is elected as Leader of the 
Borough Council for a term of four years, or until the end of his term of office, 
whichever is the sooner. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF THE LEADER'S APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY LEADER, CABINET 
MEMBERS AND PORTFOLIOS 
 
FC8/12 
 

On behalf of the newly-elected Leader of the Council, Councillor Scholes read 
out the appointments to Deputy Leader, Cabinet Members and Portfolios as 
follows: 
 
Councillor James Scholes, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Governance. 
 
Councillor Jane March, Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure and Economic 
Development. 
 
Councillor Paul Barrington-King, Portfolio Holder for Sustainability. 
 
Councillor Bill Hills, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Transportation. 
 
Councillor John Cunningham, Portfolio Holder for Health, Wellbeing and 
Rural Communities.  
 

ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS AND NOMINATIONS FOR 

Agenda Item 4

Page 4



 
 

 
 

COMMITTEES 
 
FC9/12 
 

The Mayor proposed that as a consensus agreement had been reached 
between the Group Leaders regarding the allocations of seats to political 
groups and nominations for committees, the recommendations be taken on a 
bloc vote. 
 

VOTE CARRIED  
 

RESOLVED – That Full Council approves: 
 

1) The alternative allocation of seats to committees subject to 
political balance (table ii) and the appointments to committees 
subject to political balance are approved (appendix A); 

 
2) The appointments to Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the 

Committees subject to political balance are approved 
(appendix A); 

 
3) Five members of the Council are appointed to the Standards 

Committee as indicated in appointments to committees 
(appendix A); 

 
4) Mrs Barbara Varney be re-appointed as Chairman and 

Anthony Pawson be re-appointed as Vice-Chairman of the 
Standards Committee until the Annual Council meeting in 
2013, or until the Council resolves new ‘standards 
arrangements’, whichever is the earlier (to reflect changes to 
be introduced under the Localism Act 2011); 

 
5) Members of the Council are appointed to the Eastern Area 

Planning Committee and Western Area Planning Committee, 
in accordance with the Group Leaders wishes,  as indicated 
(appendix A); 

 
6) The Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Eastern Area 

Planning Committee and Western Area Planning Committee 
are appointed as indicated (appendix A). 

 
COMMON SEAL OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC10/12 
 

RESOLVED – That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any 
contract, minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes or 
pursuant to any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 11.10 am. 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix A 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointments to Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and Committees 2012/13 

 
 

1) Appointments to politically balanced committees using alternative allocations: 

 
APPEALS COMMITTEE 
         
1. Councillor Mrs Thomas  Chairman  Substitutes 
2. Councillor Stanyer Vice-Chairman 1. Councillor Barrington-King Conservatives 
3. Councillor Bulman Conservative 2. Councillor Noakes   
4. Councillor Jukes  3. Vacant 

5. Councillor Chapelard Liberal Democrat    
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
1. Councillor Horwood Chairman  Independent Members: 
2. Councillor Ward Vice-Chairman 1. Mr M Lewis 
3. Councillor G Hall  Conservative 2. Mr D Greene 
4. Councillor Scott  3. Mr J Hedges 
5. Councillor Stanyer    

6. Councillor Rook Liberal Democrat   
 
 
GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

1.  Councillor Hastie Chairman  Substitutes 
2.  Councillor Price Vice-Chairman 1. Councillor Basu                     Conservatives 
3.  Councillor Scholes Conservative 2. Councillor Horwood         
4.  Councillor Lockhart  3. Councillor Rogers 
5.  Councillor Ward  4. Councillor Elliott 
6.  Councillor Woodward    
7. Councillor Mrs Weatherly    

8.   Councillor Patterson Liberal Democrat 5. Vacant                    Liberal Democrat 
       
     
 

Appendix A

Page 7



 

 
 
INVESTIGATORY COMMITTEE 
         
1.  Councillor Mrs March Chairman  Substitutes 

2. Councillor Mrs Mayhew Vice-Chairman 1.  Councillor Cunningham 
3. Councillor G Hall Conservative 2. Councillor Lockhart 
4.  Councillor Rusbridge  3. Vacant 

5. Councillor Chapelard Liberal Democrat   
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

1.  Councillor Mrs Cobbold Chairman 
2.  Councillor Basu Vice-Chairman 
3.  Councillor Bothwell Vice-Chairman 
4.  Councillor Backhouse Conservative 
5.  Councillor Miss Derrick  
6.  Councillor McDermott  
7.  Councillor Scott  
8.  Councillor Mrs Soyke  
9. Councillor Ward  
10. Councillor Williams  
11. Councillor Rusbridge  

12. Councillor Patterson Vice-Chairman Liberal Democrat 

13. Councillor Tompsett Independent 

14. Councillor Ms Hill Labour 

15. Councillor Webb UKIP 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

1.  Councillor Mrs Mayhew Chairman 
2.  Councillor Price Vice-Chairman 
3.  Councillor Miss Derrick Conservative 
4.  Councillor Holden  
5.  Councillor McDermott  
6.  Councillor Noakes  
7.  Councillor Ms Palmer  
8.  Councillor Mrs Thomas  
9. Councillor Waldock  

10. Councillor Rook Liberal Democrat 

11. Councillor Lewis Labour 

12. Councillor Wauchope UKIP 
 

Appendix A

Page 8



 

 
COMMUNITIES CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 

1. Councillor Cunningham Chairman   
2. Councillor Miss Derrick Vice-Chairman   
3. Councillor Backhouse Conservative   
4. Councillor Barrington-King    
5. Councillor Mrs Cobbold    
6. Councillor Mrs Crowhurst    
7. Councillor Mrs March    
8. Councillor Ms Palmer    

9. Councillor Patterson Liberal Democrat   

10. Councillor Ms Hill Labour   

11. Councillor Tompsett Independent   
 
FINANCE AND GOVERNANCE CABINET ADVISORY BOARD  
 
1. Councillor Scholes Chairman   
2. Councillor Mrs Soyke Vice-Chairman   
3. Councillor Holden Conservative   
4. Councillor Horwood    

5. Councillor Jukes    
6. Councillor McDermott    
7. Councillor Scott    
8. Councillor Mrs Weatherly    
9. Councillor Woodward       

10. Councillor Poile Liberal Democrat   
11. Councillor Rook    

 
PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION CABINET ADVISORY BOARD  
 
1. Councillor Hills Chairman   
2. Councillor Dr Hall Vice-Chairman   
3. Councillor Backhouse Conservative   
4. Councillor Noakes    
5. Councillor Rogers    
6. Councillor Rusbridge    
7. Councillor Mrs Thomas    

8. Councillor Ward    

9. Councillor Neve Liberal Democrat   

10. Councillor Lewis Labour   

11. Councillor Webb UKIP   
 

Appendix A

Page 9



 

2) Appointments to Committees not subject to political balance: 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

Borough Council Members: Independent Members: 
1. Councillor Mrs Crowhurst      Conservative 1.  Mrs B Varney      Chairman 
2. Councillor Elliott                     2.  Mr A Pawson      Vice-Chairman 
3. Councillor Rusbridge 3.  Mrs L Assirati 
4. Councillor Weeden 4.  Mr R Segall Jones 

5. Councillor Poile             Liberal Democrat 5.  Mr S Spanswick 
   
  Parish/Town Council Members: 
  1.  Councillor Mrs C Codd 
  2.  Councillor D Henshaw 
  3.  Councillor M Mackenzie 
  4.  Councillor Mrs March 
  5.  Vacancy 
 
EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

1. Councillor Holden Chairman  Substitutes 
2. Councillor Noakes Vice-Chairman 1. Councillor Ms Palmer    Conservatives 
3. Councillor Dr Hall Conservative 2. Councillor Waldock 
4. Councillor McDermott    
5. Councillor Ward    
6. Councillor Weeden    
7. Councillor Mrs Thomas    
8. Councillor Cunningham    

9. Councillor Rook Liberal Democrat   

10. Councillor Tompsett Independent   
 
 
WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. Councillor Rusbridge Chairman  Substitutes 
2. Councillor Elliott Vice-Chairman 1. Councillor Miss Derrick   Conservatives 
3. Councillor Backhouse Conservative 2. Councillor Williams 
4. Councillor Basu    

5. Councillor Bothwell    
6. Councillor Mrs Cobbold    
7. Councillor Mrs Soyke    
8. Councillor Scholes    

9. Councillor Poile Liberal Democrat   

10. Councillor Webb UKIP   
 

 

Appendix A

Page 10



 
 

 
 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, duly convened and held at the 
Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, at 6.30 pm on Tuesday, 19 June 

2012 
 

PRESENT:  
 

The Mayor Councillor John Smith (Chairman) 
Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu (Deputy Chair), Bothwell, Bulman, 
Chapelard, Mrs Cobbold, Mrs Crowhurst, Cunningham, Dr Hall, Hastie, Ms Hill, Holden, 
Horwood, Jukes, Lewis, Lockhart, Mrs March, McDermott, Neve, Noakes, Patterson, 

Poile, Rogers, Rook, Rusbridge, Scholes, Scott, Mrs Soyke, Stanyer, Tompsett, Waldock, 
Wauchope, Ward, Mrs Weatherly, Weeden, Williams and Woodward 

 
IN ATTENDANCE:  William Benson (Chief Executive), Paul Cummins (Legal Services 
Manager/Monitoring Officer) and Jane Clarke (Local Democracy Officer) 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
FC11/12 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Elliott, Miss Derrick, 
Ms Palmer and Mrs Thomas. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
FC12/12 
 

There were none. 
 

PARKING PERMIT PETITION - TUNBRIDGE WELLS RESIDENTS AGAINST GROSS 
EXTORTION 
 
FC13/12 
 

The Council considered a petition from Tunbridge Wells Residents Against 
Gross Extortion (RAGE) stating: 
 

“We the undersigned object to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council’s 
intention to raise residents’ parking permits for vehicles including 
motorcycles to £60 from £20 just two years ago. 
 
We call upon the Council to debate the proposal in full session before 
April 1 2012 when the new charges are due to be implemented.” 

 
The Mayor called forward the petition organiser, Mr Fraser Wilson, to speak 
on the petition for five minutes. 
 
Mr Wilson began by thanking members and expressed disappointment that 
the issue needed to be debated at Full Council. He noted that in the current 
economic climate, wages were rising very slowly, or not at all, and this 
increase in the cost of parking permits represented a huge rise. He asked the 
Council what their justification was for increasing the permit price by 100 
percent a year ago, and 50 percent this year.  
 
Mr Wilson stated that several residents who had signed the petition had told 
him they were now thinking of reducing the number of cars in their household 
because of the cost, and highlighted issues around the availability of parking 
for residents during the daytime, and in particular after 6pm when the permit 
restrictions stopped. Even though they had paid for a permit, many residents 
had to park several streets away from their house because of a lack of 

Appendix B

Page 11



 
 

 
 

parking. Mr Wilson also highlighted that many, like himself, had to pay large 
sums of money to park in the Network Rail car park when commuting to 
London. 
 
Mr Wilson went on to say that he did not feel enough consultation had been 
conducted around the issue, and did not feel the Borough Councillors were 
representing residents adequately on this issue. Residents assumed the 
money collected from permits contributed to maintenance, but both road and 
pavement conditions in Tunbridge Wells were poor, and the rise in cost of the 
permits did not reflect a rise in service. 
 
The Mayor thanked Mr Wilson and opened the item for debate. He asked the 
Leader of the Council, Councillor Jukes, to begin. 
 
Councillor Jukes thanked the petition organiser for attending the meeting, and 
proposed a motion for debate as follows: 
 

“The Council acknowledges the petition received from some residents 
under the banner of Tunbridge Wells Against Gross Extortion and 
understands the concerns of some residents to pay an increased 
charge for a permit. The Council has a requirement to recover the cost 
of running the residents’ permit scheme and on the principle of the 
user pays has therefore decided to cover the cost through income 
received from permits issued rather than through funding from other 
income sources such as Council Tax. 

 
The Council also notes that the Cabinet decision to increase the cost 
of residents’ permits to £60 from 1 April 2012 reflected the Policy 
Framework and the Council’s Budget approved by Full Council on 22 
February 2012, and the Council therefore endorses the decision made 
by Cabinet to increase the cost of residents’ permits.” 

 
Councillor Scholes seconded the motion. 
 
Councillor Weeden said that the parking permit was introduced in 1995 by a 
Liberal Democrat administration and set at £20 per annum. Due to 
subsequent years of negligence, the permit was not increased with the cost of 
inflation, and so residents had benefited from this situation. 
 
Councillor Neve referred to a meeting of the Economy & Governance 
Overview & Scrutiny Select Committee in November 2011, where a report on 
Parking Fees and Charges had been submitted to members for consultation. 
This report had not included information regarding the proposed increase in 
parking permit charges, and so this could not be discussed, representing a 
lack of consultation on the issue. Councillor Neve noted it had been made 
available to the subsequent Cabinet meeting however. 
 
Councillor Neve also felt that this rise was due to a need to increase income, 
and believed the charges would now be going up year on year on the excuse 
of the ‘user pays’. However, he felt that any charges should be to cover costs 
and not increase revenue. With the cost of producing a permit stated as 
£1.66, Councillor Neve assumed the rest of the charge was for maintenance 
and enforcement of the scheme. However, he showed a series of photos to 
members that demonstrated the parking bays and lining were not being 
maintained, with many lines missing. 
 

Appendix B

Page 12



 
 

 
 

Councillor Neve had carried out comparison charges with other Councils and 
believed that the average paid was around £45, which he felt was more 
appropriate. He also did not feel that motorbikes should be charged £60 per 
permit, and NHS workers should not be charged a second time if they 
changed their vehicles during the year. 
 
Councillor Neve proposed an amendment to the motion as follows: 
 

“The Council acknowledges the petition received from some residents 
under the banner of Tunbridge Wells Against Gross Extortion and 
understands the concerns of some residents to pay an increased 
charge for a permit. The Council has a requirement to recover the cost 
of running the residents’ permit scheme and on the principle of the 
user pays has therefore decided to cover the cost through income 
received from permits issued rather than through funding from other 
income sources such as Council Tax. 

 
The Council makes a recommendation to Cabinet to consider: 
 

1. Charges based on CO2 emissions starting at £40. 
2. Permit holder only restrictions increased to 8am – 8pm in all 
zones. 

3. Removal of the additional charge for NHS workers changing 
their car during the year.  

4. The relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder to undertake a review 
of parking bays.” 

 
Councillor Chapelard seconded the amendment. 
 
Councillor Ward said that he fully endorsed the principle of the ‘user pays’ for 
the service, but queried whether the true cost of the permit was £60. 
 
The Finance & Governance Portfolio Holder, Councillor Scholes, referred to a 
comment made by the previous Planning & Transportation Portfolio Holder 
regarding the cost of permits: it was impossible to break down the cost of a 
permit, but using the statistical information available, it was likely to cost £86, 
which was based on the basic cost of the service divided by the number of 
permits issued. 
 
Councillor Holden was sympathetic to residents, but queried whether £60 was 
actually enough to recover the costs of the permit scheme. He did feel it was 
unfair to increase the price without providing a commensurate increase in 
service, and after viewing the photos from Councillor Neve he agreed that 
parking was an issue that needed to be relooked at, possibly as part of the 
next Budget setting process. 
  
Councillor Woodward had conducted a small amount of research on this 
issue and noted that some councils had a graded scheme for permits, with an 
average vehicle permit costing around £136.50. He referred to Councillor 
Neve’s amendment and raised concern over the effect that a CO2 charging 
scheme would have on residents’ permits. He felt that the average price paid 
by residents might be higher if such a scheme was introduced, and the 
overall cost of the administration of the scheme would be increased. 
 
Councillor Stanyer noted that the Council had sophisticated software tools to 
analyse and compare the cost of the permits, and he was satisfied that the 

Appendix B

Page 13



 
 

 
 

rate was fair. He did feel there was a better way to charge residents however, 
and believed more thought should be given to this for next year’s budget. He 
suggested emulating London Boroughs that charge according to the 
emissions a car produced, and charging additional cars in a family at a penal 
rate. He believed it was fair to ration overused car parking spaces in any 
event. 
 
Councillor Tompsett felt that permit holding residents were being singled out 
by the Council. People were feeling disillusioned and disengaged with 
politics, and many residents felt that Councillors were out-of-touch. As such, 
Councillor Tompsett was concerned that the Council was raising the price of 
the residents’ parking permits given the strength of feeling against this, and 
felt the Council should listen to the resident more. 
 
Councillor Dr Hall was sympathetic to residents, but noted that many who 
lived in London paid much higher prices for parking. She believed that many 
residents in Tunbridge Wells wanted the parking scheme to be extended to 
include their area, but agreed that restricting the permit hours to 8am to 8pm 
would answer some of the concerns the residents who did live in a parking 
scheme area had raised. She also agreed that better signage was needed.  
 
Councillor Neve requested a recorded vote on each element of the 
amendment. The Chief Executive, Mr Benson, advised that a vote needed to 
be taken on the amendment as put, and it could not be voted on in several 
parts. As such, Councillor Neve requested a recorded vote on the 
amendment in its entirety. 
 
The Mayor took a recorded vote on the amendment as follows: 
 
FOR: Councillors Rook, Patterson, Poile, Chapelard, Neve, Wauchope, 
Lewis, Ms Hill and Tompsett. 
 
AGAINST: Councillors Jukes, Scholes, Barrington-King, Cunningham, 
McDermott, Mrs March, Holden, Dr Hall, Mrs Cobbold, Woodward, Rogers, 
Noakes, Hastie, Ward, Waldock, Horwood, Bulman, Lockhart, Mrs Crowhurst, 
Williams, Weeden, Backhouse, Mrs Weatherly, Scott, Bothwell, Rusbridge, 
Mrs Soyke, Stanyer, Basu. 
 
ABSTENTIONS: Councillor Smith. 
 

AMENDMENT FAILED 
 

The Mayor returned the debate to the original motion as put by Councillor 
Jukes. 
 
Councillor Wauchope felt that the Council had missed an opportunity to listen 
to residents and felt that the Cabinet should have set out more fully, for the 
benefit of residents and other Councillors, why it had come to this view. 
 
Councillor Ms Hill said that residents in her area were struggling and this was 
not the action of a caring Council. She felt that the true costs of the permit 
scheme were unknown and residents needed their cars, especially during 
these difficult economic times. She urged Councillors to vote against the 
motion. 
 
Councillor Bulman had some sympathy with the residents, and agreed that 

Appendix B

Page 14



 
 

 
 

the facts needed to be clearly laid out for everyone to examine. It was a 
dramatic increase over a short timeframe, but the Council had agreed it as 
part of the Budget Policy Framework, which he had supported at the time. 
 
Councillor Ward did not feel there was enough information to justify coming to 
a conclusion on this issue, and requested that the Council defer the decision 
until a later date. 
 
Councillor Rook said that his constituents had challenged the principle of 
‘user pays’, and instead had decided to offer free parking in Cranbrook as it 
impacted on the economy of the town as a whole. He felt that £60 to produce 
a parking permit was far too high, and believed that if this was mainly due to 
the enforcement, then the enforcement charges recovered should pay for this 
instead. 
 
Councillor Chapelard said that a rise for £20 to £60 was equivalent to a 28% 
rise in Council Tax based on the 2010 base rate. If the Cabinet believed that 
the parking permit charges should cover the cost of the scheme, and the 
scheme cost £86 per permit to deliver, he asked would the price be going up 
to £86 next year. Councillor Chapelard ran through figures generated 
following a Freedom of Information request submitted to the Council 
regarding parking permit charges, and stated that the total cost for running 
the scheme was £310,394. The Council raised £220,000 in parking fines, and 
only employed 17 parking attendants even though the permit fee calculation 
was based on 20 parking attendants. Accordingly, Councillor Chapelard 
believed that the true cost of the scheme was running at a surplus of £13,000 
each year, which should therefore have reduced the cost of a parking permit 
to £45.88. As such, Councillor Chapelard proposed an amendment to the 
motion put by Councillor Jukes as follows: 
 

“The Council asks the Cabinet to suspend its decision to increase the 
cost of residents’ permits to £60 from 1 April 2012 until there is a full, 
accurate and transparent costing exercise carried out.” 

 
Councillor Lewis seconded the amendment. 
 
Speaking further on his amendment, Councillor Chapelard stated that the 
current permit scheme did not represent value for money as the Council did 
not know how many parking bays were available, and therefore how many 
permits could be sent out. He did not feel residents were being treated fairly, 
and felt that a 200 percent increase in charges did not represent a similar 
increase in service. 
 
Councillor Neve requested a recorded vote on the amendment. 
 
The Mayor put the amendment to a recorded vote as follows: 
 
IN FAVOUR: Councillors Rook, Patterson, Poile, Chapelard, Neve, 
Wauchope, Lewis, Ms Hill and Tompsett. 
 
AGAINST: Councillors Jukes, Scholes, Barrington-King, Cunningham, 
McDermott, Mrs March, Holden, Dr Hall, Mrs Cobbold, Woodward, Rogers, 
Noakes, Hastie, Waldock, Horwood, Williams, Weeden, Backhouse, Mrs 
Weatherly, Scott, Bothwell, Rusbridge, Mrs Soyke, Stanyer, Basu. 
 
ABSTENTIONS: Councillors Ward, Bulman, Mrs Crowhurst, Smith. 

Appendix B

Page 15



 
 

 
 

 
AMENDMENT FAILED 

 
The Mayor returned the debate to the original motion put by Councillor Jukes. 
 
Councillor Scholes said that the parking permit charge had not been 
increased for a number of years but, as a result of the economic situation, the 
Council needed to drive down costs for services as much as possible. As a 
result of this, there was no automatic presumption that costs to tax payers 
would increase in subsequent years. He noted that the charges were included 
as part of the Budget, and the questions around the parking permit fees could 
have been fully addressed whilst the Budget was being set, had members 
wished to know at that stage. Aside from this, Councillor Scholes was 
confident the cost of the permit scheme was over £60 per permit, and he was 
therefore satisfied that this price increase was fair. 
 
Councillor Jukes concluded the debate and noted that the charging for permit 
parking had been introduced by the Liberal Democrat administration in 1995. 
The rate had been set at £20 and petrol at that time was around 50 pence per 
litre. Motoring costs had risen greatly over the ensuing years, but the 
residents’ parking permit charge had remained at £20. If the permit had been 
increased with inflation year on year, residents would have been charged a 
much greater amount overall. 
 
He had taken on board the comments regarding a lack of signage and lining, 
but felt the permit price should have been increased some time ago. He also 
noted that many residents who paid to park in the Network Rail car park could 
save hundreds of pounds a year by taking advantage of the reduced price 
season tickets the Council sold for parking in Great Hall car park instead. 
Finally, he said that the ‘user pays’ was a key principle of the current 
administration and he believed the current charge of £60 was fair. 
 
Councillor Neve requested a recorded vote on the motion. 
 
The Mayor put the motion to a recorded vote as follows: 
 
IN FAVOUR: Councillors Jukes, Scholes, Barrington-King, Cunningham, 
McDermott, Mrs March, Holden, Dr Hall, Mrs Cobbold, Woodward, Rogers, 
Noakes, Hastie, Horwood, Mrs Crowhurst, Williams, Weeden, Backhouse, 
Mrs Weatherly, Scott, Bothwell, Rusbridge, Mrs Soyke, Stanyer and Basu. 
 
AGAINST: Councillors Rook, Patterson, Poile, Chapelard, Neve, Wauchope, 
Lewis, Ms Hill and Tompsett. 
 
ABSTENTIONS: Councillors Ward, Waldock, Bulman and Smith. 
 

VOTE CARRIED 
 
 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
That the Council acknowledges the petition received from some residents 
under the banner of Tunbridge Wells Against Gross Extortion and 
understands the concerns of some residents to pay an increased charge for a 
permit. The Council has a requirement to recover the cost of running the 

Appendix B

Page 16



 
 

 
 

residents’ permit scheme and on the principle of the user pays has therefore 
decided to cover the cost through income received from permits issued rather 
than through funding from other income sources such as Council Tax. 
 
The Council also notes that the Cabinet decision to increase the cost of 
residents’ permits to £60 from 1 April 2012 reflected the Policy Framework 
and the Council’s Budget approved by Full Council on 22 February 2012 and 
Council therefore endorses the decision made by Cabinet to increase the cost 
of residents’ permits.  
 

COMMON SEAL OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC14/12 
 

RESOLVED – That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any 
contract, minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes or 
pursuant to any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council. 

 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 7.55 pm. 
 

Appendix B

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 

New ‘Standards Arrangements’ for the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Area (TWBA) under the Localism Act 2011  
 
To: Full Council 
 
Date: 18 July 2012 
 
Main Portfolio Area: Finance and Governance  
 
Author of report: Paul Cummins (Monitoring Officer) 
 
Classification: Non-exempt 
 
Ward: All  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The provisions in Part 1 Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) replace the existing 
Standards arrangements and come into effect from 1 July 2012. This report sets out the key 
elements of the legislation, together with options for how these statutory requirements may be met 
within the Tunbridge Wells Borough Area (“TWBA”). 

 
LINK TO STRATEGIC COMPASS 
 
Passionate about providing value – we are open, transparent and accountable 

Passionate about our customers – customers are well communicated with 

Passionate about our community – A confident Tunbridge Wells 

 

Report status 
 
For decision 
 
 
Route to Implementation/Timetable 
 
To Full Council on 18 July 2012 for decision  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 19



 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
 

1. The provisions of the Act, which replace the existing Standards arrangements set out in the 
Local Government Act 2000, came into effect on 1 July 2012.  The main differences from 
the current arrangements are the absence of a central regulatory authority and the removal 
of sanctioning powers. The Act permits a fairly high level of local choice in how councils 
wish to manage their arrangements for dealing with member conduct issues in the future. 

 
2. This report sets out the key elements of the legislation, together with recommendations and 

options for how these statutory requirements could be met within the TWBA. 
 
 
REPEAL OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
 

3. The Act repeals the ‘standards arrangements’ under the Local Government Act 2000 and in 
particular it abolishes the Standards Board for England, meaning there is no longer a 
national regulator for local government standards. It also abolishes the requirement for 
councils to adopt a national model Code of Conduct and the requirement to have a 
statutory Standards Committee and related complaints’ framework. 

 
 
THE NEW STATUTORY FRAMEWORK AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE ACT 
 

4. The key obligations set out in the Act in respect of Standards are as follows: 
 

(a) Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (“TWBC”) must promote and maintain high standards 
of conduct by members and co-opted members of the authority; 

(b) TWBC must adopt a Code of Conduct consistent with the Nolan Principles of Conduct 
in Public Life; 

(c) TWBC must have arrangements for investigating allegations of failure to comply with 
the Code and for taking decisions on those allegations; 

(d) TWBC must seek the views of an independent person, and take them into account, 
before a decision on the outcome of an investigation is made;  

(e) TWBC is responsible for investigating and determining allegations against town/parish 
members in the TWBA;  

(f) There are no statutory sanctions  under the legislation and therefore the actions 
available to deal with a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct are those within 
TWBC’s own authority at common law; 

(g) All Council members within the TWBA must register any pecuniary interests with the 
TWBC Monitoring Officer. Failure to do so, the provision of false information, or 
participation in decision-making where there is such an interest, will be a criminal 
offence. 

 
5. In summary there are two main areas upon which TWBC has to decide. 

 
(a) The Code of Conduct to be adopted; 

 
(b) How the Council will fulfill the duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 

and its arrangements for investigating allegations of a failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct including to which Council Committee these functions are delegated. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 20



CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

6. The Act provides that the Council must have a Code of Conduct for members and co-opted 
members. The Code must be based on the Nolan Principles of Conduct in Public Life, 
however within these parameters councils have the freedom to adopt a Code of their 
choosing. As a result a number of draft Codes have been produced either by relevant Local 
Government groups such as the Association of Council Secretaries and Solicitors 
(ACSeS), National Association of Local Councils (NALC) or by councils individually or as 
regional groups of councils. In that regard the Kent Secretaries’ Group has produced a 
‘Kent Code’ for use by all local authorities in Kent. As well as the Kent Code there are 
many different draft Codes available and a number are available on request as background 
papers to this report.  
 

7. The final regulations under the Act were published on the evening of 9 June 2012. There 
has been consultation on the matter with political groups on the Council, including the 
majority political group, senior officers and parish and town councils. The overwhelming 
feedback received from members is that the Council should adopt the Kent Code and an 
indication from the parish and town councils who have been able to reply on short notice is 
that they would also be likely to adopt the Kent Code if the Borough Council does so. A 
copy of the Kent Code of Conduct is attached to this report as Appendix B. 
 

8. The Kent Code is consistent with the Nolan principles and fully compliant with the Act. 
Adoption of this Code would have advantages of keeping acceptable and established 
minimum standards which are widely known; and of increased credibility, particularly as it is 
likely to be adopted across Kent by the districts, the County Council and many town and 
parish councils. Adoption of the Kent Code would also be especially important for members 
who are “dual-hatted” either at Borough/County or Borough/parish level. It would enable a 
more adequate body of case law, consistent practices, guidance notes and principles to be 
established across the region. Further, while Kent councils work increasingly together at 
member and officer level on strategic boards, such as the Joint Transportation Board and 
the Locality Boards, or partnerships such as Mid-Kent Improvement Partnership (MKIP), 
then it is helpful if the same rules apply. This paper therefore recommends that Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council adopts the Kent Code of Conduct. 

 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 
9. The declaration of pecuniary interests, their entry into the Register of Interests and non-

participation in decision-making which could affect those interests (unless a dispensation 
has been obtained) are areas where members have to be particularly vigilant as failure to 
comply is a potential criminal offence. Under the Act, the Monitoring Officer is responsible 
for receiving notifications of interest and their entry in the register, and will ensure that clear 
guidance and advice is provided to assist members in fulfilling the statutory requirements. 
The Government has recently published regulations in this area and it hoped guidance on 
this issue will be published by the Department of Communities and Local Government very 
soon. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 21



SANCTIONS FOR BREACH OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
10. The Localism Act abolishes all statutory sanctions including the sanction to suspend a 

member for up to six months. Under a future regime only common law sanctions would be 
available when dealing with a member who has breached the Code of Conduct. This will 
include the ability for the Council to publically censure by publishing the name of a 
councillor who has been found to have breached the Code and the circumstances of that 
breach, make recommendations (rather than insist) of training and mediation and rely on 
political groups to assert party discipline on their members (which could include removing a 
particular member from a committee). 

 
PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATING COMPLAINTS 
 

11. The Act obliges councils have a procedure for dealing with allegations that a member has 
breached the Code of Conduct. The Act gives substantial freedom for such procedures to 
be developed locally. The Council also needs to decide which Committee is to have 
oversight of such procedures (see more below in respect of the Committee options). 
 

12. The Standards Committee Working Group has undertaken a significant amount of work in 
developing procedures for investigating complaints which are compatible with the Act. In 
particular the Working Group has sought to remove the bureaucracy which was a major 
criticism of the old Standards regime whilst ensuring a fair system to both members and 
potential complainants. At the same time a very similar set of procedures has been 
developed across Kent to complement the Kent Code. That model set of ‘Kent Procedures’ 
is attached at Appendix C. 
 

13. Compared to the current compulsory system, the Kent Procedures are much more flexible, 
will be cheaper in practice and fairer, allow greater expedition and transparency for 
members who are the subject of a complaint. Feedback from members and senior officers 
is very positive about the Kent Procedures. The advantages of adopting the Kent 
Procedures mirror those in respect of the Kent Code set out at paragraph 8. In addition, all 
associated documents and forms are already draft. These are set out as background 
papers and are available on request. 
 

14. There is currently no widely agreed alternative model to the Kent Procedures and therefore 
the alternative to adoption of the Kent Procedures is for this Council to draft its own 
procedures. This report recommends adoption of the Kent Procedures.  

 
THE INDEPENDENT PERSON 
 

15. The Act sets out a requirement that an ‘independent person’ plays a role in any procedures 
designed for investigating allegations that a member has breached the Code of Conduct. 
The independent person’s views must be sought and taken into account prior to a decision 
being made following an investigation into a complaint.  
 

16. The Act requires arrangements to be put in place for the appointment of at least one 
independent person, either externally recruited or, under transitional provisions, a former 
member of a Standards Committee. This independent person should not be confused with 
independent co-opted members. It is recommended that authority to recruit an Independent 
Person be delegated to the Monitoring Officer in liaison with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Finance and Governance. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 22



DUTY TO PROMOTE AND MAINTAIN HIGH STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND OPTIONS FOR 
OVERSEEING THE FUNCTIONS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011  

 
17. The duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct required under the Act is 

essentially the same as the general duty under the Local Government Act 2000. The 
fulfillment of this duty is currently part of the remit of the TWBC Standards Committee. The 
Council will need to decide under the future arrangements how this duty is discharged and 

in particular the Committee responsible for discharging the duty and overseeing the 

procedure for investigating complaints. It should be noted in particular that the Kent 
Procedures do envisage a Council committee fulfilling this role. 
 

18. There was strong feedback supporting the creation of a Joint Committee with other 
councils to fulfill these functions and there has been some discussion across Kent in that 
direction. However, such option would require the agreement, not only of this Council, but 
also one, or more, of the other districts in Kent. Upon making enquiries about the intentions 
of neighbouring district councils it is clear that, for the moment, they are making 
arrangements for functions to be carried out by committees at single council level. This 
may therefore be an area that this Council would want to lead on in the future. 

 
19. The Localism Act will require these functions to be carried out immediately and therefore 

until such time as discussion of a Joint Committee with neighbouring Councils comes to 

fruition these functions will need to be undertaken by a Council Committee. It should be 

noted that the Monitoring Officer will have greater powers to reject vexatious and frivolous 
complaints and also to personally deal with less serious complaints without the need to 
refer these to a sub-committee. Therefore there will be much less sub-committee work 
under the new arrangements with sub-committees called to determine only in serious 
cases. 

 
20. There are two main options for the Council to allocate these functions to a Council 

committee. The two options are:- 

 
a) For a reduced and re-modeled Standards Committee (which would become an 

ordinary committee), (Option A); 
 

b) For the Audit Committee to take over these functions (Option B). 
 
Both options were explored in depth at the meeting of the Standards Committee on 5 July 
2012 and a summary of the points discussed and recommendations from that Committee is 
set out below. 

 
DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 5 JULY 2012 

 
21. At its meeting on 5 July, the Standards Committee discussed and recommended both 

options be considered by Full Council and whichever option was chosen the new 
arrangements should:- 
 
(a) Preserve high standards of conduct and governance; 
(b) Be proportionate to the importance of this task as well as making efficient use of 

resources; 
(c) Produce a more flexible, quicker and fairer system of dealing with complaints against 

members; 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 23



(d) Take account of the value added by independent members in terms of expertise; 
avoiding the system becoming inward-looking; giving confidence to councillors of all 
political hues that any complaints against them will be considered in a fair and unbiased 
manner; 

(e) Reassure the public that ethical conduct and governance is taken seriously; 
(f) Include provision for participation by parish and town councils in the complaints 

process. 
 

22.  In respect of option A – a reconstituted and reduced Standards Committee – if this option 
were selected members considered the Committee could be reduced in size from fifteen to 
nine. This would produce some savings in allowances paid of around £3,200. It would allow 
for retention of the expertise gained over several years in handling ethical governance 
issues in general. This included work on the Constitution, member attendance and 
receiving reports on Ombudsman complaints. It also specifically included expertise in 
handling complaints against members. In comprising equal constituent parts of Borough, 
independent and parish/town members it enabled the creation of a very independent 
process for dealing with complaints and well established parish/town representation. 

 
23. In respect of option B – combining the functions with the Audit Committee – if this option 

were selected members considered the Committee should be renamed Audit and 
Governance Committee and, in order to retain the existing expertise in ethical governance 
issues, some of the current Borough councillors and independent members serving on the 
Standards Committee should transfer to the Audit and Governance Committee. Further, 
there should be parish/town representation on that Committee, and any sub-committees, in 
respect of any ethical governance decisions affecting the parishes or towns. Therefore 
there would be co-opted parish/town representation when making decisions concerning 
ethical governance policy or when making sub-committee decisions in respect of individual 
parish/town complaints. On the basis that two Borough councillors, two independent 
members and two parish/town representatives were transferred to the Audit and 
Governance Committee and the Standards Committee was thereafter dissolved this would 
produce savings of around £7,300 in terms of allowances as well as some marginal 
savings in officer support/time. 

 
24. It should be noted by members that the main cost of the previous Standards regime was 

the cost of investigations. Under the Act there is less compulsion for an investigation to 
take place and for the Monitoring Officer to deal with all but the most serious cases and 
therefore whatever option is agreed the new system should be less costly than the previous 
Standards regime, all things being equal. 
 

25. Draft terms of reference which would need to be adopted by the Committee undertaking 
standards functions under the Act are attached at Appendix D.   

 
POSITION OF OTHER KENT COUNCILS 
 

26. The likelihood is that the County and most of the Kent district councils will all adopt the 
Kent Code of Conduct. It is also likely that many Kent town and parish councils will also 
adopt either the Kent Code on recommendation of their area district or the NALC Code. In 
the Borough of Tunbridge Wells most of the parish and town councils seem indeed to adopt 
the Kent Code. It seems that most Kent councils will keep a Standards Committee however 
the exact configuration of that Committee is likely to vary (as per the current system). 
Feedback is that most Kent districts seem inclined to adopt the Kent Procedures. 

      
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 24



WHAT IS THE ISSUE THAT REQUIRES A DECISION AND WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE 
PEOPLE OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS? 

27. Members are invited to consider the proposed arrangements set out in the report.  The key 
obligations set out in the Localism Act in respect of Standards are identified in paragraph 3 
above.  Any decision made must ensure that this Council promotes and maintains high 
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the authority providing public 
reassurance that ethical issues are taken seriously.  

 
WHO HAVE WE CONSULTED AND HOW? (OR WHO WILL WE CONSULT  
FOLLOWING THE DECISION?) 
 

28. The Monitoring Officer has attended political group meetings to answer questions and 
receive feedback from members. Parish and town councils have been consulted on the 
adoption of a Code of Conduct for the Tunbridge Wells area. The Standards Committee 
have debated the issues and made recommendations referred to in this report. The 
Monitoring Officer has attended meetings of the Kent Secretaries, and both the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Committee have attended the Kent Independent Members’ 
Forum where this issue has been discussed. An earlier rendition of this report has been 
circulated to members and the officer Management Team. 

  
HOW WILL THE DECISION BE COMMUNICATED? 
 

29. The Full Council decision on 18 July 2012 will be published on the Council’s website.   
 
WHAT ALTERNATIVE ACTION COULD WE TAKE? (where appropriate) 
 

30. The report sets out the requirements under the Act and the options available. 
    

RECOMMENDATIONS –  
 

1. That the Council adopts forthwith the Kent Code of Conduct as set out at Appendix B 
and notes this will replace the model Code of Conduct currently set out in part 6 of 
the Constitution and now abolished under the Localism Act 2011; 

 
2. That the Council commend the adoption of the Kent Code of Conduct to the town and 

parish councils within the Borough; 
 
3. That the Council adopts forthwith the Kent Procedures for dealing with allegations of 

non-compliance with the Code; 
 
4. That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make amendments to the Constitution to 

reflect the adoption of the Kent Code of Conduct and Kent arrangements; 

 
5. That the Monitoring Officer be required to arrange for the recruitment of the 

independent person in consultation with the Leader, the other Group Leaders and the 
Chairman of the Committee referred to at either Option A or Option B (whichever 
option is adopted); 

 
6. That the existing Standards Committee be dissolved forthwith and that the Council 

adopts the Committee arrangements set out at either option A or B set out below. 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 25



Option A 
 

(a) A new ordinary Standards Committee be established to which the rules of political 
balance shall apply. 

 
(b) The new Standards Committee shall comprise nine members, being three Borough 

councillors, three independent members and three parish/town members. 
 
(c) Membership of the new Standards Committee to be selected from the existing 

members of the current Standards Committee (to serve the remainder of their current 
term of office) and to be appointed by the Chief Executive upon nomination by the 
Leader and in consultation with the other Group Leaders. 

 
(d) The terms of reference of the new Standards Committee to be as set out at appendix 

D to the report. 
 
(e) The Constitutional Review Working Party will report to the new Committee. 

 
(f) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make amendments to the Constitution to 

reflect the Committee arrangements set out in these recommendations. 

 
Option B 
 

(a) The Audit Committee be renamed the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
(b) The Audit Committee existing membership be supplemented with the addition of two 

additional Borough councillors and two additional independent members. 
 
(c) That two parish/town representatives be co-opted onto the Audit and Governance 

Committee to attend for items of business concerning ethical governance generally 
and be co-opted to serve on sub-committees dealing with allegations of breaches of 
the Code of Conduct by parish/town councillors. 

 
(d) That the additional membership of the Audit and Governance Committee set out at 

(b) and (c) above be selected from the existing members of the current Standards 
Committee and to be appointed by the Chief Executive (to serve the remainder of 
their current term of office) upon nomination by the Leader and in consultation with 
the other Group Leaders. 

 
(e) The terms of reference as set out at appendix D be added to the current terms of 

reference of the Audit Committee. 
 

(f) The Constitutional Review Working Party will report to the Audit and Governance 
 Committee. 

 
(g) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make amendments to the Constitution to 

reflect the Committee arrangements set out in these recommendations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 26



 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
The provisions of the Localism Act require the Council to adopt a new statutory framework with 
regard to the Standards regime.  

 

Paul Cummins 
Monitoring Officer 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A – Cross cutting issues 
Appendix B – Kent Code 
Appendix C – Kent Procedures 
Appendix D – Terms of Reference 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



New ‘Standards Arrangements’ for the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Area (TWBA) under the Localism Act 2011  

 
 

CROSS CUTTING ISSUES  

 

LEGAL 

 

Legal  

1. All legal issues are contained within the report. 
 
Human Rights Act 

 
2. The system for determination of complaints may specifically engage Article 6 ‘Right to a 

Fair Trial’. 
 
 
 
VALUE FOR MONEY AND USE OF RESOURCES 

 

Finance and other resources, including ICT 

 
3. Reduction in the size of the Standards Committee or its dissolution will produce savings 

in terms of Member allowances. 
 

Staffing  

 
4. Referred to in the report. 
 

Value for Money 

 
5. A more efficient procedure for dealing with complaints and in particular a procedure in 

which frivolous and less serious matters are not investigated will be better value for 
money. 
 

Risk Management 

 
6. There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 

 
 
 
COMMUNITY 

 

Safer & Stronger Communities  

 
7. There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 

 
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Appendix A

Page 29



8. There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 
 

Environment / Sustainability  

9. There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 
 
 
Equalities 

10.  
 
 
Consideration of impacts under the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

Question Answer Explanation / Evidence 

a. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have potential to disadvantage or 

discriminate against different 

groups in the community? 

No  

b. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have the potential to promote 

equality of opportunity? 

No  

c. What steps can be taken to 

mitigate, reduce, avoid or minimise 

the impacts identified above? 

  

 
Health and Wellbeing 

11. There are no relevant issues identified within this report.  

 
 

Appendix A

Page 30



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  1

 

[Name of Authority] 

 

Kent Code of Conduct for Members 

 

Preamble 

(A) The Code of Conduct that follows is adopted under section 27(2) of the Localism 
Act 2011.  

(B) The Code is based on the Seven Principles of Public Life under section 28(1) of 
the Localism Act 2011, which are set out in Annex 1.  

(C) This Preamble and Annex 1 do not form part of the Code, but you should have 
regard to them as they will help you to comply with the Code. 

(D) If you need guidance on any matter under the Code, you should seek it from the 
Monitoring Officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to 
comply with the provisions of this Code. 

(E) In accordance with section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, where you have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest it is a criminal offence if, without reasonable excuse, 
you: 

(a) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the day on which you became a member. 

(b) Fail to disclose the interest at Meetings where the interest is not entered in the 
Authority’s register. 

(c) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the date of disclosure at a meeting, if the interest is not 
entered in the Authority’s register and is not the subject of a pending 
notification. 

(d) Take part in discussion or votes, or further discussions or votes, at Meetings on 
matters in which you have the interest which are being considered at the 
meeting. 

(e) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the date when you become aware that you have such 
an interest in a matter to be dealt with, or being dealt with, by you acting alone 
in the course of discharging a function of the Authority. 

(f) Take any step in relation to a matter being dealt with by you acting alone in the 
course of discharging a function of the Authority, except a step for the purpose 
of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you. 

(g) Knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information in any of the 
above disclosures or notifications. 

(F) Any written allegation received by the Authority that you have failed to comply with 
the Code will be dealt with under the arrangements adopted by the Authority for 
such purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the 

Appendix B

Page 31



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  2

Authority may have regard to this failure in deciding whether to take action and, if 
so, what action to take in relation to you. 

Appendix B

Page 32



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  3

THE CODE 

1. Interpretation 

In this Code: 

“Associated Person” means (either in the singular or in the plural): 

(a) a family member or any other person with whom you have a close association, 
including your spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom you are living as a 
husband or wife, or as if you are civil partners; or 

(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in 
which they are a partner, or any company of which they are directors; or 

(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class 
of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 

(d) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and 
to which you are appointed or nominated by the Authority; or 

(e) any body in respect of which you are in a position of general control or 
management: 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union). 

“Authority” means [name of Authority]. 

“Authority Function” means any one or more of the following interests that relate to 
the functions of the Authority: 

(a) housing - where you are a tenant of the Authority provided that those functions 
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; or 

(b) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses - where you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a 
school, unless it relates particularly to the school which your child attends; 

(c) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and 
Benefits Act 1992 - where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, 
such pay; 

(d) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members of the Authority; 
(e) any ceremonial honour given to members of the Authority;  
(f) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

“Code” means this Code of Conduct. 

“Co-opted Member” means a person who is not an elected member of the Authority 
but who is a member of: 

(a) any committee or sub-committee of the Authority, or 
(b) and represents the Authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee of 

the Authority; and 
(c) who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any Meeting. 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means those interests of a description specified in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State (as amended from time to time) as set out 
in Annex 2 and where either it is: 

(a) your interest or 

Appendix B

Page 33



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  4

(b) an interest of your spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as 
husband and wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you were civil 
partners and provided you are aware that the other person has the interest. 

“Interests” means Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests.  

"Meeting" means any meeting of: 

(a) the Authority; 
(b) the executive of the Authority; 
(c) any of the Authority's or its executive's committees, sub-committees, joint 

committees and/or joint sub-committees. 

"Member" means a person who is an elected member of the Authority and includes a 
Co-opted Member.  

“Other Significant Interest” means an interest (other than a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest or an interest in an Authority Function) in any business of the Authority which: 

(a) may reasonably be regarded as affecting the financial position of yourself 
and/or an Associated Person to a greater extent than: - 

 
a. other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral 

division or ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision; or 
b. (in other cases) other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of 

the Authority’s area; affects the financial position of yourself and/or 
an Associated Person; or 

(b) relates to the determination of your application (whether made by you alone or 
jointly or on your behalf) for any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration or that of an Associated Person;  

and where, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 
would reasonably regard the interest as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice 
your judgment of the public interest. 

 

“Register of Members’ Interests” means the Authority's register of Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests established and maintained by the Monitoring Officer under section 
29 of the Localism Act 2011. 

"Sensitive Interest" means information, the details of which, if disclosed, could lead to 
you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation. 

Scope 

2.  You must comply with this Code whenever you act in your capacity as a Member or 
Co-opted Member of the Authority. 

General obligations 

3. (1) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 
Authority: 

(a) act in accordance with the Authority’s reasonable requirements; and 

Appendix B

Page 34



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  5

(b) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes). 

(2) You must not: 

(a) bully any person; 
(b) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be a 

complainant, a witness, or involved in the administration of any investigation 
or proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) 
has failed to comply with this Code; 

(c) do anything that compromises, or is likely to compromise, the impartiality or 
integrity of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority; 

(d) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 
acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 
confidential nature, except where: 

(i) you have the written consent of a person authorised to give it; or 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; or 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the 
information to any other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is: 

• reasonable and in the public interest; and 
• made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements 
of the Authority; 

(e) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law; 

(f) conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or the Authority into disrepute; 

(g) use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to confer on or 
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.  

Registering Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

4. (1) You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you become a 
Member or Co-opted Member of the Authority, or before the end of 28 days 
beginning with the day on which this Code takes effect (whichever is the later), 
notify the Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

(2) In addition, you must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you 
become aware of any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or change to any 
interest already registered, register details of that new interest or change, by 
providing written notification to the Monitoring Officer. 

(3) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be dealt with, 
or being dealt with, by you acting alone in the course of discharging a function of 
the Authority (including making a decision in relation to the matter), then if the 
interest is not registered in the Register of Members’ Interests and is not the 
subject of a pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer before the 
end of 28 days beginning with the day you become aware of the existence of the 
interest. 

Declaring Interests  

Appendix B

Page 35



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  6

5. (1) Whether or not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest has been entered onto the 
Register of Members’ Interests or is the subject of a pending notification, you 
must comply with the disclosure procedures set out below. 

(2) Where you are present at a Meeting and have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
or Other Significant Interest in any matter to be considered, or being considered, 
at the Meeting, you must: 

(a) disclose the Interest; and 
(b) explain the nature of that Interest at the commencement of that consideration 

or when the Interest becomes apparent (subject to paragraph 6, below); and 
unless you have been granted a dispensation or are acting under para 5(4): 

(c) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the 
Meeting; and 

(d) withdraw from the Meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s Procedure 
Rules whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being considered; 
and 

(e) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business. 

(3) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Significant Interest in 
any business of the Authority where you are acting alone in the course of 
discharging a function of the Authority (including making an executive decision), 
you must: 

(a) notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and its nature as soon as it 
becomes apparent; and 

(b) not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter except for the 
purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you; and 

(c) not seek improperly to influence a decision about the matter. 

(4) Where you have an Other Significant Interest in any business of the Authority, 
you may attend a Meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that 
the public are also allowed to attend the Meeting for the same purpose. Having 
made your representations, given evidence or answered questions you must: 

(a) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the 
Meeting; and 

(b) withdraw from the Meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s Procedure 
Rules. 

Sensitive Interests 

6. (1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests is a Sensitive Interest, and the Monitoring Officer agrees, the 
Monitoring Officer will not include details of the Sensitive Interest on any copies 
of the Register of Members’ Interests which are made available for inspection or 
any published version of the Register, but may include a statement that you have 
an interest, the details of which are withheld under this paragraph.  

(2) You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you become aware 
of any change of circumstances which means that information excluded under 
paragraph 6(1) is no longer a Sensitive Interest, notify the Monitoring Officer 
asking that the information be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. 

(3) The rules relating to disclosure of Interests in paragraphs 5(2) and (3) will apply, 
save that you will not be required to disclose the nature of the Sensitive Interest, 
but merely the fact that you hold an interest in the matter under discussion. 

Appendix B

Page 36



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  7

Gifts and Hospitality 

7. (1)  You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day of 
receipt/acceptance, notify the Monitoring Officer of any gift, benefit or hospitality 
with an estimated value of £100 or more, or a series of gifts, benefits and 
hospitality from the same or an associated source, with an estimated cumulative 
value of £100 or more, which are received and accepted by you (in any one 
calendar year) in the conduct of the business of the Authority, the business of the 
office to which you have been elected or appointed or when you are acting as 
representative of the Authority.  You must also register the source of the gift, 
benefit or hospitality. 

(2) Where any gift, benefit or hospitality you have received or accepted relates to 
any matter to be considered, or being considered at a Meeting, you must 
disclose at the commencement of the Meeting or when the interest becomes 
apparent, the existence and nature of the gift, benefit or hospitality, the person or 
body who gave it to you and how the business under consideration relates to that 
person or body.  You may participate in the discussion of the matter and in any 
vote taken on the matter, unless you have an Other Significant Interest, in which 
case the procedure in paragraph 5 above will apply. 

(3) You must continue to disclose the existence and nature of the gift, benefit or 
hospitality at a relevant Meeting, for 3 years from the date you first registered the 
gift, benefit or hospitality. 

(4) The duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit or 
hospitality comes within any description approved by the Authority for this 
purpose. 

Dispensations  

8.(1) The [Standards] Committee, or any sub-committee of the [Standards] 
Committee, or the Monitoring Officer (where authorised) may, on a written 
request made to the Monitoring Officer (as appointed Proper Officer for the 
receipt of applications for dispensation) by a Member with an Interest, grant a 
dispensation relieving the Member from either or both of the restrictions on 
participating in discussions and in voting (referred to in paragraph 5 above). 

(2)  A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant 
circumstances, the [Standards] Committee, its sub-committee, or the Monitoring 
Officer (where authorised) considers that: 

(a) without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from 
participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of 
the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business; or 

(b) without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups 
on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business; or 

(c) granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 
Authority's area; or 

(d) without the dispensation each member of the Authority's executive would 
be prohibited from participating in any particular business to be 
transacted by the Authority's executive; or 

(e) it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

(3) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period 
specified may not exceed four years. 

Appendix B

Page 37



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  8

(4) Paragraph 5 above does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose 
of deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this paragraph 8. 

Appendix B

Page 38



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  9

ANNEX 1 

THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and in order to help maintain public 
confidence in this Authority, you are committed to behaving in a manner that is 
consistent with the following principles.  

SELFLESSNESS: You should act solely in terms of the public interest and never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial 
or other material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate.  

INTEGRITY: You should exercise independent judgment and not compromise your 
position by placing yourself under obligations to outside individuals or organisations 
who might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties. You should 
behave in accordance with all legal obligations, alongside any requirements contained 
within this Authority’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on the use of the 
Authority’s resources. You should value your colleagues and staff and engage with 
them in an appropriate manner and one that underpins the mutual respect that is 
essential to good local government. You should treat people with respect, including the 
organisations and public you engage with and those you work alongside. 

OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, you should 
make choices on merit. You should deal with representations or enquiries from 
residents, members of the communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 
You should champion the needs of the whole community and especially your 
constituents, including those who did not vote for you. 

ACCOUNTABILITY: You are accountable to the public for your decisions and actions 
and should fully co-operate with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

OPENNESS: You should be as open and as transparent as possible about all the 
decisions and actions that you take to enable residents to understand the reasoning 
behind those decisions and to be informed when holding you and other Members to 
account. You should give reasons for your decisions and restrict information only when 
the wider public interest or the law clearly demands it. You should listen to the interests 
of all parties, including relevant advice from statutory and other professional officers, 
taking all relevant information into consideration, remaining objective and making 
decisions on merit.  

HONESTY: You have a duty to declare interests relating to your public duties and to 
take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. You 
should not allow other pressures, including the financial interests of yourself or others 
connected to you, to deter you from pursuing constituents' casework, the interests of 
the Authority's area or the good governance of the Authority in a proper manner.  

LEADERSHIP: Through leadership and example you should promote and support high 
standards of conduct when serving in your public post. You should provide leadership 
through behaving in accordance with these principles when championing the interests 
of the community with other organisations as well as within this Authority. 

Appendix B

Page 39



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  10

ANNEX 2 

 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, as prescribed by regulations, are as follows: 

The descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are subject to the following 
definitions: 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person 
is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy 
the land or to receive income 

“M” means a member of the relevant authority 

“member” includes a co-opted member  

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M 
gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1), or section 31(7), as the case may 
be, of the Act 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the 
Act (the Member’s spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom they are living as a 
husband or wife, or as if they were civil partners). 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society 

 

Interest Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 

Appendix B

Page 40



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  11

body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority: 

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b)  which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge): 

(a)  the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b)  the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the relevant authority; and 

(b)  either 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 

 

 
 

Appendix B

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING WITH CODE OF CONDUCT 

COMPLAINTS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 

 

1. Context 

1.1 These Arrangements are made under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011.  They set 
out the process that the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council has adopted for 
dealing with complaints that an elected or co-opted member [or parish/town 
councillor] has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

2. Interpretation 

2.1 ‘[Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council’ means the xxxxxxxx Council. 

2.2 ‘Code of Conduct’ means the Code of Conduct, which the [Borough] [City] [County] 
[District] [and Parish Council] [has] [have] adopted under section 27(2) of the 
Localism Act 2011. 

2.3 ‘Complainant’ means a person who has submitted a complaint in accordance with 
these Arrangements alleging that a Subject Member has breached the Code of 
Conduct. 

2.4 ‘Disclosable Pecuniary Interest’ means those disclosable pecuniary interests that 
meet the definition prescribed by regulations (as amended from time to time) as set 
out in Annex 2 to the Code of Conduct. 

2.5 ‘Hearing Panel’ means the panel appointed by the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
Council to determine the outcome of any complaint alleging a breach of the Code of 
Conduct by a Subject Member in accordance with these Arrangements.  

2.6 ‘Independent Person’ means a person or persons appointed by the [Borough] [City] 
[County] [District] Council under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011: 

(a) whose views must be sought and taken into account by the [Borough] [City] 
[County] [District] Council before a decision is made on any complaint alleging 
a breach of the Code of Conduct by a Subject Member; 

(b) who may be consulted by the Subject Member about the complaint. 

2.7 ‘Investigating Officer’ means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake a formal investigation of a complaint alleging a breach of the Code of 
Conduct by a Subject Member.  The Investigating Officer may be another senior 
officer of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council, an officer of another authority 
or an external investigator. 

2.8 ‘Monitoring Officer’ is a senior officer of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council 
who has statutory responsibility for maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests 
and who is responsible for administering the arrangements for dealing with any 
complaint alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct by a Subject Member.  It 
includes any other officer of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council nominated 
by the Monitoring Officer to act on their behalf. 

Appendix C

Page 43



[2.9 ‘Parish Council’ means the relevant parish/town council within the [Borough] [City] 
[District] of xxxx.] 

2.10 ‘Parties’ means the Complainant, Subject Member and the Investigating Officer, as 
appropriate. 

2.11 ‘Subject Member’ means an elected member or co-opted member of the [Borough] 
[City] [County] [District] [or Parish Council] against whom a complaint has been made 
alleging a breach the Code of Conduct. 

3. Appointment of Independent Person 

3.1 The [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council will appoint the Independent Person 
(and any substitute) in accordance with the requirements of section 27 of the 
Localism Act 2011 upon such terms as to remuneration and expenses as may be 
determined by the [Borough][City[County][District] Council from time to time.   

3.2 The Independent Person (and any substitute) will be treated as if they were a 
member of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council for the purposes of the 
[Borough] [City [County] [District] Council’s arrangements for indemnifying and 
insuring its Members. 

4.  Making a complaint 

4.1 A complaint alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct by a Subject Member must be 
made in writing and addressed to the Monitoring Officer using the Complaint Form at 
Annex 1 to these Arrangements.  Complainants who find difficulty in making their 
complaint in writing (e.g. because of a disability), will be offered assistance. 

4.2 The Subject Member will normally be informed of the identity of the Complainant and 
details of the complaint made against them, but the Complainant’s identity and/or 
details of their complaint may be withheld at the Complainant’s request if it appears 
to the Monitoring Officer that there are sound reasons for granting such a request 
(refer to paragraph 5 of Annex 2 to these Arrangements).  

4.3 The Monitoring Officer will normally acknowledge receipt of a complaint within 5 
working days of receiving it. At the same time (and subject to para. 4.2 above), the 
Monitoring Officer will send a copy of the complaint to the Subject Member in 
accordance with paragraph 2 of Annex 2 to these Arrangements. 

5.  Criminal conduct  

5.1 In accordance with section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, it is a criminal offence if, 
without reasonable excuse, you: 

(a) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the 
end of 28 days beginning with the day you become, or are re-elected or re-
appointed, a Member or Co-opted Member of the Authority; 

(b) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the 
end of 28 days beginning with the day you become aware of it, where you are 
acting alone in the course of discharging a function of the Authority (including 
making a decision in relation to the matter) and the interest is not already 
registered or is not the subject of a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer; 

Appendix C

Page 44



(c) fail to disclose a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting, where such interest 
has not already been registered or notified to the Monitoring Officer; 

(d) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the 
end of 28 days beginning with the day you disclose it at a meeting, where such 
interest has not already been registered or notified to the Monitoring Officer; 

(e) take part in discussions or votes at meetings that relate to the Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, unless a dispensation has been granted; 

(f) knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information in any of the 
above disclosures or notifications. 

5.2 Where a complaint against a Subject Member relates to conduct of a criminal nature 
referred to above, the Monitoring Officer will deal with the complaint in accordance 
with paragraph 4(4) of Annex 2 to these Arrangements.   

6. Anonymous complaints 

6.1 Complainants must provide their full name and address. An anonymous complaint 
will only be accepted by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent 
Person, providing it is accompanied by corroborating evidence that indicates to the 
Monitoring Officer that it is in the public interest to accept the complaint.  

7. Role of Independent Person 

6.1 The Independent Person must be consulted and have their views taken into account 
before the Authority makes a finding as to whether a Member has failed to comply 
with the Code or decides on action to be taken in respect of that Member.  At any 
other stage of the complaints process under these Arrangements, the Independent 
Person may be consulted by the Monitoring Officer and/or the Subject Member. 

8. Preliminary tests 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer will put the complaint through a number of preliminary tests, in 
accordance with paragraph 1 of Annex 2 to these Arrangements.   

9. Informal resolution 

9.1 The Monitoring Officer may consider that the complaint can be resolved informally at 
any stage in accordance with paragraph 6 of Annex 2 to these Arrangements.  

10. Investigation  

10.1  If the Monitoring Officer decides that the complaint merits formal investigation, they 
will, within 10 working days of receiving it, appoint an Investigating Officer to 
undertake the investigation, and inform the Parties of the appointment. 

10.2 The Investigating Officer will investigate the complaint in accordance with Annex 3 to 
these Arrangements. 

11. Hearing 

11.1 If the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, considers that 
informal resolution is not appropriate or is unlikely to be achieved, then they will 

Appendix C

Page 45



convene a meeting of the [Hearing Panel] to determine the outcome of the complaint 
in accordance with Annex 4 to these Arrangements.  

12. Sanctions 

12.1 Where a Subject Member has been found by the [Hearing Panel] to have breached 
the Code of Conduct, the [Hearing Panel] may apply any one or more sanctions in 
accordance with paragraph 4 of Annex 4 to these Arrangements. 

13. Appeal 

13.1 There is no right of appeal for the Complainant or the Subject Member against 
decisions of either the Monitoring Officer or the [Hearing Panel]. 

14. Revision of these Arrangements 

14.1 The [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council may by resolution agree to amend 
these Arrangements and has delegated to the Monitoring Officer [and the Hearing 
Panel] the right to depart from these Arrangements, where considered expedient to 
do so in order to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

 

Appendix C

Page 46



Annex 1 
 

Complaint Form 
 
Your Details 
 
1. Please provide us with your name and contact details. 
 

Title:       

First name:       

Last name:       

Address:       

Daytime telephone:       

Evening telephone:       

Mobile telephone:       

Email address:       

 
2. Please tell us which complainant type best describes you: 
 

 Member of the public 
   An elected or co-opted member of an authority 
   An independent member of the Standards Committee 
   Member of Parliament 
   Local authority Monitoring Officer 
   Other council officer or authority employee 
   Other (please give details)       

 
3. Please provide us with the name of the councillor(s) you believe has breached the 

Code of Conduct and the name of their authority: 
 

Title First name Last name Council or authority name 

                        

                        

                        

                        

 
4. Please explain in this section what the councillor has done that you believe breaches 

the Code of Conduct.  If you are complaining about more than one councillor you 
should clearly explain what each individual person has done that you believe 
breaches the Code of Conduct. 

 

Appendix C

Page 47



 It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into account 
by the Monitoring Officer when he (acting in consultation with the Independent 
Person) decides whether to take any action on your complaint.  For example: 

 

• You should be specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you are alleging the 
councillor said or did.  For instance, instead of writing that the councillor has 
conducted himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing his  
office or the Authority into disrepute  you, you should state what it was they said or 
did. 
 

• You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible.  If you 
cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe. 
 

• You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged conduct and 
provide their names and contact details if possible. 
 

• You should provide any relevant background information. 
 

Please provide us with the details of your complaint.  Continue on a separate sheet if 
there is not enough space on this form. 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5. Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is kept 

confidential.  Please see the notes in the accompanying leaflet "How to make a 
complaint". 

 

Appendix C

Page 48



Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your name 
and/or the details of your complaint: 
 
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed:  

 
Date:       
 
 
 
 
 
Return Address: The Monitoring Officer 
   (Insert Address) 

Appendix C

Page 49



Complaints Form – Monitoring Information 
 
In order to ensure we target our services in the most effective way for our community, we 
would appreciate if it you would give answers to the following questions: 
 
Q1. Ethnic Group 
 
  White: 

    British 

       Irish 

       Any other white background 

  
  Black or black British: 

    Caribbean 

       African 

       Any other black background 

 
  Asian or Asian British: 

    Indian 

       Pakistani 

       Bangladeshi 

       Any other Asian background 

 
Q2. Sex 
 

    Male 

       Female 

 
Q3. Partnership Status 
 

    Single 

       Married/Civil Partner 

       Separated 

       Divorced 

       Widow/Widower 

 
 
Q4. Age Group 
 

    Under 16 

       16-19 

       20-24 

       25-59 

       60-64 

       65 and above 

 
 
 
 

Q5. Do you have a disability? 
 

    Yes 

       No 

 
Q6. What is the nature of your 

disability? 
 

    Difficulty getting around 

       Mental health problems 

       Learning difficulty 

       Difficulty seeing 

       Hearing difficulty 

       Other 

 
Q7. To help us monitor issues for 

different sections of our 
community, we would appreciate it 
if you would tell us which faith 
group, if any, you belong to.  If lack 
of faith is an issue in itself we 
would also like to know. 

 

   

Appendix C

Page 50



 

 
ANNEX 2 

PROCEDURE ON RECEIPT OF A COMPLAINT 

 

1. Preliminary tests 

1.1 The complaint will be assessed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
Independent Person against the legal jurisdiction test in paragraph 1.2 and, if 
applicable, the local assessment criteria test in paragraph 1.4 below. 

1.2 Legal jurisdiction criteria test: 

(a) Did the alleged conduct occur before the adoption of the Code of Conduct? 
(b) Was the person complained of a member of the [Borough] [City] [County] 

[District] [Parish] Council at the time of the alleged conduct? 
(c) Was the person complained of acting in an official capacity at the time of the 

alleged conduct? 
(d) Did the alleged conduct occur when the person complained of was acting as 

a member of another authority? 
(e) If the facts could be established as a matter of evidence, could the alleged 

conduct be capable of a breach of the Code of Conduct? 
(f) The complaint is about dissatisfaction with the [Borough] [City] [County] 

[District] [Parish] Council’s decisions, policies and priorities, etc. 

1.3 If the complaint fails one or more of the jurisdiction tests, no further action will be 
taken by the Monitoring Officer and the complaint will be rejected. The 
Complainant will be notified accordingly with reasons, within 10 working days of 
receipt of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer.  There is no right of appeal 
against the Monitoring Officer’s decision.   

1.4 Local assessment criteria test: 

 If the complaint satisfies the jurisdiction test, the Monitoring Officer will then apply 
the following local assessment criteria test:  

(a) The complaint is a ‘repeat complaint’, unless supported by new or further 
evidence substantiating or indicating that the complaint is exceptionally 
serious or significant; 

(b) The complaint is anonymous, unless supported by independent documentary 
evidence substantiating or indicating that the complaint is exceptionally 
serious or significant; 

(c) No or insufficient information/evidence to substantiate the complaint has 
been submitted by the Complainant;  

(d) The complaint is malicious, trivial, politically motivated or ‘tit-for-tat’; 
(e) The Complainant is unreasonably persistent, malicious and/or vexatious; 
(f) The alleged misconduct happened more than 3 months ago; 
(g) The complaint is relatively minor and dealing with the complaint would have 

a disproportionate effect on both public money and officers’ and Members’ 
time; 

(h) The circumstances have changed so much that there would be little benefit 
arising from an investigation or other action;  

(i) The complaint has been the subject of an investigation or other action and 
there is nothing more to be gained by further action being taken; 

Appendix C

Page 51



 

(j) The complaint is such that it is unlikely that an investigation will be able to 
come to a firm conclusion on the matter, e.g. where there is no firm evidence 
on the matter; 

(k) The complaint is about a deceased person; 
(l) The complaint is about a person who is no longer a [Borough] [City] [County] 

[District] [Parish] Councillor or Co-opted Member. 

1.5 If one or more of the local assessment criteria applies to the complaint, no further 
action will be taken by the Monitoring Officer and the complaint will be rejected.  
The Complainant will be notified accordingly with reasons within 10 working days of 
receipt of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer.  There is no right of appeal 
against the Monitoring Officer’s decision.  

2. Notification of complaint to Subject Member 

2.1 Subject to any representations from the Complainant on confidentiality (see 
paragraph 5 below), the Monitoring Officer will notify the Subject Member [and, if 
applicable, the Parish Clerk]. 

2.2 The Monitoring Officer may invite the Subject Member [and, if applicable, the Parish 
Clerk] to submit initial views on the complaint within 10 working days, which will be 
taken into account by the Monitoring Officer when they decide how to deal with the 
complaint (see paragraph 4 below).  Views received from the Subject Member 
[and/or Parish Clerk] after the 10 working day time limit may be taken into account 
at the discretion of the Monitoring Officer, providing the views are received before 
the Monitoring Officer issues their written decision on how the complaint will be 
dealt with. 

3. Asking for additional information 

3.1 The Monitoring Officer may ask the Complainant and the Subject Member [and, if 
applicable, the Parish Clerk] for additional information before deciding how to deal 
with the complaint. 

4. What process to apply - informal resolution or investigation and/or no 
action? 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer may at any stage seek to resolve the complaint informally in 
accordance with paragraph 6 below.  Where the Subject Member or the Monitoring 
Officer or the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council make a reasonable 
offer of informal resolution, but the Complainant is not willing to accept this offer, 
the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding whether the complaint 
merits formal investigation. 

4.2 The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent Person may refer the 
complaint for investigation when: 

(a) it is serious enough, if proven, to justify the range of sanctions available to the 
[Standards] Committee (see paragraph 4 of Annex 4 to these Arrangements); 

(b) the Subject Member’s behaviour is part of a continuing pattern of less serious 
misconduct that is unreasonably disrupting the business of the [Borough] [City] 
[County] [District] [Parish] Council and there is no other avenue left to deal with 
it short of investigation and, in considering this, the Monitoring Officer may take 
into account the time that has passed since the alleged conduct occurred.   

Appendix C

Page 52



 

4.3 Where the complaint is referred for investigation, the Monitoring Officer will appoint 
an Investigating Officer who will conduct the investigation in accordance with the 
procedure at Annex 3 to these Arrangements. 

4.4 If the complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulations by the 
Subject Member or any other person, the Complainant will be advised by the 
Monitoring Officer to report the complaint to the police or other prosecuting or 
regulatory authority.  In such cases, the complaints process under these 
Arrangements will be suspended, pending a decision/action by the police or other 
prosecuting or regulatory authority.  Where the police or other prosecuting or 
regulatory authority decide to take no action on the complaint, the Monitoring 
Officer will lift the suspension and in consultation with the Independent Person will 
apply the local assessment criteria test in paragraph 1.4 above. 

4.5 The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent Person, will take no 
action on the complaint when one or more of the following apply: 

(a) on-going criminal proceedings or a police investigation into the Subject 
Member’s conduct or where the complaint is suspended in accordance with 
paragraph 4.4 above; 

(b) investigation cannot be proceeded with, without investigating similar alleged 
conduct or needing to come to conclusions of fact about events which are also 
the subject of some other investigation or court proceedings; 

(c) the investigation might prejudice another investigation or court proceedings; 

(d) on-going investigation by another prosecuting or regulatory authority; 

(e) genuine long term (3 months or more) unavailability of a key party; 

(f) serious illness of a key party. 

4.6 Within 20 working days of receipt of the complaint, the Monitoring Officer will notify 
the Complainant, Subject Member [and, if applicable, the Parish Clerk] of their 
decision and reasons for applying one of the following processes in the format of 
the Decision Notice template (appended to this Annex 2: 

(a) not to refer the complaint for investigation; or 

(b) to refer the complaint for investigation; or 

(c) to apply the informal resolution process either before or after an investigation; 
or 

(d) following investigation, to refer the complaint to the [Hearing Panel]; or  

(e) to take no action and close the matter; or 

(f) to refer the complaint to the relevant political group leader for action. 

4.7 The decision notice will be published on the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
Council’s website.  There is no right of appeal against the Monitoring Officer’s 
decision.  However, in the event that the Complainant submits additional relevant 
information, the Monitoring Officer will consider and decide if the matter warrants 

Appendix C

Page 53



 

further consideration under these Arrangements, in which case it shall be treated 
as a fresh complaint. 

5.  Confidentiality 

5.1 If the Complainant has asked for their identity to be withheld, this request will be 
considered by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent Person 
when they initially assess the complaint (see paragraph 1 above).    

5.2 As a matter of fairness and natural justice, the Subject Member will usually be told 
who the Complainant is and will also receive details of the complaint.  However, in 
exceptional circumstances, it may be appropriate to keep the Complainant’s identity 
confidential or not disclose details of the complaint to the Subject Member during 
the early stages of an investigation.  The Monitoring Officer may withhold the 
Complainant’s identity if they are satisfied that the Complainant has reasonable 
grounds for believing that they or any other person (e.g. a witness): 

(a) is either vulnerable or at risk of threat, harm or reprisal; 

(b) may suffer intimidation or be victimised or harassed; 

(c) works closely with the Subject Member and are afraid of the consequences, 
e.g. fear of losing their job; 

(d) suffers from a serious health condition and there are medical risks associated 
with their identity being disclosed (medical evidence will need to be provided to 
substantiate this); 

(e) may receive less favourable treatment because of the seniority of the person 
they are complaining about in terms of any existing [Borough] [City] [County] 
[District] [or Parish] Council service provision or any tender/contract they may 
have with or are about to submit to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
[Parish] Council. 

OR where early disclosure of the complaint: 

(a) may lead to evidence being compromised or destroyed; or 

(b) may impede or prejudice the investigation; or 

(c) would not be in the public interest. 

5.3 Relevant public interest factors favouring disclosure (not an exhaustive list) include: 

(a) to facilitate transparency and ethical governance accountability: recognising 
that decision-making may be improved by constructive contributions from 
others; 

(b) to raise public awareness: disclosing the complaint or part of it may inform the 
community about matters of general concern; 

(c) justice to an individual: the balance of the public interest may favour disclosure 
of the complaint to the Subject Member when it may not be in the public interest 
to disclose it to the world at large; 

Appendix C

Page 54



 

(d) bringing out in the open serious concerns about the behaviour/conduct of an 
individual. 

5.4 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, will balance 
whether the public interest in accepting the complaint outweighs the Complainant’s 
wish to have their identity (or that of another person) withheld from the Subject 
Member.  If the Monitoring Officer decides to refuse the Complainant’s request for 
confidentiality, they will offer the Complainant the option to withdraw their complaint.  
The Complainant will be notified of the Monitoring Officer’s decision, with reasons, 
within 15 working days of receipt of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer.  There is 
no right of appeal against the Monitoring Officer’s decision to refuse the 
Complainant’s request for confidentiality. 

6. Informal resolution 

6.1 The overriding objective of these Arrangements is for the Monitoring Officer in 
consultation with the Independent Person to resolve complaints informally, either 
before or after investigation.  The Monitoring Officer will consult with the Complainant 
and the Subject Member to agree what they consider to be a fair resolution which will 
help to ensure higher standards of conduct for the future.   

6.2 Informal resolution may be the simplest and most cost effective way of resolving the 
complaint and may be appropriate where: 

(a) The Subject Member appears to have a poor understanding of the Code of 
Conduct and/or related [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council 
procedures; or 

(b) There appears to be a breakdown in the relationship between the Complainant 
and the Subject Member; or 

(c) The conduct complained of appears to be a symptom of wider underlying 
conflicts which, if unresolved, are likely to lead to lead to further misconduct or 
allegations of misconduct; or 

(d) The conduct complained of appears common to a number of members of the 
[Borough] [City] [County] [District] [or Parish] Council, demonstrating a lack of 
awareness, experience or recognition of the particular provisions of the Code of 
Conduct and/or other [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council 
procedures, etc; or 

(e) The conduct complained of appears to the Monitoring Officer not to require a 
formal censure; or 

(f) The complaint appears to reveal a lack of guidance, protocols and procedures 
within the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish Council]; or 

(g) The Complainant and the Subject Member are amenable to engaging in an 
informal resolution; or 

(h) The complaint consists of allegations and retaliatory allegations between 
councillors; or 

(i) The complaint consists of allegations about how formal meetings are conducted; 
or 

(j) The conduct complained of may be due to misleading, unclear or misunderstood 
advice from officers. 

6.3 Informal resolution may consist of one or more of the following actions, which do not 
have to be limited to the Subject Member, but may extend to other councillors 
including the whole [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council where it may 
be useful to address systemic behaviour: 

(a) training; 

Appendix C

Page 55



 

(b) conciliation/mediation; 
(c) mentoring; 
(d) apology; 
(e) instituting changes to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [or Parish] Council’s 

procedures; 
(f) conflict management; 
(g) development of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [or Parish] Council’s 

protocols; 
(h) other remedial action by the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [or Parish] 

Council; 
(i) other steps (other than investigation) if it appears appropriate to the Monitoring 

Officer in consultation with the Independent Person. 

6.4 If the Subject Member is agreeable to and complies with the informal resolution 
process, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the [Standards] Committee 
[and, if applicable, the Parish Council] for information, but will take no further action.   

6.5 Where the Subject Member will not participate in the informal resolution process or if, 
having agreed to one or more actions under the informal resolution process, the 
Subject Member refuses or fails to carry out any agreed action, the Monitoring Officer 
will report the matter to the [Standards] Committee. 

Appendix C

Page 56



 

EXAMPLE TEMPLATE – COMPLAINT FORM 

EXAMPLE TEMPLATE - DECISION NOTICE (of the Monitoring Officer): e.g. 
REFERRAL FOR INVESTIGATION 

Parties should take care when passing on information that is in the notice or about the 
notice. For example, some details such as names and addresses may be confidential 
or private in nature, or may be personal information.   

Complaint No: 

Complaint 

On [insert date], the Monitoring Officer considered a complaint from [insert name of 
complainant] concerning the alleged conduct of [insert name of councillor], a member 
of [insert authority name].  A general summary of the complaint is set out below.  

Complaint summary 

[Summarise complaint in numbered paragraphs] 

Consultation with Independent Person 

[Summarise the Independent Person’s views in numbered paragraphs] 

Decision 

Having consulted and taken into account the views of the Independent Person, the 
Monitoring Officer decided to refer the complaint for investigation. 

Potential breaches of the Code of Conduct identified 

At this stage, the Monitoring Officer is not required to decide if the Code of Conduct 
has been breached.  They are only considering if there is enough information which 
shows a potential breach of the Code of Conduct that warrants referral for 
investigation. 

The Monitoring Officer considers that the alleged conduct, if proven, may amount to a 
breach of the following paragraphs of the Code of Conduct.  The Monitoring Officer has 
appointed [insert name] as the Investigating Officer.   

Please note that it will be for the Investigating Officer to determine which paragraphs 
are relevant, during the course of the investigation.  

[detail relevant Code of Conduct paragraphs] 

Notification of decision 

This decision notice is sent to the: 

• Complainant 

• Member against whom the complaint was made 

• [Clerk to the relevant Parish or Town Council] 

• Kent County Council’s Monitoring Officer (applicable only where the Subject 
Member  is serving at both [Borough] [City] [District] and County level) 

Appendix C

Page 57



 

• [Borough] [District] [City] Council’s Monitoring Officer (applicable only where the 
Subject Member is serving at both [Borough] [District] [City] and County level). 

What happens now 

The complaint will now be investigated under the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
Council’s Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the 
Localism Act 2011. 

Appeal 

There is no right of appeal against the Monitoring Officer’s decision. 

Additional Help 

If you need additional support in relation to this decision notice or future contact with 
the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council, please let us know as soon as possible.  
If you have difficulty reading this notice, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist 
you, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010.  We can also help if English 
is not your first language.  Please refer to the attached Community Interpreting Service 
leaflet or contact our Customer Services on [insert telephone number] or email [insert 
email address].  We welcome calls via Typetalk  

 

Signed:        Date   

 

Print name: 

 

Monitoring Officer of the xxxx Council 

Address xxx 

 

Appendix C

Page 58



 

ANNEX 3 

PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATING THE COMPLAINT 

 

1. Preliminaries 

1.1 The Investigating Officer will be appointed by the Monitoring Officer and will be 
aware of their obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998, Equalities Act 2010, 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and other relevant legislation. 

1.2 The Investigating Officer is responsible for gathering all the facts, documents and, 
where applicable, for interviewing witnesses with knowledge of the facts, and they 
should remain objective, impartial and unbiased at all times.   

1.3 The Subject Member and the Complainant will be advised that the investigation is 
for fact finding purposes only.  

1.4 Witnesses will be identified at the investigation stage and their evidence supported 
by signed and dated witness statements and/or notes of interview with the 
Investigating Officer.  The Investigating Officer cannot compel the attendance of 
witnesses or their co-operation.   

1.5 The Investigating Officer will not make recommendations on sanctions. 
1.6 Within 10 working days of being appointed, the Investigating Officer will notify the 

Subject Member and the Complainant of their appointment and:  

(a) provide details of the complaint to the Subject Member; 
(b) detail the procedure to be followed in respect of the investigation and the 

relevant timescales for responses and concluding the investigation; 
(c) detail the sections of the Code of Conduct that appear to be relevant to the 

complaint; 
(d) request contact details of any potential witnesses; 
(e) require that confidentiality is maintained and that the complaint not be disclosed 

to any third party, unless disclosure is to a representative, witness, immediate 
family members or otherwise as may be required by law or regulation - the fact 
that an investigation is being conducted does not need to remain confidential. 

1.7 It may be necessary for the Investigating Officer to agree with the Subject Member 
which documents will be submitted in evidence. This will generally include 
documents that will be relied on, or in support of, the Subject Member’s case and 
which are relevant to the complaint.   

1.8 The Investigating Officer may terminate their investigation at any point, where they 
are satisfied that they have sufficient information to enable them to report to the 
[Monitoring Officer] [Hearing Panel]. 

2. The draft report  

2.1 On the conclusion of their investigation and/or when the Investigating Officer is 
satisfied that they have sufficient information or has obtained as much information 
as is likely to be reasonably capable of being obtained, the Investigating Officer will 
issue a draft report (clearly labelled DRAFT) to the Monitoring Officer for review.   

2.2 Following review of the draft report by the Monitoring Officer, the draft report will be 
sent in confidence to the Subject Member and the Complainant (not witnesses) for 
comment.  The draft report will be marked ‘confidential’ and will detail: 

Appendix C

Page 59



 

(a) the relevant provisions of the law and the relevant paragraphs of the 
Code of Conduct; 

(b) a summary of the complaint; 
(c) the Subject Member’s response to the complaint; 
(d) relevant information, explanations, etc, which the Investigation Officer 

has obtained in the course of the investigation; 
(e) a list of any documents relevant to the matter; 
(f) a list of those persons/organisations who have been interviewed; 
(g) a statement of the Investigating Officer’s draft findings of fact and 

reasons; 
(h) the Investigating Officer’s conclusion as to whether the Subject Member 

has or has not failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct; 
(i) that the Investigating Officer will present a final report once they have 

considered any comments received on the draft. 

2.3 Once the Investigating Officer has determined that the responses received from the 
Subject Member and/or the Complainant add nothing of substance to the 
investigation, they will finalise the draft report and make their final conclusions and 
recommendations to the Monitoring Officer.  The report will be clearly labelled 
FINAL.  

3. Consideration of Investigating Officer’s final report   

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s final report and any 
comments submitted by the Parties, in consultation with the Independent Person. 

3.2 Where, on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, the Monitoring Officer, 
having consulted with the Independent Person, concludes that there is no evidence 
of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct; they will inform the Parties in 
writing that no further action is considered necessary.  There is no right of appeal 
against the Monitoring Officer’s decision. 

3.3 Where, on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, the Monitoring Officer, 
having consulted with the Independent Person, concludes that there is evidence of 
a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, they will either take no action or seek 
informal resolution or refer the matter for consideration by the [Hearing Panel] in 
accordance with the relevant procedure detailed in this Annex 2 to these 
Arrangements. 

 

Appendix C

Page 60



 

ANNEX 4 

[HEARING PANEL] PROCEDURE 

1. Rules of procedure 

1.1 The [Hearing Panel] consists of [insert number] voting elected Members drawn 
from the [Standards] Committee, one of whom shall be elected as Chairman.  
[Where the Subject Member is a Parish Councillor, a representative of one of 
the Parish Council’s within the [Borough] [City] District] may be present [in an 
advisory capacity with no voting rights] [as an observer] during the hearing.] 

1.2 The quorum for a meeting of the [Hearing Panel] is [insert number] comprising 
[insert number] elected Members. 

1.3 The Independent Person’s views must be sought and taken into consideration 
before the [Hearing Panel] takes any decision on whether the Subject Member’s 
conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any 
sanction to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct.  The Independent Person should normally be present throughout the 
hearing (but not during the deliberations of the [Hearing Panel] in private) but in 
the event that this is not possible, may submit their views on the complaint to 
the [Hearing Panel] in writing instead.   

1.4 The legal requirements for publishing agendas, minutes and calling meetings, 
will apply to the [Hearing Panel].  The hearing will be held in public no earlier 
than 14 working days after the Monitoring Officer has copied the Investigating 
Officer’s final report to the complainant and the Subject Member.  Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) will be applied where it is necessary 
to exclude the public and press from meetings of the [Hearing Panel] where it is 
likely that confidential or exempt information will be disclosed.   

1.5 Once a hearing has started, the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Rules of 
Substitution do not apply to the [Hearing Panel’s] proceedings. 

1.6 All matters/issues before the [Hearing Panel] will be decided by a simple 
majority of votes cast, with the Chairman having a second or casting vote.   

1.7 Where the Subject Member fails to attend the [Hearing Panel] and where the 
[Hearing Panel] is not satisfied with their explanation for their absence from the 
hearing, the [Hearing Panel] may in the first instance, have regard to any 
written representations submitted by the Subject Member and may resolve to 
proceed with the hearing in the Subject Member’s absence and make a 
determination or, if satisfied with the Subject Member ’s reasons for not 
attending the hearing, adjourn the hearing to another date.  The [Hearing 
Panel] may resolve in exceptional circumstances, that it will proceed with the 
hearing on the basis that it is in the public interest to hear the allegations 
expeditiously.1  

                                                 
1
 Janik v Standards Board for England & Adjudication Panel for England (2007) 

 

Appendix C

Page 61



 

2. Right to be accompanied by a representative 

The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied and/or represented at the 
[Hearing Panel] by a fellow councillor, friend or colleague.   

3. The conduct of the hearing  

3.1 Subject to paragraph 3.2 below, the order of business will be as follows: 

(a) elect a Chairman; 
(b) apologies for absence; 
(c) declarations of interests; 
(d) in the absence of the Subject Member, consideration as to whether to 

adjourn or to proceed with the hearing (refer to paragraph 1.11 above); 
(e) introduction by the Chairman, of members of the [Hearing Panel], the 

Independent Person, Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer, legal advisor, 
complainant and the Subject Member and their representative; 

(f) to receive representations from the Monitoring Officer and/or Subject 
Member as to whether any part of the hearing should be held in private 
and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof) should be withheld from the 
public/press; 

(g) to determine whether the public/press are to be excluded from any part of 
the meeting and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof) should be 
withheld from the public/press. 

3.2 The Chairman may exercise their discretion and amend the order of business, 
where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective 
and fair consideration of any matter. 

3.3 The [Hearing Panel] may adjourn the hearing at any time. 

3.4 Presentation of the complaint 

(a) The Investigating Officer presents their report including any documentary 
evidence or other material and calls his/her witnesses.  No new points will be 
permitted; 

(b) The Subject Member or their representative may question the Investigating 
Officer and any witnesses called by the Investigating Officer; 

(c) The [Hearing Panel] may question the Investigating Officer upon the content 
of his/her report and any witnesses called by the Investigating Officer. 

3.5 Presentation of the Subject Member’s case 

(a) The Subject Member or their representative presents their case and calls 
their witnesses; 

(b) The Investigating Officer may question the Subject Member and any 
witnesses called by the Subject Member; 

(c) The [Hearing Panel] may question the Subject Member and any witnesses 
called by the Subject Member. 

3.6 Summing up 

(a) The Investigating Officer sums up the complaint; 
(b) The Subject Member or their representative sums up their case. 

3.7 Views/Submissions of the Independent Person 

Appendix C

Page 62



 

The Chairman will invite the Independent Person to express their view on 
whether they consider that on the facts presented to the [Hearing Panel], there 
has been a breach of the Code of Conduct or no breach as the case may be. 

3.8 Deliberations of the [Hearing Panel]  

Deliberation in private 

 (a) The [Hearing Panel] will adjourn the hearing and deliberate in private 
(assisted on matters of law by a legal advisor) to consider whether, on the 
facts found, the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct or not as the case may be. 

 (b) The [Hearing Panel] may at any time come out of private session and 
reconvene the hearing in public, in order to seek additional evidence from 
the Investigating Officer, the Subject Member or the witnesses.  If further 
information to assist the Panel cannot be presented, then the Panel may 
adjourn the hearing and issue directions as to the additional evidence 
required and by whom.  

  Announcing decision on facts found 

3.9 (a) The [Hearing Panel] will reconvene the hearing in public and the Chairman 
will announce that on the facts found, the Panel considers that there has 
been a breach of the Code of Conduct, or no breach, as the case may be.  

(b) Where the [Hearing Panel] considers that there has been a breach of the 

Code of Conduct, the Chairman will invite the Independent Person, the 
Subject Member and the Monitoring Officer to make their representations as 
to whether any sanctions (in accordance with paragraph 4 of this Annex 4) 
should be applied and what form they should take.   

(c) Having heard the representations of the Independent Person, the Subject 
Member and the Monitoring Officer on the application of sanctions, the 
[Hearing Panel] will adjourn and deliberate in private. 

 (d) If evidence presented to the [Hearing Panel] highlights other potential 
breaches of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council’s Code of 
Conduct, then the Chairman will outline the [Hearing Panel’s] concerns and 
recommend that the matter be referred to the Monitoring Officer as a new 
complaint.   

Final Decision 

3.10 (a) Where the complaint has a number of aspects, the [Hearing Panel] may 

reach a finding, apply a sanction and/or make a recommendation on each 
aspect separately.  

 (b) The [Hearing Panel] will make its decision on the balance of probability, 
based on the evidence before it during the hearing. 

 (c) Having taken into account the Independent Person, the Subject Member 
and the Monitoring Officer’s representations on the application of sanctions, 
the [Hearing Panel] will reconvene the hearing in public and the Chairman 
will announce: 

Appendix C

Page 63



 

(i) the Panel’s decision as to whether or not the Subject Member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, and the principal reasons for the 
decision; 

(ii) the sanctions (if any) to be applied; 
(iii) the recommendations (if any) to be made to the [Borough] [City] [County] 

[District] [Parish] Council or Monitoring Officer;  
(iv) that there is no right of appeal against the Panel’s decision and/or 

recommendations. 

4. Range of possible sanctions  

4.1 Subject to paragraph 4.4 below, where the [Hearing Panel] determines that the 
Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, any one or 
more of the following sanctions may be applied/recommended: 

(a) Recommending to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council 
that the Subject Member be issued with a formal censure (i.e. the issue of an 
unfavourable opinion or judgement or reprimand) by motion; 

(b) Recommending to the Subject Member’s Group Leader [or Parish Council], 
or in the case of a ungrouped Subject Member, to the [Borough] [City] 
[County] [District] [Parish] Council that they be removed from committees or 
sub-committees of the Council; 

(c) Recommending to the Leader of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
Council that the Subject Member be removed from the Cabinet or removed 
from particular Portfolio responsibilities; 

(d) Instructing the Monitoring Officer [or recommendation to the Parish Council] 
to arrange training for the Subject Member; 

(e) Recommending to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council 
that the Subject Member be removed from all outside appointments to which 
they have been appointed or nominated by the [Borough] [City] [County] 
[District] [Parish] Council; 

(f) Recommending to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council 
that it withdraws facilities provided to the Subject Member by the Council, 
such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access;   

(g) Recommending to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council the 
exclusion of the Subject Member from the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
[Parish] Council’s offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting 
rooms as necessary for attending [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] 
Council committee and sub- committee meetings;  

(h) Reporting the Panel’s findings to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
[Parish] Council for information;  

(i) Instructing the Monitoring Officer to apply the informal resolution process; 
(j) Sending a formal letter to the Subject Member; 
(k) Recommending to the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council to 

issue a press release or other form of publicity; 
(l) Publishing its findings in respect of the Subject Member’s conduct in such 

manner as the Panel considers appropriate. 

4.2 The [Hearing Panel] has no power to suspend or disqualify the Subject Member 
or to withdraw basic or special responsibility allowances. 

4.3 The [Hearing Panel] may specify that any sanction take effect immediately or take 
effect at a later date and that the sanction be time limited. 

4.4 When deciding whether to apply one or more sanctions referred to in paragraph 
4.1 above, the [Hearing Panel] will ensure that the application of any sanction is 

Appendix C

Page 64



 

reasonable and proportionate to the Subject Member’s behaviour.  The [Hearing 
Panel] will consider the following questions along with any other relevant 
circumstances or other factors specific to the local environment:  

(a) What was the Subject Member’s intention and did they know that they were 
failing to follow the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] [Parish] Council’s Code 
of Conduct? 

(b) Did the Subject Member receive advice from officers before the incident and 
was that advice acted on in good faith? 

(c) Has there been a breach of trust? 
(d) Has there been financial impropriety, e.g. improper expense claims or 

procedural irregularities? 
(e) What was the result/impact of failing to follow the [Borough] [City] [County] 

[District] [Parish] Council’s Code of Conduct? 
(f) How serious was the incident? 
(g) Does the Subject Member accept that they were at fault? 
(h) Did the Subject Member apologise to the relevant persons? 
(i) Has the Subject Member previously been reprimanded or warned for similar 

misconduct? 
(j) Has the Subject Member previously breached of the [Borough] [City] 

[County] [District] [Parish] Council’s Code of Conduct? 
(k) Is there likely to be a repetition of the incident? 

5. Publication and notification of the [Hearing Panel’s] decision and 
recommendations 

5.1 Within 10 working days of the [Hearing Panel’s] announcement of its decision and 
recommendations, the Monitoring Officer will publish the name of the Subject 
Member and a summary of the [Hearing Panel’s] decision and recommendations 
and reasons for the decision and recommendations on the [Borough] [City] 
[County] [District] Council’s website. 

5.2 Within 10 working days of the announcement of the [Hearing Panel’s] decision, 
the Monitoring Officer will provide a full written decision and the reasons for the 
decision, including any recommendations, in the format of the Decision Notice 
template below to: 

(a) the Subject Member; 
(b) the Complainant; 
(c) [the Clerk to the Parish Council;] 
(d) Kent County Council’s [Standards] Committee (applicable only where the 

Subject Member is serving at both [Borough] [District] [City] and County 
level); 

(e) [Borough] [District] [City] Council’s [Standards] Committee (applicable only 
where the Subject Member is serving at both [Borough] [District] [City] and 
County level). 

5.3 The Monitoring Officer will report the [Hearing Panel’s] decision and 
recommendations to the next ordinary meeting of the [Standards] Committee for 
information. 

Appendix C

Page 65



 

TEMPLATE - DECISION NOTICE (of Hearing Panel) 

 

Complaint No: xxxx 

On [insert date], the Hearing Panel of the [insert name] Council considered a report of 
an investigation into the alleged conduct of Councillor [insert name of councillor], a 
member of [insert authority name].  A general summary of the complaint is set out 
below.  

Complaint summary 

[Summarise complaint in numbered paragraphs as set out in the Investigating Officer’s 
report to the Hearing Panel] 

Consultation with Independent Person 

[Summarise the Independent Person’s views in numbered paragraphs] 

Findings  

After considering the submissions of the parties to the hearing and the views of the 
Independent Person, the Hearing Panel reached the following decision(s): 

[Summarise the finding of facts and the Hearing Panel’s decision against each finding 
of fact in numbered paragraphs as set out in the Investigating Officer’s report to the 
Hearing Panel, but substitute the Investigating Officer for the Hearing Panel.  Please 
note that the Hearing Panel’s findings may differ from that of the Investigating Officer] 

The Hearing Panel also made the following recommendation(s) 

[Detail recommendations] 

Sanctions applied 

The breach of the [insert authority name] Code of Conduct warrants a [detail sanctions 
applied]. 

Appeal 

There is no right of appeal against the Hearing Panel’s decision. 

Notification of decision 

This decision notice is sent to the: 

• Councillor [name of councillor] 

• Complainant 

• [Clerk to the xxxx Parish/Town Council]; 

• Kent County Council’s Monitoring Officer [applicable only where the Councillor 
is serving at both [Borough] [City] [District] and County level] 

Additional help 

Appendix C

Page 66



 

If you need additional support in relation to this decision notice or future contact with 
the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council, please let us know as soon as possible.  
If you have difficulty reading this notice, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist 
you, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. We can also help if English 
is not your first language.  Please refer to the attached Community Interpreting Service 
leaflet or contact our Customer Services on [insert telephone number] or email [insert 
email address].  We welcome calls via Typetalk  

 

Signed:        Date   

 

Print name: 

 

Chairman of the Hearing Panel 

xxxxxxx [Council address] 

 

Appendix C

Page 67



 

 

Appendix C

Page 68



[Committee] Terms of Reference 

 

Kent Model Committee Terms of Reference FINAL 

 
To discharge the functions (other than those which are reserved to Council) as set 
out in Part 1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 including: 
 
1. To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and Co-

opted Members of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council and to make 
recommendations to Council on improving standards. 

 
2. To advise and assist Parish/Town Councils and Parish/Town Councillors to 

maintain high standards of conduct and to make recommendations to 
Parish/Town Councils on improving standards. 

 
3. To advise the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council on the adoption of 
 or revisions to its Code of Conduct. 
 
4. To advise, train or arrange to train [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 

Members, Co-opted Members and Parish/Town Councillors on matters 
relating to the Code of Conduct. 

 
5. To assist the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Councillors, Co-opted 
 Members and Parish/Town Councillors to observe their respective Codes of 
 Conduct. 
 
6. To monitor and assess the operation and effectiveness of the Code of 
 Conduct and to review and manage the Arrangements for dealing with Code 
 of Conduct Complaints. 
 
7. To advise on local ethical governance protocols and procedures. 
 
8. To maintain oversight of the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] Council’s 

arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints. 
 
9. To act as an advisory body in respect of any ethical governance matter. 
 
10. To monitor and review the procedures for the Register of Members’ Interests 
 and declaring gifts and hospitality. 
 
11. To receive quarterly reports (or less frequently if there are no complaints to 
 report) from the Monitoring Officer on the number and nature of complaints 
 received and action taken as a result in consultation with the Independent 
 Person. 
 
12. To receive an annual report on the [Borough] [City] [County] [District] 
 Council’s ethical governance arrangements. 
 
13. To appointment a sub-committee to deal with Code of Conduct complaints, 

following investigation. 
 
14. To grant dispensations pursuant to S33(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and 

paragraph 8 of the adopted Code of Conduct where: 
 

(i) without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on 
the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter the 
outcome of any vote on the matter. 

(ii) that the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 

Appendix D

Page 69



[Committee] Terms of Reference 

 

Kent Model Committee Terms of Reference FINAL 

persons living in its area; or   
(iii) where the [Committee] considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation.   
 

 
 

Appendix D

Page 70



                                                                                                                                  
 
 

 

AUDIT, STANDARDS AND OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES -  

ANNUAL REPORTS 2011/2012 
 
To: Full Council 
 
Date: 18 July 2012  
 
Main Portfolio Area: Finance & Governance  
 
Authors of report: Ian Cumberworth, Ben Bix and Wendy Newton-May 
 
Classification: Non Exempt  
 
Ward: All  
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the Annual Reports of the Audit Committee, Standards Committee and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2011/2012 setting out how the Committees have 
discharged their responsibilities during the year. 
 

 
LINK TO STRATEGIC COMPASS 
 
Passionate about providing value – we are open, transparent and accountable 
Passionate about our customers – customers are well communicated with.  
 

Report status 

For information. 

 

Route to Implementation/Timetable: For referral to Full Council. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 71



BACKGROUND/INTRODUCTION 
 
 Audit Committee 
 
1. The role of the Audit Committee is to obtain assurance on the control environment of the 

organisation; the attached report sets out how the committee has sought to achieve this.  
 
2. The internal control environment comprises the whole network of systems and controls 

established to manage the Council, to ensure that its objectives are met. It includes 
financial and other controls, and arrangements for ensuring that the Council is achieving 
value for money from its activities. 

 
3. In accordance with best practice, the Committee has produced an Annual Report to 

enable their work to be considered when drafting the Annual Governance statement for 
2011-2012 (attached at Appendix B). 

 
   Standards Committee 
 

4. The Standards Committee is responsible for a range of functions relating to the promotion 
of high ethical standards. This includes dealing with complaints under the Member’s Code 
of Conduct and overseeing the effectiveness of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
5. The Annual Report of the Standards Committee covers the period May 2011 to April 2012 

and provides details of the role and membership of the Committee, the key challenges 
faced by the Committee over the past 12 months and its major achievements (attached at 
Appendix C). 

 
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
6. The Overview and Scrutiny functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 

2000, the Police and Justice Act 2006, the relevant provisions of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the Localism Act 2011 and associated rules 
and regulations were delivered by three Select Committees during 2011-12. These were: 
Economy and Governance Select Committee; Environment, Housing and Health Select 
Committee; and Communities and Partnerships Select Committee. The work of the three 
Select Committees was co-ordinated by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Group. 

 
7. The Annual Report (attached at Appendix D), highlighting the work and achievements of 

the Select Committees 2011-12 was agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Group. 

    
WHAT IS THE ISSUE THAT REQUIRES A DECISION AND WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR 
THE PEOPLE OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS? 
 
8. To demonstrate that the Committees are operating effectively in reviewing the governance 

arrangements within the Council and to provide assurance that this responsibility is being 
effectively discharged. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 72



WHO HAVE WE CONSULTED AND HOW? (OR WHO WILL WE CONSULT  
FOLLOWING THE DECISION?) 
 
9. Members of the Audit Committee, Standards Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee have been consulted and agreed the content of their Annual Reports at 
previous meeting Committee meetings. 

 
HOW WILL THE DECISION BE COMMUNICATED? 
 
10. There is no decision to make as the Annual Reports are for information only.  However, all 
 three of the Annual Reports will be published on the Council’s website.  
 
WHAT ALTERNATIVE ACTION COULD WE TAKE?  
 
11. It is regarded as best practice to produce an annual report for each of these Committees, 

however the authority could choose not to produce an annual report.  
 
CONCLUSIONS   
 
12.   Based on the coverage of the work undertaken by the Committees, they have all worked 

effectively in discharging their responsibilities.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the Annual Reports for 2011/12 for the Audit, Standards and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees be noted. 
 
REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S):  
To provide members and the public with an assurance on the work undertaken by the 
Committees together with evidence of the effectiveness of the Committees. 
 
Contact Officer: Wendy Newton-May, Democratic Services Officer 
 
 

 
Paul Taylor 
Director of Change and Communities 
 
Nazeya Hussain 
Head of Policy and Partnerships 
 
Background Papers 
‘None’ 
 
APPENDICES TO REPORT 
Appendix A – Cross cutting issues 
Appendix B – Audit Committee Annual Report 2011/12 
Appendix C – Standards Committee Annual Report 2011/12 
Appendix D – Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2011/12 

Agenda Item 8

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

AUDIT, STANDARDS AND OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES -  

ANNUAL REPORTS 2011/2012 

 
 

CROSS CUTTING ISSUES  

 
LEGAL 
 
Legal  

1. There are no relevant issues 
Human Rights Act  

2. There are no specific issues 
 
VALUE FOR MONEY AND USE OF RESOURCES 
 
Finance and other resources, including ICT  

3. No relevant issues 
 
Staffing  

4. No relevant issues 
 
Value for Money  

5. No relevant issues 
 
Risk Management 
6. No relevant issues 
 
COMMUNITY 
Safer & Stronger Communities  

7. No relevant issues 
 
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
8. No relevant issues 
 
Environment / Sustainability  
9. No relevant issues 
 
Equalities 

10. No relevant issues 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A

Page 75



Does the activity have the 
potential to cause adverse 
impact or discriminate 
against different groups in 
the community? 

Yes  
 

Please explain: 
 

No   
 

No relevant issues: 
 

Note: if the answer is ‘yes’ then a full equality impact 
assessment is required 

Does the activity make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

Yes  
 

 

Please explain: 
 

No   
 

No relevant issues 

Note: if the answer is ‘yes’ then a full equality impact 
assessment is required 

When a full impact assessment is required: 

Summary of the impacts  i.e. your responses to  questions 13 – 16 in the 
Equality Impact Assessment Template 

What weight do the 
equality impacts have with 
regard to other factors 
relating to the decision? 

i.e. what reasonable adjustments can be made to 
address any impacts within other constraints e.g. 
budget? 

 
Health and Wellbeing 

11. No relevant issues 

 
COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION   

12. The contents of the Annual report have been discussed and agreed with representatives of 
the appropriate Committees. 
 

Appendix A

Page 76



 
 
 

Audit Committee 
Annual Report 

2011/12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix B

Page 77



 

 

 

Contents Page 

Foreword by Cllr Len Price, Chairman of the Audit Committee 3 

1. Introduction 4 

2. Terms of reference and responsibilities 6 

3. Membership 7 

4. Committee Attendance 2011/12 8 

5. The Committee completed the following programme during 2011/12 9 

6. Assurance 10 

7. Review of the Audit Committee’s Effectiveness 12 

8. 2012/13 Work Programme 17 

 

Appendix B

Page 78



 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
 

Audit Committee 

Foreword by Cllr 
 
I am delighted to introduce the annual report of the Audit 
covering the year to 31 March 201
continued to build its strength and effectiveness, and this was evidenced by 
increased interest and attendance by other Members and by members of 
the public. 
 

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Council’s governance arrangements 
(both financial and non financial) and seeks to obtain appropriate assurances in these 
areas. As members of this Committee, we have continued to follow best practice and to 
become increasingly challenging of officers whilst always supporting them in their 
governance priorities. 
 
The Audit Committee deals with a wide range of Council matters and works in liaison with 
Scrutiny and Standards Committees
members of the Council as well as members of the public are welcome and encouraged to 
attend. 
 
You will no doubt know that following the new Committee structure being implemented on 
the 27th May 2012 at the Council Annual 
onto the revised Scrutiny Committee.
 
My successor is Cllr Len Horwood who you all know to be most competent and experienced 
member. He takes over with my best wishes 
members and officers have given to me.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3  

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Audit Committee Annual Report – 2011/12 
 
 
 

Foreword by Cllr Len Price, Chairman of the Audit Committee

I am delighted to introduce the annual report of the Audit 
covering the year to 31 March 2012.  During the year, the Committee 
continued to build its strength and effectiveness, and this was evidenced by 
increased interest and attendance by other Members and by members of 

e is responsible for reviewing the Council’s governance arrangements 
(both financial and non financial) and seeks to obtain appropriate assurances in these 
areas. As members of this Committee, we have continued to follow best practice and to 

ingly challenging of officers whilst always supporting them in their 

The Audit Committee deals with a wide range of Council matters and works in liaison with 
Scrutiny and Standards Committees where appropriate. Meetings are held in 
members of the Council as well as members of the public are welcome and encouraged to 

You will no doubt know that following the new Committee structure being implemented on 
ay 2012 at the Council Annual meeting, I am no longer your Chairm

crutiny Committee. 

My successor is Cllr Len Horwood who you all know to be most competent and experienced 
takes over with my best wishes and know he will enjoy the same support that 

rs and officers have given to me. 

, Chairman of the Audit Committee 

I am delighted to introduce the annual report of the Audit Committee, 
.  During the year, the Committee 

continued to build its strength and effectiveness, and this was evidenced by 
increased interest and attendance by other Members and by members of 

e is responsible for reviewing the Council’s governance arrangements 
(both financial and non financial) and seeks to obtain appropriate assurances in these 
areas. As members of this Committee, we have continued to follow best practice and to 

ingly challenging of officers whilst always supporting them in their 

The Audit Committee deals with a wide range of Council matters and works in liaison with 
. Meetings are held in public, and all 

members of the Council as well as members of the public are welcome and encouraged to 

You will no doubt know that following the new Committee structure being implemented on 
I am no longer your Chairman and move 

My successor is Cllr Len Horwood who you all know to be most competent and experienced 
know he will enjoy the same support that 

Appendix B

Page 79



 

Page 4  
 

 
1. Introduction 
 

The Council re-established the Audit Committee as a full committee with effect from June 2007. Its 
functions had previously been undertaken by the Standards and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. Whilst there is no statutory obligation to have an Audit Committee, they are widely 
recognised as a core component of effective governance. In recent years there has been a 
significant amount of regulation and guidance issued on governance arrangements for private and 
public sector bodies, the common feature of governance arrangements being the existence of an 
Audit Committee:  
 
  
Audit Committees differ from the Scrutiny Committees in that the role of scrutiny is to review policy 
and challenge whether the executive has made the right decisions to deliver policy goals. The Audit 
Committee, however, exists to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the 
Authority's financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the Authority's 
exposure to risk and affects the control environment, and oversight of the financial reporting 
process. 
 
 
The Committee is not a substitute for the executive function in the management of internal or 
external audit, risk management, corporate governance, stewardship reporting, internal control or 
any other review or assurance function. It is the Committee's role to examine these functions, and to 
offer opinions or recommendations on the way the management of these functions is conducted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 80



 

Page 5  
 

Cabinet
(6 Portfolio Holders)

Standards 

Committee

Select Committees' 

Management Group
Audit Committee

Standards 

Assessment

Sub-Committee

Constitutional 

Review

Sub-Committee

Economy & 

Governance Select 

Committee

Environment 

,Housing & Health 

Select Committee

Communities & 

Partnerships Select 

Committee

 
 
 
There are many benefits to be gained from an effective Audit Committee. In fulfilling its role the 
committee will: 
 

• raise greater awareness of the need for internal control and the implementation of audit 
recommendations; 

 

• increase public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of financial and other reporting; 
 

• reinforce the importance and independence of internal and external audit and any other 
similar review process (for example, providing a view on the Annual Governance Statement); 

 

• provide additional assurance to the Authority and its stakeholders through the results of its 
reviews. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 81



 

Page 6  
 

2. Terms of reference and responsibilities 
 
The Committee’s detailed terms of reference are set out in the Council’s Constitution and are based 
on the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) model; however in summary 
they are to provide independent assurance to the Council in relation to the area of governance. This 
is achieved by: 
 

• Providing a forum for monitoring governance arrangements; 
 

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, internal control and its overall 
assurance framework; 

 

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Council's financial and non-financial performance to the 
extent that it might impact on the above; 

 

• Reviewing the performance of the Council’s Internal Audit section and receiving and 
discussing monitoring reports from both internal and external sources; 

 

• Receiving and reviewing external audit reports and liaising with external auditors on 
significant matters identified; 

 

• Advising upon and reviewing any other matters referred to the Audit Committee by the 
Executive or other regulatory committees; 

 

• Considering, accepting and taking a view on the Annual Statement on Accounts and the 
Annual Assurance Statement; and 

 

• Making recommendations to the Authority for action to address any deficiencies. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B

Page 82



 

Page 7  
 

3. Membership 
 
The Audit Committee comprises of nine members, three of whom are co-opted independent 
members. The Committee met on five occasions in 2011/12. Committee agenda papers and 
minutes are available on the Council’s website www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 
 

2011/12 Audit Committee Members 

                                

            L W Price 

Chairman 

            

             

 

             

                                

            Cllr C B Noakes 

Vice-Chairman 

            

             

 

             

    

Cllr J Stanyer Cllr G Hall Cllr F Rook Cllr L Horwood 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                                

    Mr M Lewis 

Independent member 

Mr D Greene 

Independent member 

Mr J Hedges 

Independent member 

    

     

 

  

 

  

 

     

                              

 

Appendix B

Page 83



 

Page 8  
 

4. Committee Attendance 2011/12 

The Committee has been well supported throughout the year by both members and officers, and 
attendance records are set out in the table below. 

Member/Officer 
25/05/11 
Training 

21/06/11 20/9/11 15/11/11 6/03/12 
06/03/12 
Joint 
Cttee 

Audit Committee Members 

Cllr Price (Chair)  Y Y Y Y Y 

Cllr Noakes (Vice-Chair)                Y Y Y A A 

Cllr Hall  N Y N Y Y 

Cllr Horwood  Y Y A Y Y 

Cllr Stanyer  A A Y Y Y 

Cllr Rook  Y A Y Y Y 

Independent Members 

Max Lewis  - - Y Y Y 

James Hedges  Y A Y Y Y 

David Greene  Y Y Y Y Y 

Other Visiting Non Members 

Cllr Ransley  N/A N/A - - - 

Cllr Scholes  N/A N/A - N/A - 

Cllr Ward  - - - N/A - 

Cllr Webb  - N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Officers 

Head of Finance & Governance  Y Y Y Y Y 

Audit Manager  Y Y Y Y Y 

Head of Audit Partnership  Y Y Y A - 

Director of Change & Communities  Y Y Y Y Y 

Finance Manager  Y Y - - - 

Legal Services Manager  Y Y - - Y 

Committee Administrator  Y Y Y Y - 

Performance & Improvement Officer/Manager  - 
Y 
 

- Y -- 

Head of Economic Development  - - - - Y 

Head of Environmental  Y - - - - 

Benefits Fraud Manager  Y - -  - 

Director of Regeneration & Sustainability  - - - - Y 

Head of Customer Access & Transformation   Y - Y - - 

Head of Revenues & Benefits Partnership  Y - - - - 

 Audit Commission 

Andy Mack  A Y Y Y Y 

Graham Short  Y Y Y Y Y 

Richard Smith  - - - Y Y 

Key: Y = Attendance, N = Non Attendance, A = Apologies Received, N/A = Not Audit Committee Member 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B

Page 84



 

Page 9  
 

5. The Committee completed the following programme during 2011/12 
 

Function/Issue 
25/05/11 
Training 

21/06/11 20/09/11 15/11/11 6/03/12 
06/03/12 
Joint 
Cttee 

INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

Audit Committee Annual Report 2010/11 - X - - - - 

Internal Audit Annual Report 2010/11  X     

Internal Audit Status Reports - X X - - - 

Internal Audit Report - Freedom Of Information - X - X - - 

Tunbridge Wells Regeneration Company - - -  - X 

Internal Audit Draft Plan 2012/13 - - - - X  

Internal Audit Strategic Plan (2011 - 2014) - - X - - - 

Audit Committee Improvement Plan - - X - - - 

Interim (six month) Progress Report - - - X - - 

EXTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

Interim Progress Report - X - - X - 

Audit Commission - Audit & Inspection Plan – 
Fees 2011/12 

- X - - - - 

Statement of Accounts and Audit Commission 
Report on Financial Statements 2010/11 

- - X -   

Abolition of The Audit Commission  - - X - - - 

Annual Audit Letter 2011/12 - - - X - - 

Certification of Claims & Return 2010/11 - - - - X  

Future of Local Public Audit Consultation - X - - - - 

External Audit Plan 2011/12 - - - - X - 

REGULARITY FRAMEWORK / INTERNAL CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS 

Member Training Development X X X - - - 

Draft Annual Governance Statement 2010/11 - X - - - - 

Business Continuity 2010/11 - X - - - - 

Annual Risk Management Report 2010/11 - X - - - - 

Corporate Improvement Plan  - X X - - - 

Strategic Compass Monitoring -    X - 

Benefit Fraud Annual Report - X 
 
 

- - - 

National Fraud Initiative - update report - - - X - - 

Strategic Risk Review - - - X - - 

Work Programme - - - - X - 

ACCOUNTS 

Draft Statement of Accounts 2010/11  X        

Statement of accounts & Annual Governance 
Report 2011/12 

 X     

 
6th March 2012 – Joint Audit & Economy and Governance Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee 
to consider the governance arrangements of the Regeneration Company,   

Appendix B

Page 85



 

Page 10  
 

6. Assurance 
 
The Audit Committee has considered the following areas to assist it in gaining assurance of the 
governance arrangements within the organisation as part of its annual work programme. 
 

Risk Management 

• Consider the effectiveness of the Authority's risk management 
arrangements 

• Seek assurance that action is being taken on risk-related issues 
identified by auditors and inspectors 

 
This has been achieved by: 
 

• Receiving regular progress reports on the risk register, considering the movements in 
individual risks and their categorisation, and influencing the format and presentation of risk 
reports; 

 

• Receiving progress reports on internal and external audit issues. 
 

Internal Control assurance 

• Consider the effectiveness of the Authority's control 
environment 

• Be satisfied that the Authority's assurance statements 
including the Annual Governance Statement (formerly SIC) 
properly reflect the control environment and any actions 
required to improve it 

 
This has been achieved by: 
 

• Considering the review of internal control for 2010/11 and agreeing the significant issues to 
be included in the Council's Annual Assurance Statement for 2010/11 
 

• Approving the Authority's Annual Governance Statement for 2010/11 and the action plan to 
address significant improvements. These were incorporated into the Corporate Improvement 
Plan and actions have been monitored by the Committee throughout the year; 
 

• Representation on the Corporate Governance Working Group which has met throughout 
2011/12. 
 

• Joint Economy & Governance Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee and Audit 
Committee was held on 6 March 2012 to consider and review the governance framework in 
place for the Tunbridge Wells Regeneration Company to gain assurance that appropriate 
governance arrangements and frameworks were in place. 

 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=349&MId=2466&Ver=4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 86



 

Page 11  
 

Audit Activity 

• Approve (but not direct) Internal Audit’s strategy; plan and 
monitor performance 

• Review summary Internal Audit reports where they’ve received 
a 'limited' or 'minimal' assurance and seek assurances that 
action has been taken where necessary 

• Receive the annual report of the Internal Audit Manager 

• Consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies 

• Ensure there are effective relationships between internal and 
external audit, and inspection agencies 

 
 
 
Internal Audit 

 
The Committee has:  

 

• Considered and agreed the Internal Audit Strategy and Annual Audit Plan for 2011/12; 
 

• Agreed the Internal Audit annual plan for 2011/12; 
 

• Received and considered the Internal Audit Manager’s Annual Report for 2010/2011 
including the opinion on the Authority's control environment which was incorporated into the 
Annual Governance Statement; 

 

• Received regular reports on the Internal Audit team’s progress against the Plan; 
 

• Received regular status reports setting out the position regarding the agreement of audit 
reports and the assurance opinions provided for each review area; 

 

• Considered specific Internal Audit reports with regard to receiving minimal or limited 
assurance. 
 

• Received progress reports on the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) with further progress reports 
to be brought forward in 2011/12; 
 

• Reviewed the Confidential Reporting Code; 
 

External Audit 
 
The Committee has: 

 

• Received and agreed the Annual Audit & Inspection Letter for 2010/11,  
 

• Considered and agreed the Audit & Inspection Plan for 2010/11; 
  

• Considered and agreed the certification of grant claim reports; 
 

• Received progress reports on the action taken in response to external audit 
recommendations via the corporate improvement reports. 
 

 
 
 

 

Appendix B

Page 87



 

Page 12  
 

Accounts 

• Review the financial statements, external auditor's 
opinion and reports to members, and monitor 
management action in response to the issues raised 
by external audit 

 
The Committee has sought assurance by: 

 

• Considering changes both to the format of the Accounts and the accounting policies used to 
prepare the accounts; 

 

• Approving the Statement of Accounts for 2010/11 and later amendments; 
 

• Receiving and considering the Annual Governance Report 2010/11, and agreeing the signing 
of the letter of representation by the Chairman of the Audit Committee, Head of Finance and 
Governance, Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council; 
 

• Considering the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
 

7. Review of the Audit Committee’s Effectiveness 
 
It is best practice to periodically review the Audit Committee’s effectiveness therefore the four audit 
partner authorities which make up the Mid Kent Audit Partnership commissioned the Local 
Government Improvement and Development (LGID) agency to carry out a peer review of the Audit 
Committees of the four authorities. 
 
The review was conducted in September 2010, by a peer team comprising of the Head of  
Corporate Strategy at North Kesteven District Council; the Deputy Leader of North Hertfordshire 
District Council and the Improvement Manager LGID. The review covered the following areas: 
 

• Terms of Reference 

• Internal Audit Process 

• External Audit Process 

• Membership 

• Meetings 

• Training 

• Administration 
 
Key Findings for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
 
The review concluded that the Audit Committee was effective and one of the stronger Committees 
within the partner authorities and that it provided a forum for strong challenge and had a adopted a 
number of good practices. 
 
Strengths: 

 

• Work of the Audit Committee seen as important across the Council 
 

• Independent members valued and seen as effective 
 

• Chair is well regarded 
 

• Annual report seen as an example of good practice 
 

 

Appendix B

Page 88



 

Page 13  
 

 
 
Areas for development: 
 

• Formal relationships between cabinet and Audit Committee could be improved to enable 
Audit Committee to make a greater impact 

 

• Process in place to ensure that ideas and conclusions arising from the meetings are 
captured and taken forward  

 

• Committee members should seek and take opportunities to address key/contentious issues 
through agenda planning 

 

• Member development required for Audit Committee members 
 
The LGID report was presented to the Audit Committee on 8 March 2011 where it was agreed that 
an action plan be prepared and submitted for consideration and approval at a future meeting to 
address the areas of action required.  
 
The table below summarises the position regarding actions taken as a result of this review together 
with other specific issues members requested: 
 
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s1576/Audit%20Committee%20Improvements.p
df 
 
Audit Committee Improvements considered by Audit Committee on 20/09/2011 (AC 29/11) 
Action Plan 
 
 

 
Area to be addressed Course of action 

Current Position as at 
31/3/2012 

1 There appears to be no clear 
mechanism for members 
(elected or independent) to 
raise items for the agenda. 
The agenda is presented 
approximately a week before 
the meeting and at that stage 
there is no time to raise 
items. 

From October 2011, A pro-forma 
agenda will be produced 4 weeks 
prior to the meeting and distributed 
to members of the Committee. The 
Chairman will consider requests 
for additional reports and discuss 
these with the s151 Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer who will look to 
take forward reports within the 
remit of the Audit Committee. 
 

Implemented. 

Appendix B

Page 89



 

Page 14  
 

 
Area to be addressed Course of action 

Current Position as at 
31/3/2012 

2 When an item is raised which 
needs further investigation on 
occasions no time scale is 
imposed which can result in 
the matter being left hanging 
or worst still overlooked 
entirely. Items such as these 
should be allocated to an 
officer named at the meeting 
and a time scale for a written 
report agreed. This need not 
coincide with the next 
meeting. Indeed it would be 
better that the report was 
distributed to all members 
well before an  meeting so 
that any issues remaining 
can be investigated further 
prior to reporting back at the 
following Audit Committee 
meeting. 
 

Members and Officers need to 
ensure that the recommendations 
agreed at the meeting clearly 
allocate responsibility to named 
officers and give a timeline for 
further action. Progress on 
outstanding issues can be 
managed by seeking an update 
when reviewing the minutes of the 
previous meeting. Information can 
be provided between meetings to 
members of the committee. But 
discussion should be confined to 
formal meetings of the Audit 
Committee and only on issues that 
appear on the publically advertised 
agenda. This is to enable other 
interested people to attend the 
meeting. 

Implemented. 
 
Further action required 
 
To ensure the report comes 
back to the Committee it 
should be added to the 
forward work plan to allow 
the item to be 
tracked/monitored by 
members to ensure the 
required report is considered 
at a future meeting. 

3 On occasions items raised by 
the Committee have been 
investigated and reports filed 
with other Council 
Committees, with no report 
back to Audit. It is fully 
understood that other 
Committees have a role to 
play but out of courtesy alone 
a full report should be filed 
with the Audit Committee so 
that it completes an audit trail 
and members are satisfied 
that their concerns have been 
addressed. 
 

The minutes will be made clearer 
when items have been referred to 
other. Committees and identify 
whether a response if expected 
and the timescale if known. The 
possibility of having a periodic 
meeting of the Chairman of the 
Scrutiny, Standards and Audit 
Committee will be considered as 
part of the review of Committee 
Structures being undertaken by 
the Interim Head of Policy and 
Partnerships. This review should 
be completed by November 2011. 

There has been a delay in 
the implementation of the 
new Committee Governance 
structures however it is 
anticipated these will now 
come into effect May/June 
2012. Those options set out 
in the course of action 
column will be progressed at 
this point. 

 

The Committee now 
produces a forward plan 
which facilitates the tracking 
of future reports and when 
they are expected to be 
considered by the 
Committee. 

Appendix B

Page 90



 

Page 15  
 

 
Area to be addressed Course of action 

Current Position as at 
31/3/2012 

4 There appears to be no 
mechanism for escalating an 
issue which a member might 
think has not been properly 
or fully answered. 

This will be clarified as part of the 
review of Committee Structures 
being undertaken by the Interim 
Head of Policy and Partnerships. 
This review should be completed 
by November 2011. 

There has been a delay in 
the implementation of the 
new Committee Governance 
structures however it is 
anticipated these will now 
come into effect May/June 
2012. Under the new 
proposals a representative of 
the Cabinet will be present at 
Audit Committee which will 
enable issues to be escalated 
if necessary through this 
representative with effect 
from new Municipal year 
2012 (FC77 Full Council 
25/4/12). 
 

5 The report from the Local 
Government Improvement & 
Development (LGID) was 
considered at the Audit 
Committee on 8 March 2011. 
The findings have not all 
been implemented, these 
concern, the constraints of 
the constitution over the role 
of the Audit Committee and 
areas which are within the 
terms of reference. 

The ability for the Audit Committee 
to play a more proactive role in 
current issues will be picked up as 
part of the above review and if 
changes to the constitution are 
required these will be considered 
by the Constitutional Review 
Working Party. The issues raised 
by the LGID which are within the 
Audit Committees terms of 
reference will be met by 
implementing the above course of 
action to No’s 1 to 4. 
 
In addition following September’s 
Audit Committee meeting a 
Chairman’s letter will be produced 
which sets out the key points and 
themes of the meeting. The letter 
will be published alongside the 
minutes and a copy sent to the 
Cabinet which will also set out 
whether a portfolio holder 
response is required. 
 

There has been a delay in 
the implementation of the 
new Committee Governance 
structures however it is 
anticipated these will now 
come into effect May/June 
2012. Those options set out 
in the course of action 
column will be progressed at 
this point 
 
 
 
 
 
Implemented. 

6 There needs to be a 
mechanism to facilitate the 
raising of members’ issues at 
future Audit Committees and 
avoiding discussion of the 
subject matter without notice. 

From November 2011 a standard 
agenda item called ‘Future work 
programme’ will enable members 
to see a schedule of known officer 
reports and allow a discussion on 
the progress of this work and give 
an opportunity for members to 
request work on other issues. 
 

Implemented. 

Appendix B

Page 91



 

Page 16  
 

 
Area to be addressed Course of action 

Current Position as at 
31/3/2012 

7 Governance Role over the 
Regeneration Company 
 
There is concern that a public 
version of the Shareholders 
Agreement has not been 
made available. 

 

 

The public and press were 
informed that a redacted version 
was published on the Council’s 
website on 12 August 2011. 
 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
Default.aspx?page=4534 
 

 

 

Implemented. 

8 The full un-redacted 
Shareholders Agreement 
should be made available to 
Cabinet and the Audit 
Committee. 

The Monitoring Officer has 
informed all members that they are 
free to inspect the un-redacted 
version in full by contacting either 
the Monitoring Officer or the Head 
of Economic Development. Whilst 
Members can inspect the 
Shareholder’s Agreement in full, 
those parts of the Shareholder’s 
Agreement that have not been 
disclosed on the Council’s website 
remain Confidential. Disclosure of 
confidential information is a breach 
of the Code of Conduct. 
 

Implemented.- in addition 
the Audit Committee 
Independent members (non 
elected)  have viewed the un 
- redacted shareholders 
agreement to assist them in 
gaining assurance on the 
governance frameworks in 
place 

 
Future Challenges  
 
The Audit Committee will continue with its existing duties whilst continually striving to achieve best 
practice where this is feasible and affordable.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 92



 

Page 17  
 

8. 2012/13 Work Programme 
 

• The Committee faces a challenging year ahead and the Committee’s detailed work 
programme for the forthcoming year is set out below. 

 

Function/Issue 15/05/12 26/06/12 18/09/12 20/11/12 05/03/13 

Training Session for Audit Committee Members X     

INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

Audit Committee Annual Report 2011/12  X    

Internal Audit Annual Report 2011/12  X    

Internal Audit Plan 2013/14     X 

Interim Progress Report    X  

EXTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

Audit Commission - Audit Opinion Plan 2011/12  X    

Audit Commission - Audit & Inspection Plan - Fees 
2012/13 

 X    

Statement of Accounts and Audit Commission 
Report on Financial Statements 2011/12 

  X   

Annual Audit Letter 2011/12     X 

Certification of Claims & Return 2011/12     X 

Audit Plan 2012/13     X 

REGULARITY & FRAMEWORK / INTERNAL CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS 

Start Time of Meetings 2012/13  X    

Draft Annual Governance Statement   X    

Business Continuity 2011/12  X    

Annual Risk Management Report 2011/12  X    

Corporate Improvement Plan  X X X X 

Fraud Annual Report  X    

Strategic Risk Review    X  

National Fraud Initiative    X   

ACCOUNTS 

Outline Statement of Accounts for 2011/12  X    

Financial Report & Statement of Accounts 2011/12  X    

 
 

Appendix B

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 

Standards 
Committee 

Annual Report 
2011/12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C

Page 95



2 

 

Contents Page 

Foreword by Mrs Barbara Varney, Chairman of the Standards CommitteeError! Bookmark not defined.

1. The Committee and its statutory purpose 5  

2. 2011/12 Standards Committee Members 5 

3. The functions of the Committee 5 

4. The Work of the Committee 2011/12 7 

5. Attendance at Standards Committee, Sub-Committee and Working PartyError! Bookmark not defined.

6. Dealing with complaints about Council MembersError! Bookmark not defined.10 

7. Overseeing complaints about Council services 10 

8. Looking Ahead 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C

Page 96



3 

 

Standards Committee Annual Report 2011/12 
 
Foreword by Barbara Varney, Chairman of the Standards Committee 
 
This Annual Report of the Standards Committee covers the period May 2011 to April 2012. 
During the year, the Committee has appointed Rusthall Parish Councillor Clare Codd to fill 
the parish/town councillor representative vacancy and reappointed Parish Councillors Mike 
Mackenzie and David Henshaw. 
 
This has been a challenging year for the Committee following the Government’s decision to 
remove the regulatory powers of the Standards Board (Standards for England) from 31 
March 2012 and to propose lessening the powers and influence of local standards 
committees. I believe it was absolutely correct and responsible for the Government to take 
action to remove the over burdensome and unnecessarily lengthy statutory complaints 
procedure that the national model demanded. Giving Local Councils the right to establish a 
system that suits the culture and nature of their own areas should work well in this Borough, 
where the quality of Councillors and Officers is high.  
 
Amendments to the Localism Act have recognised that it is not only in those cases where a 
Councillor’s conduct leads to a criminal case being brought though the courts that a 
Council’s reputation may be damaged. In reality, a far more common scenario is an 
allegation concerning conduct, at Borough Council or Parish/Town Council level, which, if 
proven, is capable of bringing a Council into disrepute, damaging internal or external 
relations and losing the public’s confidence and undermining trust in local democracy. The 
provisions of the Act, which replace the existing Standards arrangements set out in the Local 
Government Act 2000, came into effect on the 1st July 2012.   
 
Supporting the interests of the Council and the community in encouraging high ethical 
standards remained top of the Standards Committee’s priorities throughout the year. 
Encouraged by the previous two leaders of this Council to put forward a streamlined 
simplified process of dealing with complaints for a new SC to administer, the Committee 
asked a working party comprising the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Parish Councillor Mike 
Mackenzie to prepare recommendations. These proposals have been superseded by a 
model drawn up by Kent Monitoring Officers, along with its proposed Code of Conduct. Both 
proposals are similar to the arrangements we had suggested, albeit with more steps, which 
needs to be reviewed in the interests of cost efficiency. The Code adopted should follow the 
Nolan Committee principles of standards in public life, and all councilors should regularly be 
reminded that these principles exist, and what they are. The public has a right to expect this. 
 
Regarding the options for the future, whether a separate Standards Committee is retained, 
or the alternative proposal to merge the Standards Committee with another committee, 
probably Audit, is adopted, the essential element will be to give due importance to the 
monitoring and maintenance of ethical standards and not just to ‘tag on’ these functions to 
the Audit Committee. Recent events at a national level should have taught us the dangers of 
taking high standards for granted and assuming that everyone will meet them.  
 
In addition to the handling of complaints, the Standards Committee, with the benefit of 
independent impartial leadership, has rigorously pursued issues of concern that are in the 
public interest. We have done so without fear or favour. Acting as a regulator is not always 
welcomed universally by those ‘under the microscope’. The continuing involvement of 
independent members in a new regime would give more confidence to the public that 
councillors are not simply policing themselves. 
 
 
 

Appendix C

Page 97



4 

 

It was the Standards Committee which championed more transparency over disclosure of 
the shareholders agreement in the Regeneration project and the subsequent training and 
advice to Councillor Directors of that company regarding their first duty to the Council's Code 
of Conduct.  
 
The Committee’s monitoring of attendance at Council meetings has not proved popular with 
all. But however crude a measure it was never intended to be more than a marker for further 
investigation by party leaders. For example, following poor attendance levels in earlier years, 
at important meetings such as budget setting, attendance levels improved markedly once 
this measure was introduced.  
 
Another Standards Committee initiative, following a KCC model, was to request that all 
Councillors complete annual reports setting out what they have achieved for the benefit of 
their constituents to read on line. Many have told us that they are pleased to do so in the 
interests of informing the public of the work of an elected representative. A small minority 
may not agree but we have believed that the public have the right to know what has been 
done in their name. 
  
The Committee has benefited greatly from the involvement of its parish council members, 
whose views and feedback through their networks, has enhanced the good conduct and 
maintenance of high standards throughout the Borough. It will be important for parish 
representation to continue in any new arrangements.In previous years, the Monitoring 
Officer and I undertook a rolling programme of visits to the Parish and Town Councils within 
Tunbridge Wells Borough to explain the workings of the Committee, the Code of Conduct – 
which applies to Parish and Town Councillors as well as to Borough Councillors – and to 
answer questions. This year we put this series of visits on hold as the future of the Borough’s 
standards regime has been uncertain. However, we did undertake a visit to the newly formed 
Rusthall Parish Council in July 2011 to introduce the Standards Committee and its functions 
to Parish Councillors. 
 
This year has also seen a lot of publicity, much of which was not entirely accurate, 
surrounding a high profile case that was investigated by Standards for England after it was 
passed to them by this Committee. Standards for England judged that the Councillor 
involved had not breached the Code of Conduct nor did the board criticise the Council’s 
Officers who made the complaint.  
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Committee Members for their sound 
and thoughtful contributions at Committee and Sub-Committee meetings and for their highly 
commendable attendance record. I would also like to record thanks to Tony Pawson, Vice 
Chairman and Parish Councillor Mike Mackenzie for the time they have given, and their 
insightful contributions, to the working group on a streamlined complaints procedure. My 
thanks to Tony Pawson again and the other Members of the Constitutional Review Working 
Party for their valuable work reviewing the Constitution and ensuring it is up to date and fit 
for purpose. Finally thanks to Paul Cummins, our Monitoring Officer, for his advice and 
patience and to the indefatigable Wendy Newton-May for her superbly efficient and calming 
manner at all times.  
 

Appendix C

Page 98



5 

 

The Committee and its statutory purpose 
 
The Committee’s purpose is constituted under section 53 of the Local Government Act 2000. 
Its main role is to promote and maintain high standards of conduct. The Committee is made 
up of five borough councillors, five parish/town council members and five independent 
members. This enables it to have a balanced, non-partisan approach, combining 
independence and objectivity with local experience and knowledge. 
 
2011/12 Standards Committee Members 
 
Chairman – Mrs Barbara Varney (independent member) 
Vice-Chairman – Mr Anthony Pawson (independent member) 
Independent members: 
Mrs Lynne Assirati, Mr Richard Segall Jones, Mr Simon Spanswick 
Parish/Town Council Representatives: 
Town Councillor David Henshaw, Parish Councillor Mike Mackenzie, Parish Councillor Mrs 
Jane March, Parish Councillor Clare Codd (appointed in September 2011) 
Borough Council representatives: 
Councillors Mrs June Crowhurst, David Elliott, Len Horwood, Trevor Poile, Ron Weeden 
 
The functions of the Committee include: 
 

(a) promoting and maintaining high standards of ethical governance and of conduct by all 
Members;  
 
(b) assisting all Members to observe the members’ Code of Conduct;  
 
(c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct;  
 
(d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct;  
 
(e) advising, training or arranging to train all members on matters relating to the Members’ 
Code of Conduct;  
 
(f) granting dispensations to Members from requirements relating to interests set out in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct;  
  
(g) dealing with reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and reports from the 
Monitoring Officer on any matter which is referred by an ethical standards officer (an 
independent officer appointed by Standards for England) to the Monitoring Officer; 
 
(h) the exercise of (a) to (g) above in relation to the parish and town councils wholly or 
mainly in its area and the members of those parish and towns councils in addition to the 
powers granted to it under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007;  
 
(i) developing, recommending and reviewing any protocols to the Council to supplement the 
Members’ Code of Conduct;  
 
(j) enforcing any protocols and the Members’ Code of Conduct, and applying sanctions, as 
appropriate, in respect of breaches;  
 
(k) oversight of the effectiveness of the complaints handling and Ombudsman investigations 
and making appropriate recommendations for change to the procedure;  
 

Appendix C

Page 99



6 

 

(l) oversight of the effectiveness of the constitution and making appropriate 
recommendations for change;  
 
(m) having the power to make payments or provide other benefits in cases of 
maladministration etc, contained in the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000, as amended, under the section headed Miscellaneous 
Functions Part II (function 48);  
 
(n) considering any application for exemption from political restriction for the holder of a post 
in respect of any post within the Council;  
 
(o) giving directions on the application of any person or otherwise to the Council requiring it 
to include a post in the list of politically restricted posts; and 
 
(p) liaising with the Audit Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee Chairmen 
to coordinate cross-cutting issues and avoid duplication. 
 

Appendix C

Page 100



7 

 

The Work of the Committee 2011/12 
 
Following the Local Government Act 2000, every Council was required to have a Standards 
Committee. This Council’s Standards Committee meets in public seven times a year and 
agendas and all associated papers are available to view on the Council website. In addition 
regularly scheduled meetings, special meetings can take place to deal with urgent business. 
Sub-Committee meetings are convened as needed to deal with complaints that allege a 
breach by Members of the Code of Conduct.  
 
The work of the Committee has continued throughout the year despite the uncertainty and 
potentially changed context created by the proposed legislative changes of the Localism Act. 
In summary, the Committee’s work has included:   
 
1. Reviewing and updating the Borough Council’s Constitution – this work is undertaken 

by the Constitution Review Working Party, which is chaired by the Vice-Chairman of 
the Standards Committee, Tony Pawson, and includes Councillors Mrs March and 
Weeden, Councillor Poile as a representative of the Liberal Democrats Group and 
Councillor Mrs Mayhew as a representative of the Conservative Group.  

 
2. The Council Procedure Rules have been reviewed to ensure that Full Council 

meetings run smoothly and are managed in an effective manner. 
 
3. General Member Protocol – this Protocol was introduced at the instigation of the 

Standards Committee and agreed by Full Council and is reviewed on an annual 
basis. It was amended by the Committee in June 2011 to reflect the confirmation by 
the Leader that he wishes completion of Members’ Annual Reports to be voluntary 
rather than compulsory. 

 
4. Borough Councillors’ attendance records are monitored by the Standards Committee 

and reviewed annually. Low attendance by individual councillors is brought to the 
attention of the party leaders. 

 
5. The Standards Committee established a project group in August 2011 to consider 

options for the future of the oversight of ethical governance, in particular the process 
of dealing with complaints.  

 
6. The Standards Committee has developed a more outward face in terms of public 

recognition of the work being undertaken to promote ethical issues. The purpose has 
been to build the community’s trust and confidence in its elected and appointed 
representatives. 

 
7. Engagement with the Leader of the Council - throughout the year, discussions had 

been held with the former Leader and Chief Executive and both attended a 
Standards Committee meeting in November 2011 to answer questions on issues of 
concern and about the year ahead. Both the Chief Executive and the new Leader 
have emphasised the importance of high ethical standards being maintained in a 
format that complies with the new regulations, particularly in respect of self-regulation 
of the conduct of members. The Leader and members of the opposition parties are 
also regularly consulted on matters of principle relating to the Standards Committee 
and its work. 

 
8. Proposals for members’ remuneration for 2012/13 were discussed by the Standards 

Committee, as part of the Council’s annual review of its members’ allowance 
scheme.  

 

Appendix C

Page 101



8 

 

9. Proposals presented by the former Leader of the Council for revised governance 
arrangements, chiefly concerning committee structures, were discussed by the 
Standards Committee; its remit to comment on any ethical governance issues arising 
from the proposed changes. 

 
10. In order to ensure that its work is understood both within the Council and outside, the 

Standards Committee’s Annual Report reports on the work undertaken throughout 
the year, supporting the Committee’s work in promoting high ethical standards.. A 
copy is sent to all Heads of Service within the Council, every borough councillor and 
all local councils via their clerks. Copies are available at the Council’s Gateway in 
Tunbridge Wells and on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C

Page 102



9 

 

Attendance at Standards Committee and Sub-Committee and Working Party Meetings from 
May 2011 to April 2012 

NAME STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE  

STANDARDS 
SUB-
COMMITTEE 
RELATING TO 
MEMBER 
COMPLAINTS* 

CONSTITUTIONAL 
REVIEW WORKING 
PARTY  

COMMUNICATIONS 
WORKING PARTY 

Total no. of 
meetings 

held 

7 7 4 1 

Borough Cllr 
Mrs 

Crowhurst 

4  Not a member Not a member 

Borough Cllr 
Elliott 

6 1 Not a member Not a member 

Borough 
Councillor 
Horwood 

6 2 Not a member Not a member 

Borough 
Councillor 
Poile 

6 3 4 Not a member 

Borough Cllr 
Weeden 

6  4 Not a member 

Parish Cllr 
Mrs Codd 
(appointed 
Sept 2011) 

4 2 Not a member Not a member 

Town Cllr 
Henshaw 

3 2 Not a member Not a member 

Parish Cllr 
Mackenzie 

6 1 Not a member 0 

Parish Cllr 
Mrs March – 

7 1 4 Not a member 

Independent 
Member – 
Mrs Assarati 

5  Not a member Not a member 

Independent 
Member – Mr 
Segall Jones 

6 1 Not a member Not a member but 
attended 1 meeting as 

a visitor 

Independent 
Member – Mr 
Pawson 

7 4 3 1 

Independent 
Member – Mr 
Spanswick 

4  Not a member Not a member 

Independent 
Member – 
Mrs Varney 

7  Not a member Not a member 

*Panel of 3 members chosen at any time 
** Town Councillor Henshaw has been unable to attend meetings from September to 
March due to ill health 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C

Page 103



10 

 

 
Dealing with complaints about Council Members 
 
The Standards Committee takes a reasonable and proportionate approach to dealing with 
complaints and, where appropriate, encourages mediation between the parties before a 
formal complaint is lodged. Once a formal complaint is made the Assessment Sub-
Committee would still encourage informal resolution of complaints where appropriate within 
the current statutory framework, thus avoiding unnecessary and disproportionate use of 
investigatory resources.  
 
During 2011/12 the Standards Committee received seven formal complaints which were 
taken through the statutory processes. Three resulted in no further action being taken. Two 
other cases led to the identification of areas where improvements in behaviour and the 
conduct of public business needed to be implemented. One complaint was referred to 
Standards for England for investigation, whilst another case was referred for a local 
investigation. This approach, proportionate to the problems identified, has helped to promote 
and maintain high ethical standards across the Borough.  
 
Overseeing complaints about Council services 
 
The Committee has a key role to play in overseeing the Council’s complaints handling 
procedures and Ombudsman investigations regarding Council services, as well as - in cases 
of maladministration - authorising payments or payments-in-kind where appropriate. 
 
Appropriate performance indicators are used to help track the percentage of complaints that 
have been escalated to the next level of the Complaints Procedure. Performance Indicators 
are also used to record how quickly the Council replies to complaints and the amount of 
compensation suggested by the Ombudsman to resolve complaints referred to him. 
Performance Indicators are reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis and a more detailed 
report submitted to Standards Committee every six months. The Standards Committee also 
receives details of the Annual Letter and complaint statistics from the Local Government 
Ombudsman. 
 
Looking Ahead 
 
Following enactment of the Localism Act 2011, this Council will remain under a statutory 
duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct for its elected and co-opted 
members. 

 
 

Appendix C

Page 104



Change 
2012-13 will bring signifi-
cant changes to Overview 
and Scrutiny work. The 
pre-Cabinet decision role 
will be carried out by 
Cabinet Advisory Boards 
rather than Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. 
There will be one Over-
view and Scrutiny Com-
mittee in place from May 
2012, with a stronger ex-
ternal focus and a wider 
remit as a result of the 
‘localism’ agenda. The 
Localism Act provides 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees with the 
power to influence policy 
and public service deliv-
ery across the Borough.  
 
We are always eager to 
include the public in our 
work and hope that the 
coming year will provide 
further opportunities for 
residents to become in-
volved, either through 
suggesting an issue for us 
to look at, or by attending 
meetings as witnesses, 
observers or co-opted 
members. Please call 
01892 554111 for further 
information or you can e-
mail  

scrutiny@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Welcome to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Annual Re-
port for 2011-12. The aim 
of this report is to reflect 
on the work that has been 
done in Tunbridge Wells 
this year and to explain 
what changes to the func-
tion lie ahead over the 
next twelve months.  
 
The past year has been a 
challenging one for Scru-
tiny, but it is a credit to the 
Select Committee mem-
bers that their work has 
remained of such a high 
quality. The Council con-
tinues to face unprece-
dented financial pressures 
in a wider climate of pub-
lic spending cuts, and 
public awareness of local 
government spending and 
services has rarely been 
so high. It is therefore 
more important than ever 
that the Council has a 
robust system of Over-
view and Scrutiny, ensur-
ing that accountability and 
transparency are strong 
characteristics of the 
Council’s public profile.  
 
There have been several 
successful reviews this 
year, and we have made 
robust recommendations 
on dementia and home-
lessness.  
 
Consensus 
The Committees have 
also undertaken a number 
of  inquiries, including: 
disabled facilities grants; 

improved broadband pro-
vision; the Go! Card; road 
safety; and communica-
tions, alongside the regu-
lar overview of Council 
policies and one call-in of 
an executive decision. 
This year has also seen 
the continuation of the 
Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
with Maidstone Borough 
Council. This approach 
has shared resources and 
information across the 
authorities, allowing Bor-
ough councillors to pro-
vide a truly local perspec-
tive on current reforms to 
health services, giving 
greater attention to the 
impact on our boroughs 
than a County-level re-
view could achieve.  
 
It is worth mentioning the 
Council’s involvement in 
town centre regenera-
tion which has been a 
significant item on the 
overview and scrutiny 
agenda again this year. At 
a joint meeting of the 
Economy and Govern-
ance and the Audit Com-
mittees, there was a very 
full examination of the 
Tunbridge Wells Regen-
eration Company govern-
ance arrangements; this 
led to a full endorsement 
of the systems in place, 
with a Cabinet commit-
ment to improve the 
openness and transpar-
ency of future plans being 
welcomed. 

������������	�
������
Introduction from Councillor Julian Stanyer  

�
���������	�
�����������������
������������
	���������������
����
����������������
�����
����������
������

���������	��


���
����������		�	�� �����	���������������������
���

�����������	��
��������
����
���� ����!"##$#!�

��������������
�� �� ���

• ���������	�
����

• �������������	��������


���������	���	�����

• ��
������	��	�������	�����

�	������

• ������������������

%������������� ����

�
�	
����������	���������
����	����� ����

#�

!	�
�������	��������	�����
����������

&�

���������������
���������
�����	����������������

'�

"�		��������������������
�������������
�	��	�

(�

�	�
�������	�
���������
��������	
����

#"�

#��������		����	��	�� #!�

$������������
��
��� #!�

Appendix D

Page 105



 

‘To be an effective service that is held in high regard both internally 

and externally, is equal to Cabinet in terms of both respect and its 

status and ensures value for money services for local people.’ 

 
Non-Executive Members lead the Overview and Scrutiny function at Tun-

bridge Wells and seek to achieve the vision for the function through four pri-

orities based on the four principles of effective scrutiny as laid out by the 

Centre for Public Scrutiny. The main body of this Annual Report describes 

how we as Members have delivered the function this year.  

Our Vision for Scrutiny at Tunbridge Wells 

The four principles of effective scrutiny 

The Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) provided us with four principles to 
guide our work 

1. Drives improvement in public services;  

2. Ensures scrutiny provides ‘critical friend’ challenge to executive policy
-makers and decision makers;  

3. Reflects the voice and concerns of the public and its communities; 
and  

4. Is carried out by independent minded governors who lead and own 
the scrutiny role. 

Overview and Scrutiny is well established in Tunbridge Wells, with three 

‘Select Committees’ sitting each month, comprising a large proportion of the 

Council’s membership. The Committees cover three areas of the Council’s 

work: Economy and Governance; Environment, Housing and Health; and 

Communities and Partnerships. The Committees’ work is split between two 

distinct focuses, as follows. 

a) Policy review and development 

The Committees undertake focused reviews and inquiries on specific areas 

of Council policy. Between them, the three Committees have a responsibil-

ity for examining and reviewing the breadth of the Council’s work. However, 

their work is not limited to services provided by the Council, and the Com-

mittees regularly engage with partner agencies and community groups to 

look at the wider picture for a given issue. At the close of these examina-

tions, the Committees will usually make a series of recommendations for 

further action aimed at improving services for residents or resolving areas of 

concern. When these recommendations relate to Council services, recom-

mendations are sent to Cabinet where, if agreed, they can shape Council 

policy. The involvement of residents, partners and community groups in 

these reviews presents an excellent opportunity for outside bodies and indi-

viduals to positively influence the development of Council policy. 

�
 
 
Select Committees 
enable members to 
reflect the voice and 
concerns of residents  

������ ��������������������������������
���������
�������������

Councillor Julian 
Stanyer says “my 
thanks to all our 
members this year 
for their participation 
and hard work”  

 
‘The role in which scru-
tiny is consistently seen 
as most effective is pol-
icy development & re-
view’ CfPS - ‘Joining 
the dots’ February 2012 

Appendix D

Page 106




���
����������		�	�� ������

b) Accountability 

The Committees examine the decisions taken by the Cabinet, who form the 

executive decision-making body in the Council. Although the Committees 

themselves have no power to make decisions, they can influence the deci-

sion-making process through recommendations formed through research, 

public and partner opinion and insight, expert advice, performance informa-

tion and examination of best practice. Crucially, the Committees also have 

the power to ‘call-in’ an executive decision, whereby a decision is given 

close examination and recommendations are made either in support of the 

course of action, or to explore other avenues, prior to the implementation of 

the decision. 

• Licensing 
• Adult mental health ser-

vices 
• Homelessness 
• Dementia 

 

Looking towards 2012-13, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commit-
tee will be primarily tasked with 
Locality Policy Development 
and Review and retain responsi-
bility for (a) considering ‘call-ins’ 
of Cabinet decisions and (b) act-
ing as the authority’s crime and 
disorder scrutiny committee.  

There remains a role for the 
Joint Health Overview and Scru-
tiny Committee, working in part-
nership with Maidstone Borough 
Council, on health issues affect-
ing the two boroughs, who 
share the same NHS Trust.  

 

During the past few months, the 
Leader of the Council asked that a 
review of the Council’s decision-
making arrangements be undertaken. 
One of the key drivers for this was to 
involve non-executive members in the 
decision-making process much more 
directly and effectively. The model 
which has emerged will see the cur-
rent three Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees being replaced by one 
strong Committee to build on our suc-
cesses in ‘task and finish’ groups. The 
future sees members carrying out re-
views which have more of an outcome 
focus for the locality, rather than re-
viewing internal services. Over the 
years, we have demonstrated our out-
come focus with reviews on: 
 
• Rural bus services 
• Education and employability 
• Road safety and transportation 
• Waste and recycling 
• Migrant workers 
• Tunbridge Wells and the West 

Kent economy 
• Alcohol misuse amongst young 

people and youth activities 

Looking ahead �

Successes and challenges 

The Committees have enjoyed a good level of success when submitting rec-

ommendations to Cabinet, with 83% of recommendations accepted. This no 

doubt reflects the fact that Overview and Scrutiny members have worked 

hard to balance pragmatism and ambition when making recommendations, 

particularly with regard to financial constraints.  

 

 
 
 
There will be three new 
Cabinet Advisory Boards 
and one bigger, locality 
focused Overview  and 
Scrutiny Committee. We 
will build on our 
strengths, working  less 
in Committee settings 
and more on outcome 
focused locality reviews  

“We’re responding to 
the Localism chal-
lenge with an im-
proved Governance 
structure” says Coun-
cillor Ms Palmer 

 
 
 
 
Backbench members 
want to be more in-
volved in decision 
making  

Appendix D

Page 107



The Select Committees have provided critical challenge to the Executive 
through: 

• Policy development; 
• Call-in; 
• Policy review; and 
• Budget scrutiny 

The examples below demonstrate some of the ways in which the Select 
Committees have both challenged and informed decisions by the executive. 

Providing Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy 
Makers 

Call-in  

There were two call-ins this year. A low level of call-ins is viewed by the 

Centre for Public Scrutiny as a positive indicator which demonstrates 

greater member engagement prior to decisions being taken by the Cabinet. 

In 2010, the Centre for Public Scrutiny, reported that its Annual Survey of 

Local Authorities showed that the average number of call-ins per year was 

two.   

Cabinet decision CAB 97/11 Parking Fees and Charges. The call-in was 

concerned with a) the proposed increased costs of resident parking permits 

and b) issues around the 24hr parking charge. Having received a detailed 

response from the Portfolio Holder at the meeting, the Committee con-

cluded that it would take no further action on the call-in.   

Cabinet decision CAB 202/11 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme. The 

Economy and Governance Select Committee sent a clear message to Cabi-

net that they should think again before taking the decision. The Cabinet did 

think again,  and consulted on a new report with the Finance & Governance 

Cabinet Advisory Board, which supported the decision. The Cabinet will 

take a final decision at the end of July 2012.  

������ ��������������������������������
���������
�������������

 
“There were four call-ins 
last year so hopefully 
this year, the non-
executive felt better in-
formed, and consulted 
prior to decisions being 
taken” said Councillor Dr 
Basu 

Budget scrutiny 

Budget Scrutiny is a challenge for all local authorities and Tunbridge Wells 
has tried a range of different ways to do this over the past few years. This 
year, members chose to work as a small, cross-committee, task and finish 
group and selected nine areas from the budget to focus on. Officers were 
invited to talk to the group about ways of saving money within the nine ar-
eas.  

• Local democracy and the Mayor’s service  
• Museum and Art Gallery 
• Car parking charges 
• Communication and consultation 
• Cost-effective ways to pay 
• Assembly Hall 
• Tourist Information Service 
• Community grants 
• Housing grants 

The understanding that the group built helped to dispel some of the myths 
and allowed the group to submit some very positive and supportive conclu-
sions to Cabinet.  

Councillor David Neve 
writes ‘we wanted 
Cabinet  to think again 
about car parking be-
cause of the impact it 
could have on resi-
dents”  

 
 
There is a financial chal-
lenge across the public 
sector, we need to con-
tinue to work together to 
tackle it 

Appendix D

Page 108




���
����������		�	�� ������

The Council’s Policy Framework is driven by the Council’s Strategic Com-

pass. For the first time this year, Overview and Scrutiny members had the 

opportunity to engage with the prioritisation of the projects within the 

‘Community’ quadrant. Members broadly supported the majority of the pro-

jects already identified and felt that they were realistic, achievable and for 

the public good. Members requested that the indicative costings of the pro-

jects in the ‘Community’ quadrant were provided to the Budget Working 

Group, who reviewed the information and suggested that better Broadband 

promotion should be undertaken on a cost-neutral basis. This suggestion 

was accepted at a saving of around £10,000. 

tive of being open, transparent 

and accountable; and (b) recom-

mended to the Cabinet that pro-

gressing all future sites should 

be done in an open and trans-

parent way, that allowed for all 

members of the Council to con-

tribute to the decision-making 

process. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The joint Committee members, which 

included three independent (of the 

Council) Audit Committee members, 

had been provided with access to the 

full copy of the Shareholders’ Agree-

ment between the Council and their 

selected partner, John Laings. Exten-

sive and focused questioning of the 

Council-appointed management 

board members, and the relevant 

Cabinet Portfolio-holder, took place.  

The outcome of this was that the joint 

Committee members: (a) satisfied 

themselves that the Regeneration 

Company had been properly set up 

and had adequate governance and 

audit procedures in place and was 

meeting the Council’s strategic objec-

Policy Review – The Strategic Compass 

Tunbridge Wells Regeneration Company 

On 6 March 2012, the Economy and Governance Select Committee joined 
forces with the Council’s Audit Committee and undertook a thorough investi-
gation into all of the governance arrangements surrounding the Tunbridge 
Wells Regeneration Company. This was a joint effort because of the similari-
ties in the focus of the two Committees, specifically the governance aspect. 
The meeting had also been convened in order to allow councillors to raise 
their outstanding concerns direct with the Borough Council-appointed mem-
bers of the management board of the Regeneration Company. The District 
Auditor and two of his staff from the Audit Commission attended the meet-
ing.   

‘The Strategic Com-
pass is an improvement 
on similar documents 
produced in previous 
years’ said Councillor 
Stanyer 

�

Councillor Stanyer 
says “we should move 
forward now, for the 
benefit of the Borough 
and of council tax 
payers”   

�
�

Councillor Neve said 
“openness and trans-
parency will allow the 
council to make pro-
gress”   

Appendix D

Page 109



Dementia 
 
This topic was selected as a major review by the Environment, Housing and 
Health Select Committee. Its focus was: Dementia – are patients and their 
carers able to access suitable support services? 
 
Evidence about how well patients and their carers – most likely to be family 
members – could find out about vital support services showed a mixed pic-
ture across the Borough. The Committee accepted that the best that the 
Council could do was to become more effective in its ‘signposting’ role and 
help to raise awareness of the disease, as well as encourage local GPs to 
make best use of an excellent web-based information service and 24-hour 
helpline. 
 
The Committee was hugely grateful to the Alzheimer’s Society and to an-
other charity, Crossroads Care (West Kent) for their evidence to the Com-
mittee. The conclusions reached and the recommendations made showed 
that the local authority can play an important community leadership role, as-
sisting our residents towards what we hope will be better-informed decision-
making, at such a life-changing time. 
 
All six of the Committee’s recommendations were accepted by the Cabinet 
and a questionnaire was sent to the 24 GP practices in the Borough.  83% of 
responders had not heard of these support services. The relevant NHS team 
was alerted to this gap in local GP knowledge and summary information was 
sent by TWBC as an interim measure.  

St John’s Road Highways Issue 

Feedback from a successful Ward Walk in the St John’s ward alerted mem-

bers to a potentially dangerous highways issue relating to a set-back section 

of St John’s Road, close to its boundary with Southborough. Previous at-

tempts by the residents in calling for the local authorities concerned to help 

with a solution had failed.  

After the Environment, Housing and Health Select Committee members had 
become involved and had given their full backing for a remedy acceptable to 
the residents, the matter was considered by the Joint Transportation Board 
(which consists of an equal number of County Council and Borough Council 
members). The Board accepted the recommendation to assist the residents 
and asked the KCC officers to progress a ‘stopping up’ order. 
 
The local KCC division member has agreed to use part of his KCC’s 

‘Member Highway Fund’ to fund the scheme. The solution favoured by KCC 

was a scheme which is sign-based and enforceable by the Police, but with-

out any physical barrier. However, a ‘road safety audit’ commissioned by 

KCC has concluded that bollards be installed at the northern end, backed up 

by signage at each end.  

Reflecting the voice and concerns of the public and its 
Communities 

 
Councillor Barbara 
Cobbold said “pedestrian 
safety where the footway 
is at its narrowest remains 
a significant concern and 
needs to be addressed” 

���� � ��������������������������������
���������
�������������

‘People still see de-
mentia as something 
that happens when 
people get older 
rather than a condi-
tion in its own right’ 
said Councillor Peter 
Waldock 

 
 
 
The Committee reiterated 
its support for the residents 
in finding a solution that 
involves a physical barrier/
stopping up of this section 
of highway as the only to-
tally effective option 

Appendix D

Page 110




���
����������		�	�� ����!�

Car parking 
 
Members of the Economy and Governance Select Committee received the 

representations from the Council’s consultation on increasing parking 

charges across the Borough. There was strong feedback that residents and 

businesses in Paddock Wood thought that increasing parking charges in the 

town would be damaging to the economy. The Select Committee took on 

board public opinion and concerns, as did the Portfolio Holder, and re-

sponded positively. The Committee supported the Portfolio Holder, and rec-

ommended the suspension of the introduction of parking charges in Pad-

dock Wood. Cabinet agreed to this recommendation.  

The ‘Public Realm’ 

The term ‘public realm’ means all the open, public spaces that exist in our 
town centres in the Borough, surrounded by buildings. 
 
The Environment, Housing and Health Select Committee established a 
working group, which included one of the Council’s Heritage ‘Member 
Champions’, to examine and make recommendations on how best the au-
thority could establish a framework, within which each public realm space 
could be properly developed and maintained. 
 
The working group used five key issues as a means by which they struc-
tured their analysis, debated the issue and made their recommendations, 
which were agreed by the full Committee: (a) local distinctiveness – pre-
serving our uniqueness; (b) design and maintenance – ensure effective 
planned maintenance, to protect the original investment and build in a 
‘lifetime costs’ mentality; (c) multi-agency management – ensure all opera-
tors within the public realm are working to the same standards and expecta-
tions; (d) clutter – beware of ‘creeping’ incremental items of furniture and 
signage; and (e) competing needs – ensure an equitable balance between 
pedestrians, motorists and others.  

 
Councillor Barbara 
Cobbold said ‘working 
with Councillors Dr 
Hall and Rogers on 
the public realm 
showed how non-
executive councillors 
can really make a 
difference’ 

‘It's good news for 
customers and busi-
nesses in Paddock 
Wood’ said Council-
lor David Neve 

 
The Joint Transport 
Board will take the 
Public Realm item for-
ward 

Councillors visiting Ashford January 2012 

Appendix D

Page 111



All of the issues that form the Select Committees’ work programme are cho-

sen by elected members and it is elected members that make recommenda-

tions at the close of each investigation. Often, these issues are examined in 

a way that is only possible when elected members are those undertaking the 

scrutiny role. Independent of the agencies they are examining, members are 

able to both ask sometimes difficult and direct questions and to champion 

the priorities of local people. 

 

Homelessness 

The Environment, Housing and Health Select Committee completed a re-
view on Homelessness during 2011, which had been started by a previous 
Select Committee in 2009. This topic is never far away from the national 
headlines, even more so during a period of national economic difficulty. 
 
The conclusions of the Committee were that an excellent range of services 
already exists for homeless people in the Borough; these are provided by a 
mix of Borough Council, voluntary and church-based services. The key fo-
cus among the 11 recommendations (10 of which were accepted by the 
Cabinet) was how to improve the process whereby homeless people could 
move on from one stage of accommodation to the next, thereby securing 
their long term pathway towards a permanent home. 
 
The Committee acknowledged that a huge amount of enabling work is car-

ried out by Council staff and it was hugely gratifying to learn that, for the 

2011-12 winter, a shelter for homeless people was established by our Hous-

ing Service, partly as a result of the review work and its findings. 

 

Go! Card 

Members decided on a pragmatic approach to their review of the Council’s 

leisure discount scheme; time would be needed to allow the changes to the 

national benefits system to become clearer and fully operational and since 

those changes impacted on the eligibility criteria of the Go! Card, members 

thought it would be sensible not to make changes now, whilst not knowing 

what the national picture would look like in the near future. Positively, how-

ever, members thought the schemes offered both by the Go! Card and Fu-

sion’s own leisure discount scheme, should be promoted, through existing 

means to ensure that as many people could access the discounts if they 

wanted to. It was felt that since the schemes hadn’t been promoted for a 

while, there should be an increase in the uptake of residents benefitting from 

the scheme.  

Carried out by independent-minded governors who lead and own 

the scrutiny role 

 

Councillor Ronen Basu 

said ‘we found that 

voluntary organisations 

and church groups, work 

tirelessly in support of 

people who find 

themselves homeless’ 

�

����"� ��������������������������������
���������
�������������

 
‘Knowing that the Bene-
fits system would be 
changing we thought it 
best not to propose 
changes to our scheme 
until we  are clear what 
the impact will be.’ said 
Councillor Dr Ronen 
Basu 

 
‘We chose our work 
programme inde-
pendently from the 
Cabinet’ said Coun-
cillor Beverley 
Palmer 

Appendix D

Page 112




���
����������		�	�� ����#�

 

Ambulance Service 

 

Members visited the new Ambulance ‘Make Ready’ Depot in Paddock 
Wood. The purpose of the visit had been: (a) to view the new facility at first 
hand; and (b) to talk to the local management of the South East Coast Am-
bulance Service (SECAmb) about the impact their operational changes had 
had on the effectiveness of their service, in conjunction with the closure of 
the Kent and Sussex Hospital.  There were some local issues, which had 
been raised by residents, which the Committee also took up direct with the 
SECAmb managers. 
 

The Committee members learnt how the new service was now based upon 
the need to attend emergency situations within eight minutes, with smaller 
‘response posts’ located where they were most needed. This enabled the 
response posts to be provided at the points of greatest need, within popula-
tion centres, at minimal cost, and with the flexibility to re-locate, as and 
when population shifts occurred. The Committee was keen to help support 
the Ambulance Service identify suitable locations, as well as help publicise 
the need to encourage more ‘community responder’ volunteers within the 
rural parts of the Borough.  
 

This led to two positive actions: (a) an article in the Local magazine and (b) 
inviting a SECAmb representative to come and speak to the quarterly meet-
ing of the Parish Chairmen’s group, with the intention in both cases of rais-
ing awareness and encouraging more suitably-qualified volunteers.  This 
process was a good example of working collaboratively with public sector 
partners, for the benefit of the whole Borough.  
 
 
 
 
Communications 

Members were keen to work on improving the Council’s communications 

function and work closely with officers to make a difference both on how 

members received information and how to ensure that the Communications 

and Engagement Strategy would be most effective. Members were very 

pleased to be involved and saw their proposals around measuring the suc-

cess of Communications taken on board by officers. Members also saw 

changes being made to the Councillors newsletter as a direct result of their 

input – the Councillors newsletter now contains a wider scope of press 

‘cuttings’ coupled with the response provided by the Council. This was just a 

small step in a wide range of improvements that the Council delivered this 

year to improve the flow of information to members.  

 

 

 

Councillor Barbara 

Cobbold said ‘We should 

continue to work 

together across the 

public sector’  

 
“The Ambulance Service 
needed volunteers; we 
could help by putting an 
article in our residents’ 
magazine” said Council-
lor Barbara Cobbold  

 
Councillor Beverley 
Palmer said 
‘Councillors will bene-
fit from the changes to 
communications that 
we have worked on’  

Appendix D

Page 113



An increasing focus on localism in government has meant that the Select 
Committees’ commitment to improving public services extends to partner 
agencies and community groups with more force than it has done so before. 
The Committees have worked with a wide range of partners across their 
work, ensuring that the service residents receive is the best it can possibly 
be, regardless of who delivers it. 

Disabled Facilities Grants 
 
A review which the Environment, Housing and Health Select Committee un-
dertook concentrated on the operation of disabled facilities grants. This 
scheme is under the control of the Borough Council, is a mandatory grant 
process and can be applied to private owner-occupiers as well as private 
and housing association tenants. 
 
What emerged from the evidence gathered was that there was a particular 
issue relating to tenants of the Town and Country Housing Group, who oper-
ate a ‘Lifetime Homes’ Policy, aspects of which appeared to be causing long 
delays in the installation of facilities recommended by the County Council’s 
Occupational Therapy staff and agreed by the Borough Council’s own offi-
cers. In some cases, the recommended work was being refused by the 
Town and Country Housing Group, due to the provisions of their policy. 
 
In providing additional evidence to the Committee, Town and Country under-
took to provide a detailed action plan, showing how they intended to speed 
up their decision-making process as well as how they would make the 6-
weekly case monitoring meetings more effective. 
 
While the Committee did not expect to see a relaxation of the Lifetime 

Homes Policy, it was gratifying to secure a firm commitment to much im-

proved processes, to ease the lives of those in urgent need of disabled facili-

ties into their homes. 

Road Safety  
 
One of the statutory roles of the Communities and Partnerships Select Com-
mittee is to act as the Council’s ‘crime and disorder scrutiny committee’. The 
format chosen by this authority was to undertake a review of a specific part 
of the work of the Community Safety Partnership. In consultation with the 
Partnership, the issue selected was ‘road safety’. This was based on three 
factors: first, it has been a matter of concern raised by many residents 
through the Ward Walk programme, particularly speeding traffic; secondly, it 
was a topic which the Community Safety Partnership had identified as one 
of its top priorities for 2012; and thirdly, another of the Select Committees 
had identified it as an issue of concern, having learnt from a report on the 
public health indicators for Tunbridge Wells that our road traffic accident per-
formance was worse than in the rest of Kent and even below the all-England 
data position. It therefore leant itself ideally to the benefits of a scrutiny re-
view. 
 

Drive improvement in public services 

 

 

Officers felt that there 

was a greater sense of  

co-operation in place 

following the 

engagement of the 

Committee   

�
�

����	�� ��������������������������������
���������
�������������

 
‘Councillor Caroline 
Derrick has shown 
how positively a mem-
ber can lead on an 
issue’ said Councillor 
Beverley Palmer 

 
‘We will continue our 
work across the public 
sector, building on our 
strengths’ says Coun-
cillor Peter Waldock 

Appendix D

Page 114




���
����������		�	�� ����		�

 

When the Committee heard evidence from Community Safety Partnership 
members, they learnt about a local road safety campaign which had just 
been launched: TWITA (Tunbridge Wells is Traffic Aware). This had been 
initiated by one of our members – Councillor Miss Caroline Derrick. 
 
The Select Committee gave its enthusiastic backing to Councillor Miss Der-
rick’s inspirational campaign, which was aimed at providing far better edu-
cation for young people about the hazards posed by traffic; they also gave 
their full support for the initiatives proposed by the Community Safety Part-
nership, in trying to raise awareness of this important issue and implement 
measures which would reduce casualty numbers.      
 

 

 

Adult Mental Health Services  

In 2011, the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC), which 
consists of three elected members from both Maidstone Borough Council 
and from Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, met to consider what progress 
had been made against a number of recommendations they had agreed the 
previous year, relating to adult mental health services. 
 
A number of leading representatives from various NHS bodies addressed 
the joint Committee and provided evidence of what actions had been taken 
during the intervening 12 month period, for improving the mental health and 
wellbeing of people in Kent and Medway. Among the leading figures who 
responded to member questions was the Director of Commissioning for 
Mental Health and Substance Misuse for the Kent and Medway PCT Clus-
ter. 
 
The evidence gathered was that there were many real improvements in per-
formance and advances in the partnership approach, leading to better out-
comes for patients. Of course, there were further improvements planned 
and commitments made, all of which the joint Committee plan to monitor, as 
part of their continuing role. 
 
The JHOSC had also examined the Government’s NHS reform proposals, 

partly through studying a number of consultation papers and partly through 

calling expert witnesses to give evidence. This had enabled the two authori-

ties – who share the same NHS Trust – to submit a well-informed response 

to the Department of Health, in the interest of our residents. 

 

 

 
 
The Joint Committee 
warmly welcomed the 
integrated approach now 
being followed by the 
NHS and local 
government, leading to 
much-improved services 
for patients   

“This year we chose 
Road Safety in our 
role as the Crime and 
Disorder Committee” 
said Councillor Ronen 
Basu   

The Joint Health 
Overview and Scru-
tiny function will con-
tinue its work in 2012-
13 

Appendix D

Page 115



Communities and Partnerships  
  
Councillor Ms Palmer (Chairman) 
Councillor Basu (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Bothwell (appointed January 
2012) 
Councillor Crawford (who sadly died, 
January 2012) 
Councillor Mrs Crowhurst 
Councillor Hills 
Councillor Lockhart (resigned October 
2011) 
Councillor McDermott 
Councillor Poile (appointed February 
2012) 
Councillor Mrs Soyke 
Councillor Webb 
Councillor Williams 

Economy and Governance  
 
Councillor Stanyer (Chairman) 
Councillor Neve (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Miss Derrick 
Councillor Elliott 
Councillor Hall (G) 
Councillor Dr Hall (L) 
Councillor Holden 
Councillor Horwood 
Councillor Mrs Moore  
Councillor Smith��

 
 
 

Environment, Housing and Health 

Councillor Waldock (Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Cobbold (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Backhouse  
Councillor Chapelard  
Councillor Hastie 
Councillor Ms Hill 
Councillor Mrs March 
Councillor Price 
Councillor Rogers 
Councillor Mrs Weatherly��

Our members (2011/12) 

The following issues will be considered by the new Overview and Scrutiny Committee when it plans its 
work. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will decide whether to take the items forward. 
�

Disabled facilities grants�
Broadband provision in the Borough  
Changes to the food inspection process 
The authority’s Carbon Management Plan 
Public health in the Borough 
Air quality management 
Monitoring the Ambulance Service 
Allotments 
St John’s Road—highways issue 
Supporting local businesses 
Leisure Discount Scheme (Go! Card) 2013  

One of the roles most important to 
effective Overview and Scrutiny is 
working on behalf of our residents 
to address issues which cause 
concern to those people who live 
and work in our Borough. 
This report aims to let you know 
what we have been doing and we 
would really appreciate you getting 
in touch to tell us what you think we 
should be doing now. Please use 
the contact details below if you 
have a particular issue that you 
would like us to focus on in the 
future. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Councillors 

can be contacted on tel: 01892 

554111 or email: 

scrutiny@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

Our Overview and Scrutiny Select Committee agendas, 
minutes and reports are all available on our website 
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk by following the refer-
ence to ‘Democracy & Standards’ then ‘Meetings’, then 
selecting one of the ‘Select Committees’ listed.  
We try to include as wide a range of individuals and or-
ganisations to assist us in our work as possible. Over the 
last year we have welcomed, among others, witnesses 
from: 
 
The Alzheimer’s Society 
Crossroads Care (West Kent) 
Kent Police 
Connexions Kent and Medway 
Kent Highway Services 
Kent County Council 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
Town and Country Housing Group 

Appendix D

Page 116



Housing Strategy 2012-17 
 
To: Full Council 
 
Date: 18 July 2012 
 
Main Portfolio Area: Housing and Wellbeing and Sustainability 
 
Author of report: Sarah Lewis, Affordable Housing Officer 
 
Classification: Non-Exempt 
 
Ward: Whole Borough 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report outlines the main priorities contained in the Housing Strategy. The Strategy helps 
frame the direction of services delivering Housing for the period 2012-17 shaping the delivery of 
these services to the public. The report proposes that Full Council adopt the Strategy. 
 

 
LINK TO STRATEGIC COMPASS 
 
The Strategy to be recommended supports all four objectives and in particular as follows: 
 
Passionate about our community – improving living conditions for vulnerable people, tackling 
empty homes and providing affordable, good quality housing will help contribute to the 
objectives for a  more prosperous, green, healthy and confident Tunbridge Wells. 
Passionate about providing value – the policies that underlie the Strategy are transparent and 
the service offers our customers, for example through the Housing Advice service, excellent 
value for money. 
Passionate about our customers – housing officers respond to enquiries from customers 
concerning their accommodation needs and living conditions through the Gateway, the website, 
an out of hours telephone service and home visits where appropriate. 
Passionate about our people – the Housing Service works across all departments of the 
Council including Housing Benefits, Environmental Health and Planning to offer a well informed 
Housing Service. 
 

Report status:    For recommendation to Full Council. 

 

Route to Implementation/Timetable 

 
At its meeting on 23 February, Cabinet agreed to recommend the Housing Strategy to Full 
Council. If agreed, the Strategy will provide the direction of housing services with 6 monthly 
reviews by the Borough Housing Partnership. 
 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 117



 
BACKGROUND /INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The Strategy summarises the achievements of the Service during the current Strategy and 

provides strategic direction for work to be taken forward by Housing Services, (Affordable 
Housing, Housing Needs and Housing Renewal), from 2012-2017. 
 

2. In particular endorsement is sought for the five priorities identified. These are detailed 
below. Together with the Action Plan, the priorities form the basis of the Services’ work for 
the period. 
 

3. Background information and data, for example Housing Register application numbers, 
details of the regeneration proposals by Town and Country Housing Group, the House 
Condition Survey 2010 and the number of empty properties, for example, provide the 
justification for this work. 
 

4. In times of financial constraint and substantial legislative change the Strategy which will be 
regularly reviewed and updated if necessary, can be used to influence the direction of 
Housing Services. As a publicly available document the general public are informed of this. 

 
WHAT IS THE ISSUE THAT REQUIRES A DECISION AND WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR 
THE PEOPLE OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS? 
 
5. It is recommended that Full Council notes the contents of the Housing Strategy 2012-17 

and in particular endorses the five priorities identified below. The priorities provide the 
direction for the resources of services delivering housing functions over the period and set 
the parameters of the service to be provided to the community. 

 
6. Priority 1 – providing affordable homes for rent and low cost home ownership 
 

Working with our Housing Association Partners and Parish Councils, the affordable housing 
team of two officers are responsible for ensuring that there is a supply of affordable rented 
and low cost home ownership homes across the Borough in both urban and rural locations. 
A target of 75 homes has been set per year. 

 
7. Priority 2 – supporting the regeneration of existing social housing estates 
 

As the Housing Needs Team manage the Housing Register they have an important role to 
play assisting Town and Country Housing Group (TCHG) in decanting residents from the 3 
areas being redeveloped, namely Sherwood, Ramslye and Cranwell Road. At the same 
time we will manage the expectations of other households on the Register as the majority of 
social housing vacancies currently go to decants of TCHG.  

 
8. Priority 3 – preventing homelessness 
 

Through successful options advice the number of households accepted as homeless has 
seen a significant decline over the period of the last Strategy. This will increasingly be a 
challenge with a decline in the number of social rented properties being available and the 
economic climate continuing to be depressed. The response to this in the action plan is to 
expand the use of the private rented sector and increase the specialist advice that the 
Options Advisors offer working with the Housing Renewal team. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 118



 
9. Priority 4 – responding to the needs of vulnerable people to support independent living  
 

This priority has been developed to ensure that the housing needs of particularly vulnerable 
groups in the community such as the elderly, young people and the disabled are identified 
and services developed accordingly. We will be working with partner agencies to provide 
vulnerable residents with homes suitable for their needs and provide Disabled Facilities 
Grants, if appropriate, to enable residents across all tenures to continue to live 
independently and safely in their homes.  

 
10. Priority 5 - improving the quality and sustainability of existing homes  
 

This priority focuses on improving the quality of the existing housing in the Borough. The 
action plan particularly identifies improving and maintaining the standard of houses in 
multiple occupation, bringing empty homes back into use and working with private landlords 
and households in the private sector to improve the quality of homes. In addition the priority 
aims to improve the energy efficiency of homes in the Borough and reduce fuel poverty. 

 
WHO HAVE WE CONSULTED AND HOW? (OR WHO WILL WE CONSULT  
FOLLOWING THE DECISION?) 
 
11. Two formal consultation events were held in early October. The first was with internal 

officers and the second with our external partners such as Housing Associations and 
voluntary agencies. A table summarising the responses received at the event will be 
available alongside the Strategy. 

 
HOW WILL THE DECISION BE COMMUNICATED? 
 
12. The Strategy will be available on the Council’s website.  
 
WHAT ALTERNATIVE ACTION COULD WE TAKE?  
 
13. On the expiry of the current Strategy we could decide not to renew it. However it is a 

statutory requirement for the Council to have a Strategy available under Section 87 of the 
Local Government Act. It is also an important strategic document for the department and 
forms part of the Sustainable Communities Strategy. It will be used to inform housing 
related policies across the Council and in particular Planning, Housing Benefit and 
Environmental Health. 

 
CONCLUSIONS   
 
14. At its meeting on 23 February 2012 Cabinet was is in agreement with the direction of the 

Strategy, and in particular the five priorities (the full document is available at Appendix B), 
and therefore recommended its adoption by Full Council to comply with Section 87 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 and to form the basis of Housing Needs and Housing Renewal 
Services over the next 5 years. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 119



RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
(1) That Full Council adopts the Housing Strategy at Appendix B for the period 2012-17; and 
 
(2) That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Housing and Wellbeing and the Head of 
Environment and Street Scene, in consultation with the Portfolio Holders, to make minor 
amendments to the Strategy. 

 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
15. To set the direction of housing services to meet the needs of local residents for the period 

2012-17 and to comply with the Local Government Act 2003.  As a publicly available 
document it establishes the working relationships required with external organisations and 
internal departments to deliver the five priorities and action plan. 

 
 
Contact Officer: Sarah Lewis Affordable Housing Officer Ext. 3222 
 

 
Paul Taylor  
Director of Services to the Community 
 
Kevin Hetherington 
Head of Housing and Health 
 
 

 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
APPENDICES TO REPORT 
 
APPENDIX A  - Cross cutting issues 
APPENDIX B  - Tunbridge Wells Housing Strategy 2012-2017 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 120



 

 

Housing Strategy 2012-17 
 

 
CROSS CUTTING ISSUES  

 

 

LEGAL 

 

Legal 
 

1. It is a statutory requirement for Councils to have a Housing Strategy under the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Strategy should set out objectives, targets and policies on 
how the authority intends to manage and deliver its strategic housing role and provides 
an overarching framework against which the authority considers and formulates other 
policies on more specific housing issues. There is also a statutory requirement for local 
authorities to prepare a Sustainable Community Strategy for their area and review and 
update this strategy at suitable intervals to promote or improve the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of their area (original requirement in section four of the Local 
Government Act 2000, which was later amended by section 114 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007). The vision articulated in the 
Sustainable Community Strategy sets the context for the local authority Housing 
Strategy. 

  
Human Rights Act 
 
2. The Council must have regard to the Human Rights Act in its decision making. Actions 

under this Housing Strategy may raise specific human rights implications 
 
 
VALUE FOR MONEY AND USE OF RESOURCES 

 

Finance and other resources, including ICT  

 
3. The Housing Strategy Action Plan will be delivered within existing resources. Capital 

expenditure required for housing renewal initiatives will be sought via internal capital 
expenditure bids and the use of funds from the repayment of housing assistance 

 
4. Subject to approval the Council is looking to invest in the Local Authority Mortgage 

Scheme as a means of supporting first-time buyers.  
 
5. There is no specific implications for ICT resources. 
 
Risk Management 

 
6. The Strategy sets out the direction of the Service and the action plan identifies how the 

service as a whole will be delivered. The strategy will be regularly reviewed with 6 
monthly updates to the Borough Housing Partnership. In addition there are regular team 
meetings and Housing Management meetings where the risks to delivery are regularly 
reviewed and monitored. Important actions in the Action Plan are monitored for risks to 
delivery through the Covalent system. 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 121



COMMUNITY 

 

Safer & Stronger Communities  

 
7. Helping to ensure that communities are adequately housed in accommodation that is 

affordable should contribute to the promotion of safer and stronger communities. 
 
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
8. No direct relevant issues but ensuring that communities are adequately housed should 

contribute to a reduction in crime and disorder. 
 
Environment / Sustainability  

 
9. New affordable accommodation is built to high environmental standards and in particular 

to Code Level 3 for Sustainable Homes. In addition the siting of new developments close 
to local services and infrastructure will contribute to sustainable communities. The 
sustainability of local housing is also improved through the housing renewal work which 
addresses poor housing conditions and domestic energy efficiency. The housing advice 
service provides local solutions for our communities. 

 
Equalities 

 
10. 
 

Consideration of impacts under the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

Question Answer Explanation / Evidence 

a. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have potential to disadvantage or 

discriminate against different 

groups in the community? 

Yes  In respect of the objectives of the 

Housing Strategy it is necessary to 

ensure that these take into account the 

needs of all the population 

b. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have the potential to promote 

equality of opportunity? 

Yes  Some of the objectives within the 

Strategy are very positive in terms of 

meeting the housing needs of 

individuals based upon issues of age or 

disability 

c. What steps can be taken to 

mitigate, reduce, avoid or minimise 

the impacts identified above? 

 The full EQIA carried out has identified 

some actions which will be monitored 

via Covalent. Service to be actively 

promoted to BME households 

 
Health and Wellbeing 

 
11. The link between poor housing and health is well researched .The provision of a high 

quality housing service can help to contribute to good health and wellbeing of our 
communities. 

 

Appendix A

Page 122



 

 

 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 

HOUSING STRATEGY 

2012 - 2017 

 

 

Housing Solutions for 

our Residents 

 
 Tunbridge Wells Borough 

Council  

Housing Team 
 
 

 

Appendix B

Page 123



 

 

CONTENTS 

 

                                                                                                      Page 

1. INTRODUCTION TO THE STRATEGY 

 

1 

2. SUMMARY OF THE STRATEGY: OUR VISION AND AIMS 

 

2 

3. A PROFILE OF THE BOROUGH 

 

3.1The Borough 

3.2 The Population 

3.3 The Housing Market 

3.4The Housing Stock 

3.5 Demand for housing  

 

4 

 

4 

5 

5 

7 

9 

4. THE POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
4.1 The National Context 

4.2 The Kent-wide Context 
4.3  The West Kent Context 

4.4 The Local Context 

4.5 Partnership Working  

 

16 

 
16 

18 
20 

20 

22 

5. OUR HOUSING PRIORITIES 

 

5.1 Priority One – Providing affordable homes  for rent and low 

cost home ownership 

5.2 Priority  Two –Supporting the regeneration of existing 
social housing estates 

5.3 Priority Three – Preventing homelessness 
5.4 Priority Four - Responding to the needs of vulnerable 

people to support independent living 

5.5 Priority Five -Improving the quality and sustainability of 

existing homes 

 

24 

 

25 

 

28 
 

31 

34 

 

36 

6. RESOURCING OUR SERVICE 

 

6.1 Borough Council funding 

6.2 External Funding 

6.3 Asset Management Plan  

6.4 Proposed Capital Investment 2011/12 and beyond 

6.5 Monitoring the delivery of the Housing Strategy  

 

40 

 

40 

41 

41 

41 

41 

 

7. FURTHER INFORMATION 

 

42 

8.  

 

HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 43 

Appendix B

Page 124



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION TO THE STRATEGY 

 
Tunbridge Wells is generally an affluent and attractive place to live although with 
pockets of deprivation. The rural nature of the area places considerable environmental 
constraints on development, land prices are high and development opportunities can 
be constrained. As a result there is intense demand for housing and house prices are 
the second highest in Kent. Lower income households have to pay over ten times 
their salary to get a foot on the housing ladder, making home ownership unaffordable 
for many people. 
 
Between 2010 and 2026, the population of the Borough is predicted to increase from 
108,200 to 110,400, with the average household size falling and the population 
ageing. This will put further pressure on housing and the provision of housing and 
support services.  
    
There are high levels of owner occupation and an active and steadily increasing 
private rented sector. However, significant investment in private sector properties is 
still required to make sure they meet Decent Homes and energy efficiency standards.  
 
The Borough’s housing association sector is relatively small and the demand for this 
tenure far outstrips supply. Within the context of the total amount of housing to be 
delivered in the Borough to 2026 this is unlikely to change significantly although 
realistic affordable housing targets should be met.  
 
There are over 2,300 households on the Housing Register, a figure that has been 
rising steadily over the last decade. While the numbers of homeless people 
approaching the Council for assistance has been falling over the last five years, there 
are signs that this trend is now reversing and homelessness is on the increase.  
 
This Strategy, covering the period 2011-17, sets out how the Housing Team at 
Tunbridge Wells Council, building on the successes of the last 5 years, will work with 
its partners and stakeholders to provide housing solutions for its residents. It is an 
important element of the Borough’s Sustainable Communities Plan to 2026 that sets 
out how the Council and its community partners plan to promote economic, 
environmental and social well-being of the Borough’s residents, in order to promote 
sustainable communities.   
 
The Strategy has been written at a time of unprecedented change for the social 
housing environment. At the same time there have been significant reductions in 
funding for local government and a shift towards communities being given more say 
in their local area. Many of the proposed changes have not, at the time of writing, 
been implemented or their impacts felt. This means that, even more so than in the 
past, this five-year Strategy needs to be an active document that will evolve over its 
lifetime as changes proposed by the government are enacted.  
 
Key to its delivery will be regular monitoring and evaluation. Progress will be reported 
annually to the Borough Housing Partnership, a local forum drawn from partner 
agencies involved in delivering housing solutions for the Borough. This ensures that 
the Council and its partners are held accountable for the delivery of the Strategy and 
that there is opportunity to review future plans against new needs that arise over the 
period of the plan. 

Appendix B

Page 125



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

2. SUMMARY OF THE STRATEGY - OUR VISION AND AIMS 

 
 
There are key changes to social housing policy that form an important backdrop to 
this Strategy. These include: cuts in the value of new affordable housing grant and 
the change to the affordable rent model; variations to the length of tenancies issued 
by housing associations; proposals to reduce welfare benefits including Housing 
Benefit and a move to promote a single Universal Credit.  The shift to localism is also 
expected to have a major impact, with top-down targets for new housing replaced by 
more locally-driven planning.  
 
Our overall vision for the housing service is to provide “Housing Solutions for our 
Residents”. In order to deliver this vision, we have identified five strategic priorities.  
 
Our strategic priorities are: 
 
� Priority One: Providing affordable homes for rent and low cost home 
ownership. With home ownership not possible for many families in the Borough 
and a shortfall in the numbers of existing social housing homes, our priority is to 
increase the supply of quality affordable housing to meet a range of housing needs. 
A target of at least 70 new affordable homes per year in the urban and rural areas 
has been set. 

 
� Priority Two: Supporting the regeneration of existing social housing. An 

estimated 270 households will need to be re-housed as 3 areas of estates owned by 
Town and Country Housing Group are demolished and re-built over the next four 
years. Re-housing decanted households at the same time as managing the Housing 
Register will be a major challenge.  

 
� Priority Three: Preventing homelessness. The shift in focus in recent years to 

prevention through advice and support has paid dividends with a significant 
reduction in the number of homeless people accepted by the Council. However, 
homelessness is still a real issue and is expected to increase again both as 
legislative changes come into force and as a result of the regeneration work. 
Homelessness has been one area of very effective partnership working, with the 
recently-published West Kent Homelessness Strategy 2011-2016. We will focus on 
implementing this strategy as well as continuing to improve the Housing Options 
service and working closely with private sector landlords to increase the supply and 
sustainability of tenancies.  

 
� Priority Four: Responding to the needs of vulnerable people to support 
independent living. With the predicted increase in the numbers of older people 
and high levels of vulnerability among young and older people, responding to the 
needs of vulnerable groups and supporting them to live independently is a key 
priority. As the provision of new accommodation is constrained by funding and 
much of the existing housing for older people is no longer fit for purpose, our 
priority is to develop housing solutions that facilitate independent living in the 
community.   

 
 

Appendix B

Page 126



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
� Priority Five: Improving the quality and sustainability of existing homes. 

Poor housing conditions are acknowledged to have a significant impact on the life 
chances and health of individuals and communities so improving the quality and 
sustainability of the current housing stock remains an important priority. 
Implementing the Government’s “green” legislation will also be a priority, as will 
ensuring we are making the best use of existing stock by bringing empty homes 
back into use.  

 
We intend to monitor the delivery of the housing strategy through:  
 
� quarterly reviews by the Council’s Housing Services Management Team 
� yearly monitoring updates  to the Borough Housing Partnership 
� annual monitoring reports to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Appendix B

Page 127



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

3. A PROFILE OF THE BOROUGH 

 
On order to set the context for the Strategy, this chapter examines the demography 
of the Borough, together with an overview of the housing market and the resulting 
demand and need for affordable housing and housing related services.   
 
3.1 The Borough 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough lies in the south west of Kent, bordering East Sussex, 
neighbouring West Kent districts of Sevenoaks and Tonbridge & Malling and the 
rapidly expanding growth district of Ashford. It covers an area of 326 square 
kilometres and includes the towns of Royal Tunbridge Wells and Southborough, 
together with the rural settlements of Cranbrook, Hawkhurst and Paddock Wood and 
ten further parishes. It has reasonable transport links with London and the coast via 
road and rail and is home to both commuters and locally employed workers. Its 
proximity to London, the pleasant environment and good facilities make Tunbridge 
Wells an attractive place to live.  
 
The main constraints on new development in the Borough are imposed by the Green 
Belt, the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (See Figure 1) and 
protection of the countryside.  Land values are high and there is little opportunity 
therefore for significant new affordable housing development. As a result, Tunbridge 
Wells is an area of intense housing pressure with high demand and high house prices.  
 
Figure 1: Map of the Borough  

 

Appendix B

Page 128



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
3.2 The Population  
 
The main features of the population of Tunbridge Wells Borough are: 
 
� A population of108,200 of whom 51% live in Royal Tunbridge Wells and 

Southborough, and 49 % live in rural towns and villages. The population is 
projected to increase to 110.400 by 20261. 

 
� In 2010, the Borough had an estimated 44,500 households2, projected to increase 

to 50,000 by 2026.  
 

� The average household size is estimated to fall from 2.31 in 2010 to 2.14 in 20263, 
placing further pressure on the Borough’s housing market. This is largely 
accounted for by an increase in older people, increased life expectancy, separation 
and divorce and young people forming new households.  

 
� An estimated 3.6% fall in the number of people aged 16 to 64 between 2010 and 

2026, which could impact on the economy of the Borough. 
 

� A significant increase in the number of older people with the over 65’s 
representing over 23% of the total population by 2026. While most people over 65 
continue to live in good health, the correlation between ageing and frailty will place 
growing demands on housing support and related services4  

 
� A predominantly white population (92.5%) with the main Minority Ethnic groups 

being Indian (1.4%),  Black African (1.0%) and Chinese (0.9%)5 
 

� About one in six households contain someone with a disability that requires 
support, while, in 2010, almost 6% of the population was claiming disability-
related benefits6. Of these, the majority were aged 65+.  

 
3.3 The Housing Market 
 
House Prices 
 
Tunbridge Wells is an expensive place to live. Its high house prices reflect a number 
of factors:  
 
� the borough’s proximity and good communications links to London, making it ideal 

for commuters  
� the high level of earnings (in part a consequence of house prices since only those 

on good incomes can afford to live in the area) 
� the generally robust nature of the local economy 

                                            
1 Source: Kent County Council Research & Evaluation, Strategy Based Forecasts, 2011 
2  Source: As above  
2  Source: As above  
3 Source:  As above  
4 Source:  As above 
5 Source: KCC Research & Intelligence, Equality and Diversity Profile, 2011 
6 Source: 2001 Census, from KCC Research & Intelligence, Equality and Diversity Profile, 2011. Also, TWBC Housing 

Needs Survey, 2005. 

Appendix B

Page 129



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� the constraint on new housing development imposed by Green Belt and AONB 
designations 

� the popular rural and small town character of the borough 
 
Some facts and figures: 
 
� The average re-sale house price recorded by the Land Registry in 2010 was 

£342,019, compared to £293,129 at the time of the previous strategy in 2006.7  
 
� A typical semi-detached property costs an average of  £313,009, significantly 

higher than the average price for similar properties in Kent (£243,317) and the 
South East Region generally (£278,317)8 

 
� Tunbridge Wells Borough is the second most expensive place to live in Kent, after 

Sevenoaks9
.

  Average prices are:  

 
o £192,210 for a flat 
o £313,009 for a semi-detached house  
o £583,166 for a detached house. 

 
� To purchase the cheapest type of property in the Borough would require an income 

of £35,300 per year10, excluding anyone earning the national average wage of 
£27,300. 

 
� Shared ownership can offer some households a more affordable option for owning 

their own home. However, the average income required to afford this option in 
Tunbridge Wells is £28,000 as a single household and £44,000 as a joint income. 
In addition the average deposit required is £20,00011  

 
� Affordability of housing is also a problem in rural areas. A recent housing needs 

survey in the Borough of Hawkhurst(2010) found that a yearly income of £36,000 
was needed to purchase an apartment, rising to £54,000 for a terraced house 

 
� Recent data indicates that in 2010 median house price to median income ratios 

were 9.92 in comparison to 8.23 for the South East12.  
 

This suggests that those who have grown up in the Borough and are in their 20s and 
30s cannot afford to buy or rent here and affordability is a major issue, particularly 
for newly forming households. This problem is made worse by low levels of mortgage 
lending as a result of the credit crunch, meaning that first time buyers need a deposit 
of around 25% in order to be able to secure a mortgage at an affordable rate.   

                                            
7 Source: KCC Research & Intelligence, House prices and transactions 2010 Annual, 2011 
8 As above 
9 As above 
10 Source: DCA Estate Agent Survey 2008, from West Kent SHMA 2008 
11 Source: Moat statistics, LA Demand May 2011 
12 Source: Communities and Local Government, Housing market: ratio of median house price to median earnings by 

district, 2011 

Appendix B

Page 130



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
3.4 The Housing Stock  
 
Tenure Mix  
 
Tunbridge Wells – and West Kent generally – has higher levels of owner occupation 
and lower levels of social housing than the national average, and a slightly higher 
than average proportion of private rented accommodation.  The Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) (2008)13 estimated that the tenure balance in the 
Borough is: 
 
� 39.7% owner-occupiers with mortgage 
� 30.6% owner-occupier without mortgage 
� 16.8% rent from a social landlord 
� 12.0% privately rent 
� 0.5% shared ownership  
� 0.4% tied to employment/other 
 
Social Rented Stock  
 
The social rented housing stock in the Borough totals 7,199 units14. This includes 
6,226 general needs units and 973 supported and older persons’ accommodation. 
Further breakdown can be found on the Tenant Services Authority website from the 
attached link:  
http://www.tenantservicesauthority.org/server/show/ConWebDoc.21432 

 
The Council does not hold any stock itself (other than a small number of properties 
used as temporary accommodation for homeless households), following the Large 
Scale Voluntary Transfer (LSVT) of its housing stock to High Weald housing 
association, now part of the Town and Country Housing Group (TCHG), in 1992.  
 
Of the small numbers of social housing stock, the 2008 SHMA indicated that 10.6% 
was under-occupied, with 715 homes under-occupied by two or more bedrooms. 
4.3% of the stock was over-crowded.  
 
The Private Rented Sector  
 
Between the period 2004 to 2009, the private rented sector increased in the borough 
by 30% and, with 19% of the total stock15, Tunbridge Wells has the most active 
private rent market in West Kent. Monthly rents average: 
 
� £582 for a one-bedroom flat 
� £802 for a two-bedroom flat 
� £772 for a two-bedroom terraced house 
� £1,064 for a three-bedroom semi-detached house.  
 

                                            
13 Source: West Kent SHMA 2008 
14 Source: RSR returns to Tenants Services Authority 2011 
15 Source: Private Sector House Condition Survey 2010 

Appendix B

Page 131



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

A typical “entry-level” flat in the Borough costs around £525/month, requiring an 
income of £25,200 a year. On average, private sector rents are around double those 
in the social rented sector

16
.   

 
Private Sector Housing Conditions 

 

In 2009, a Private Sector House Condition Survey was commissioned to review the 
condition of private sector housing across the Borough. The survey made an 
assessment of the number of homes failing the Decent Homes Standard17, the 
reasons for failure and the cost of remedying problems. Definitions of the Decent 
Homes Standard and a summary of the findings of the survey can be found at: 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/Default.aspx?page=4737 

 
The key findings of the survey, which looked at 1,023 randomly selected properties, 
were: 
 
� The Borough’s total private sector housing stock was estimated at 38,758 

dwellings. Of these 24% were private rented dwellings and the remainder split 
equally between those owned outright and those owned with a mortgage 

� one third of the private sector stock was built before 1919 
� an estimated 16,917 homes (44%) do not meet the Decent Homes standard, with 

pre-1919 properties more likely to fail 
� 13,611 homes contain Category 1 hazards (12,690 due to excess cold) 
� of the estimated 7,929 vulnerable private households, only 4,521 are living in a 

Decent Home 
� the total bill for bringing all failing homes up to standard would be £144million 

(£8,500 per failing dwelling) 
� the total bill for removing all Category 1 hazards would be £115million, of which 

£22million would be needed to remove Category 1 hazards in homes with a 
vulnerable occupant 

 
A separate survey identified 733 houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) in the Borough 
of which 32 are licensable under the Housing Act 2004. The non-licensable HMOs have 
been risk assessed and prioritised for inspection and appropriate action to improve 
safety and conditions.  
 
Energy Efficiency of the Housing Stock 
 
The energy efficiency of the housing stock is measured using the Standard 
Assessment Procedure (SAP) rating. A home with a low rating (below 35) will be more 
difficult and expensive to keep warm and consequently the occupant will be at risk 
from fuel poverty.  
 
The 2009 Private Sector House Condition Survey revealed that: 
 

                                            
16 Source: DCA House price Surveys 2008, from West Kent SHMA 2008 
17 To be classed as a ‘decent home’ a property must: a) meet the minimum statutory standard for housing i.e. be free 

of any Category 1 hazards under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS), where the Council has a duty 

to act; b) be in a reasonable state of repair; c) have reasonably modern facilities; and d) provide a reasonable degree 

of thermal comfort. 

Appendix B

Page 132



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� the average SAP rating of private sector properties was 55, up by 5 points since 
the last survey in 2004 and comparing favourably with the national average of 
49  

� 5,100 properties have SAP ratings of less than 35, the majority of which are 
owner occupied and a quarter of which have a vulnerable occupant 

� there are 2,076 households living in fuel poverty, the majority of which are 
owner occupiers 

� over 11,000 homes have unfilled cavity walls and 22,000 have inadequate loft 
insulation. 

 
In 2011, the Council met the target set by the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 to 
reduce domestic energy consumption within the Borough by 32% against 1996 levels. 
However, domestic properties in the Borough are still responsible for almost 30% of 
the Borough’s carbon emissions, generally due to poor energy efficiency As a 
consequence, further improvements in the energy efficiency of private housing are 
required to meet both carbon reduction targets and tackle fuel poverty.  
 
Empty Homes 
 
Empty homes in an area of high housing demand are a wasted resource. As at 1st 
April 2011 the number of empty properties in the Borough was: 
 
� over 6 months vacant – 489 (1.27% of the housing stock) 
� over 2 years vacant – 200 (0.5% of the housing stock) 
� over 5 years vacant - 44 (0.1% of the housing stock) 
 
3.5 The Demand for Housing  
 
Housing in the borough is in very high demand, both in the private and social housing 
sectors.  In the social sector, demand is driven by people on the Housing Register and 
by households presenting themselves as homeless. This section examines those 
demands, as well as the need in rural areas and for more specialist supported 
housing.   
 
The Need for Affordable Housing  
 
The source of data for estimating housing need (The Housing Needs Survey 2005) is 
now out of date, although it was updated by the West Kent Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment in 2008. This estimated a total affordable housing need each year at 290 
units18, a net figure which takes into account the estimated 438 housing association 
homes relet each year. Of this, 94 units were identified as being required for 
intermediate housing (shared ownership and sub-market rent), giving a net need of 
196 social rented homes each year. In terms of unit sizes, the need was identified as 
35% one beds, 30% two beds, 25% three beds and 10% four+ beds.  
 
The level of need for affordable housing as identified by these studies and the 
numbers of households on the register, is, as explained below, too great to be met 
within the context of the total quantity of housing to be provided in the Borough (i.e. 
6,000 additional homes from 2006-2026 - or 300 dwellings per year). The total 
number of homes to be built is based on a number of factors, including the Borough’s 

                                            
18 Source: West Kent SHMA, 2008. 

Appendix B

Page 133



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

capacity to accommodate new development without detriment to its high quality built 
and natural environment. The Borough Council will not, therefore, seek to develop 
housing significantly in excess of this.  
 
Like the previous Housing Strategy realistic new affordable housing targets are 
therefore set at 70 homes per annum. To ease the shortage of supply in the rural 
areas some of these will be built on exceptions sites where households must prove a 
strong local connection to the Parish in which they are built. 
 
The Housing Register 
 
The Housing Register enables households in the Borough who consider they are in 
need of a rented home to register their interest in affordable homes in the Borough. 
The Register provides the Council with data to assess this housing demand for 
different sizes of properties. 
 
In April 2011 there were 2,347 households registered on the Tunbridge Wells Housing 
Register, (increased to 2,554 in February 2012). The number of households registered 
on the Housing Register has increased steadily since 2006. In February 2009 the 
Council entered into partnership with 13 other Kent Local Authorities and 25 
Registered Providers to provide our customers with an internet-based choice-based 
lettings scheme, Kent Homechoice.  
 
In 2010 the administration of the register of transfer applicants held by Town and 
Country HA was passed to the Council, which resulted in a significant increase in the 
number of applications the council has to administer (including an additional 600 
transfer applicants). The Housing Register now consists of 1,621 Homeseekers and 
726 transfer applications. Table 1 below shows the breakdown of the housing needs 
by property size. 
 
Table 1: Breakdown of housing needs by property size 
Property Size  No. households Of which, high priority 

applicants (Bands 1/2)* 

1,2 bedroom 1788 571 

3 bedroom 400 64 

4,5 bedroom 147 49 

More than 5 bedrooms  4 4 

* A household in band 2 has a high housing need and is likely to be in a homelessness situation. 

 

Figure 2 below shows the number of applications registered on the Housing Register 
at 1 April each year from 2002 - 2011.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B

Page 134



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

Figure 2: Housing Register applications 2001-2011 

 
 
Homelessness 
 
 
 
The number of households accepted by the Council under the homelessness 
legislation decreased steadily over recent years, from 141 in 2005/6 to 40 in 2010 – a 
69% decrease. Applications also decreased, from 283 in 2005/6 to 54 in 2010/11.  
This is mainly due to the Council’s approach to homelessness and particularly the 
substantial improvement in the advice and assistance offered to households 
threatened with homelessness. Unfortunately this downward trend now appears to be 
reversing both nationally and regionally and many local authorities are seeing 
homeless acceptances increase again.   
 
Figure 3 below shows the number of homeless households accepted by the Council 
under the homelessness legislation from 2001-2011.  
 
Figure 3: Homeless households accepted 2001 - 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 135



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

The main causes of homelessness amongst households who applied to the Council as 
homeless in 2009/10 were domestic violence; parents/friends/relatives no longer able 
to house; and loss of rented accommodation (see Figure 4).  
 

Figure 4: Causes of homelessness 2006-2011 

 
 
 
 
 
Rural Housing Needs 
 
Since 2005, the Council has been very active in the rural areas working with Parish 
Councils and Action for Communities in Rural Kent to identify housing need in all 
thirteen Parishes in the Borough.  These surveys revealed a need for 364 affordable 
homes19.  The main need is for one bedroom accommodation though 101 households 
require family-sized homes and 32 need specific older persons’ housing (see Table 2 
below). 
 
Table 2: Identified housing needs by parish 

Parish – date of 

survey 

One bedroom  Family units  Older persons 

units 

Total 

need 

Bidborough 2006 11 0 1 12 

Benenden 2008 27 4 5 36 

Brenchley 2006 20 5 0 25 

Capel 2005 20 9 1 30 

Cranbrook 2010 18 17 5 40 

Frittenden 2006 7 7 1 15 

Goudhurst 2006 20 9 1 30 

Hawkhurst 2010 16 26 7 49 

Horsmonden 2007 18 5 5 28 

Lamberhurst 2007 3 1 2 6 

Pembury 2008 42 8 1 51 

Sandhurst 2008 12 2 2 16 

Speldhurst 2009 17 8 1 26 

Total 221 101 32 364 

                                            
19 Households identified as being in housing need in the Parishes are required to have a strong local connection to the 

Parish either through their own or family residence and/or employment. 

Appendix B

Page 136



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
Supported Housing Needs  
 
The Council works in partnership with the Kent Supporting People Team and care and 
support agencies to ensure that the needs of vulnerable groups are assessed and 
planned for, to increase their independence and facilitate social inclusion. The services 
are wide-ranging and include supported housing and services delivered within the 
home.  
 
The research that informed the Kent Supporting People Five-Year Strategy (2005) 
identified key gaps in supported housing provision for young homeless people, care 
leavers and physically disabled people. The suitability and sustainability of current 
sheltered housing in meeting the aspirations of older people were also highlighted, as 
were the unmet needs of BME elders. County-wide research has been commissioned 
by the Supporting People Team to ensure that everyone receives support to meet 
their identified needs. However significant cuts in spending at county level are likely 
to prohibit the implementation of these plans. At the time of the research, floating 
support was increasingly required to assist young and older people, those with mental 
health problems and people fleeing domestic abuse.  
 
The Needs of Specific Groups  
 
Older People – the proportion of people over 65 years old is likely to continue to 
increase over the next decade and it is likely that there will be an increase in older 
people with disabilities, long term illnesses and debilitating conditions such as 
dementia, placing increasing demands on housing support and related services. 
 
In 2010, the Borough had 840 units of accommodation specifically for older people. 
However, many units would now be considered outdated as they provide only bedsit 
accommodation in sheltered facilities. The best replacement for sheltered 
accommodation is extra care housing which allows residents to age within a facility 
that provides added care and support. To date there have not been any extra care 
units provided in the Borough, though a 40-unit scheme is planned in Hawkhurst.  
 
In addition it should be noted that the KCC Supporting People Strategy 2010-2015  
emphasises the need to increase choices for older people, with more home-based 
services that allow people to remain living at home for as long as possible.   
 
BME Households – around 7.5% of the Borough’s population is a member of a Black 
or Minority Ethnic community.  These communities may be more disadvantaged in 
terms of their future and current housing conditions. The proportion of BME 
households joining the Housing Register is disproportionately high, representing 12% 
of total demand as at July 2011. To meet this need, the proportion of family-sized 
accommodation in new developments needs to increase and housing association 
partners need to make the best use of existing stock that might be under-occupied.  
 
Young People – young people are more likely to face homelessness than other age 
groups: in 2010/11, 45% of homeless acceptances were aged 16-24. This group is 
likely to be most affected by proposed changes to Housing Benefit and may find it 
harder to access the private rented sector where guarantors are often required. Young 
people are also likely to find it harder to access owner occupation, due to high house 

Appendix B

Page 137



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

prices relative to incomes. There are 530 ‘young’ households, either singles or couples 
where one or other is aged 16-24, on the Joint Housing Register (July 2011), 
representing 20% of total demand. 
 
There are a number of agencies in the Borough who provide advice and support 
services to young people, including the Bridge Trust, Catch 22, Chapter 1 and 
Porchlight. The Borough also has a number of schemes specifically for young people 
facing homelessness (see Table 3).  
 
Table 3: Schemes in Tunbridge Wells supporting young people 

Scheme Bedspaces Client Group 

Colebrook Road 13 Single homeless with support needs 

Chapter 1 17 Single homeless women and families 

with support needs  

West Kent YMCA 37 s/c Single homeless with support needs 

Bridge Trust 22 Single homeless with support needs 

 
Gypsies and Travellers - in 2008 SEERA suggested a need for an additional 57 
pitches in the West Kent area though, due to the lack of funding and available sites, 
this aspiration is unlikely to be met. We will continue to look at opportunities to meet 
the needs of gypsies and travellers however the situation is partly addressed by the 
desire of many such households to live in ordinary housing,  with some families from 
that community accommodated through housing association lettings each year. As 
with all new housing developments, any new gypsy provision will need to be carefully 
considered and located close to the facilities that this population require such as 
schools and doctors’ surgeries. 
 
The Demand for Low Cost Home Ownership 
 
Moat Housing act as agents for low cost home ownership products across Kent and 
Essex. The different products offered across the region include: 
 
� Rent to Homebuy – the household rent the property from a housing association 

at an affordable rent whilst saving a proportion of their income in order to buy the 
property at a later date 

� Newbuild Homebuy – newly developed properties built by housing associations 
for part rent, part buy 

� Equity Loans – various schemes subsidised by the government to encourage 
home ownership in the open market. A recent example is ‘Firstbuy’ where a top –
up loan is offered jointly by the government and house builder to increase the 
deposit available by a purchaser for a new build home 

 
In terms of supply there have been 64 new build Homebuy properties built since 
2006. In addition 98 households benefitted from other low cost home ownership 
initiatives backed by central government to buy homes on the open market. 
  

Appendix B

Page 138



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

Looking at the level of demand for this type of tenure: 
 
� in September 2011 there were 206 eligible households waiting for shared 

ownership homes in Tunbridge Wells (defined as having sufficient earnings (but 
below £60,000 pa) and a sufficient deposit)  

� 57% of these households were young aged between 18 and 29 
� while there is a strong emphasis on increasing the number of existing social 

housing tenants accessing shared ownership, there were (at September 2011) only 
12 households who fulfilled this criteria  

� the majority of households waiting for shared ownership fall into the age group 18 
– 29, though there were several older households (50-59 years and 60+) on the 
register. 

 
Although not directly in local authority control the recent development of a new 
hospital in Tunbridge Wells in Pembury may mean a further increase in the numbers 
of key workers wishing to access both affordable rent and shared ownership housing.  
 
 

Summary 
 
� Tunbridge Wells is generally an affluent area although there are pockets 

of deprivation 
 
� House prices are among the highest in Kent and are out of reach for many 

first time buyers and local people on average incomes  
  
� The Borough has higher levels of owner occupation and lower level of 

social renting than average, and has a thriving and steadily increasing 
private rental market 

 
� The number of households in the Borough is predicted to increase by 

around 10% by 2026. 
 
� Much of the increase in the number of households will be due to an ageing 

population and a reduction in household size which may result in a need 
for increasing levels of support  

 
� There is a high demand for affordable rented housing which cannot be 

met from the available resources  
 
� Private sector housing stock requires significant investment to bring it up 

to modern standards and to make it energy efficient 
 
� Specific groups of people, such as BME, older and younger households 

may need to access housing services more often.   
 

Appendix B

Page 139



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

4. THE POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
The Housing Strategy is not a standalone document. It sits within – and relates to – 
the policy context at national, county-wide, West Kent and local level.  At national 
level in particular, the radical new agenda of change is being embraced by the 
Borough which is seeking to maximise the benefits of the changes.   
 
This section describes the evolving policy context, the key external drivers and 
influences which contribute to our housing priorities and the key partnerships through 
which the strategy will be delivered.  
 
4.1 The National Context 
 
2012 is a time of real change with the Coalition Government aiming to transform the 
landscape of local government and affordable housing. There is an unprecedented 
amount of change underway affecting all aspects of housing, including:  
 
� Public spending cuts – from April 2011, the Borough is subject to the same level 

of significant cuts as other local authorities. In anticipation of this, the Council 
undertook a major restructure with staff redundancies, amalgamation of services 
and sharing services (such as the sharing of the Housing Benefit service with 
Maidstone BC).  

 
� Localism – the Localism Act aims to provide new freedoms and flexibilities for 

local government; new rights and powers for communities and individuals; and 
reforms to make the planning system more democratic. Regional Spatial Strategies 
have been abolished as have centrally-imposed growth targets.  “Neighbourhood 
plans” will see parish councils and local people have more power to decide the 
location of new developments and the introduction of the community right to build 
gives groups of local people the power to deliver the development that their local 
community want including new affordable housing. 

 
� Localism Act and Housing – the Act gives local authorities greater freedom to 

set their own policies on who should be eligible for social housing in their area. 
This means that they are now able, if they wish, to prevent people who have no 
need for social housing from joining the waiting list and could encourage different 
groups to qualify for social housing such as those volunteering in their 
communities. The Act allows local authorities to discharge their homelessness duty 
in the private rented sector. Housing associations and Councils can now grant 
shorter flexible tenancies with a minimum period of 2 years. This has been 
introduced to allow social landlords to adapt to the changing needs of their tenants 
to ensure that accommodation is provided to those who need it most.  

 
� A Housing Strategy for England – the government’s Housing Strategy aims to 

unlock the housing market and stimulate house building. Proposals include: a new 
build mortgage indemnity scheme enabling households to access 95% loans; 
various funding schemes to kick-start stalled developments as well as proposals to 
re-negotiate planning obligations. Initiatives to boost social housing include a new 
Right to Buy scheme offering social tenants a discount of up to 50% with a 
commitment that, for each home sold, a new affordable home will replace it. The 

Appendix B

Page 140



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

government will be also looking to encourage new ‘for profit’ private entrants to be 
providers of social housing. There are also initiatives to support growth and 
investment in the private rented sector including new build to let models and 
changes to stamp duty.  In addition to this there is a commitment to enhance the 
design and quality of new homes including the delivery of zero carbon homes by 
2016.  

 
� Reduced capital funding – funding for new housing is being reduced significantly 

with capital funding replaced by private loans as Housing Associations are able to 
set new higher  ‘affordable rents’ set at up to 80% of market rent levels.   

 
� Changes to social housing – these include amending the homelessness duty by 

allowing local authorities to discharge duty in the private rented sector, the ending 
of ‘tenancies for life’ for new social housing tenants and their replacement with 
fixed term ‘flexible tenancies’.  Additionally there is increased local control to 
Authorities in allocating and managing their waiting lists.  

 

� Draft National Planning Policy Framework – the proposals could have 
implications for how Councils assess and set the level of housing provision and, in 
general terms, there could be a presumption in favour of development. The 
Council will need to consider how to respond to these proposals and in particular 
the proposal to allow some market housing alongside affordable housing outside 
the limits to built development.The framework seeks to simplify more than 1,000 
pages of legislation to just 52 and would remove the national affordable housing 
threshold leaving Councils to set the levels they feel are appropriate for their 
localities. 

� Changes to welfare benefits – including the introduction of a Universal Credit, 
the capping of overall benefit levels per household, reductions in the Local Housing 
Allowance and limiting Housing Benefit payments for people under 35.  It is 
important that any resulting changes from the recent DWP consultation on 
changes to supported Housing Benefit changes are monitored. 

 
� Supporting People funding held by Kent County Council is no longer ring-

fenced, potentially putting pressure on the funding of care and support.  
 
These changes are set against a backdrop of an on-going recession in the housing 
market with house prices predicted to fall further, a lack of consumer confidence and 
a reduced level of house building.  Recovery is being held back partly by a slowdown 
in the mortgage market, with mortgage lending at historically low levels and many 
first time buyers finding it very difficult to secure mortgages without large deposits.  
Despite these challenges, the Housing Team is working proactively to embrace change 
and provide the best possible housing service in what is a difficult climate.   
 
In addition to the national policy agenda set out above there is other legislation that 
influences the way housing and housing-related services are delivered: 
 
� The Local Government Act 2003 – imposed a statutory duty on Local 

Authorities to produce a Housing Strategy which must assess and plan for the 
current and future housing needs; make best use of the existing housing stock; 
plan and facilitate new supply; plan and commission housing support services; and 
work in partnership to secure effective housing and neighbourhood management.  

Appendix B

Page 141



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� Homelessness Act 2002 – required local housing authorities to undertake 
homelessness reviews and use them to draw up strategies for tackling 
homelessness in their area.  

 
� Housing Act 2004 – includes measures to improve the condition of the private 

housing sector,  the mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
and introduced the Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS). 

 
� Code for Sustainable Homes (2008) – aims to improve the overall sustainability 

of new homes by setting a single national standard within which  house builders 
can design and construct homes to higher environmental standards.  

 
� The Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1998 (as 

amended) – detailing procedures for mandatory Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) 
and discretionary assistance.   

 
� The Energy Act 2011 – introducing the Green Deal, the Energy Companies 

Obligation, a requirement on private landlords to improve the energy efficiency of 
their properties and the retention and review of the Home Energy Conservation 
Act. 

 
� The Climate Change Act – introducing a legally binding target to reduce carbon 

emissions by 80% by 2050. 
 
4.2 The Kent-wide Context 
 
More effective joint working has seen an increase in the commissioning of research 
and strategy documents as well as, increasingly, sharing of services and resources 
and senior staff. This trend looks set to continue as councils explore means of 
achieving further efficiencies and cost savings.   
 

 “Better Homes: localism, aspiration and choice”  
 
"Better Homes: localism, aspiration and choice" (2011) is the new housing strategy 
for Kent and Medway, a county-wide document that takes a radical new look at 
housing and how it is delivered. It was developed by the Kent Housing Forum (who 
will oversee its delivery) and developed collaboratively between the Kent and Medway 
local authorities, Kent Partnership, Kent Economic Board and other public, private and 
third sector organisations with an interest in housing. The strategy sets out a series of 
key themes:  
 
• Theme 1 – Managed Growth and Infrastructure: the continued delivery of key 

infrastructure to support managed growth and housing delivery across the County. 
• Theme 2 – Place-making and Regeneration: the continued regeneration of our 

disadvantaged neighbourhoods to bring them in line with more affluent parts of 
the County. 

• Theme 3 - Affordability and Choice: the provision of choice and affordability in 
housing for the citizens of Kent and Medway, including rural communities, which 
meets their needs and aspirations. 

• Theme 4 - Estate Renewal: the managed improvement and retrofit of existing 
homes to make them fit for now and the future. 

Appendix B

Page 142



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

• Theme 5 - Housing Need: to support vulnerable people in housing need to fulfil 
their potential and live a high quality life through the provision of excellent housing 
and support services. 

The strategy can be found at:  
http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/Kent_Forum_Housing_Strategy.aspx 

 

The Strategy is currently being reviewed with the Kent Forum with particular 
reference to Benefit Reform, Localism Act and new initiatives including the Kent Local 
Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS). 
  
Kent Supporting People Five-Year Strategy 2010–2015 
 
The key aim of the Supporting People strategy is to work in partnership to deliver 
needs-led, value for money, high quality housing support services for vulnerable 
people. It aims to enable vulnerable people to maintain their housing situation, 
manage their finances, co-exist successfully in their community, acquire independent 
living skills, stay safe, liaise with other agencies and access training, education, and 
employment.  The 2010-2015 programme has identified the need for additional 
services for: 
� young people at risk 
� people with mental health as well as substance misuse problems (dual diagnosis) 
� people fleeing domestic abuse 
� single homeless people; and 
� families with support needs.  
 
It aims to focus services on prevention and provide most services within people own 
homes, with resources targeted on those in need of support rather than on people 
living in particular types of services/accommodation. The strategy can be found at:  
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/Default.aspx?page=791 

 
Kent’s Children and Young People’s Plan 
 
The Council has been involved in this key cross-county action plan (under the 
development framework from ‘Every Child Matters’) to provide children with increased 
life chances and healthcare, initially over a period of three years. The group consists 
of representatives from Housing Services, Leisure, Health and Education. The existing 
plan runs from 2008-2011 with an updated plan covering the period 2011-2014 
currently in development.   
The strategy can be found at: 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/education_and_learning/plans_and_consultations/educati

on_plans/children__young_peoples_plan.aspx 

 
The Rural Housing Protocol 
 
This protocol, launched in 2011, focuses on rural affordable local needs housing and 
aims to encourage a consistent, pragmatic approach to affordable rural housing 
development across the County, to help to increase the delivery of housing in rural 
areas and enable rural communities and businesses in Kent to thrive and prosper. It 
was developed following a recommendation in the Kent Forum Housing Strategy, 
which identified alack of affordable housing in rural areas as a key concern for Kent.  
The strategy can be found at:   
http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/uploads/RuralProtocolFINAL.pdf 

Appendix B

Page 143



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
4.3 The West Kent Context  
 
West Kent Local Investment Plan  
 
Developed jointly with Maidstone, Tonbridge and Malling and Sevenoaks Councils, the 
Local Investment Plan (LIP) sets out the basis for investment in West Kent from the 
Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) over the period 2011-2014.  Produced with 
Officers at the HCA, the document identifies key priorities for all four Councils such as, 
affordable housing, regeneration and rural housing. It sets outcomes that the local 
authorities and partner agencies would like to see from investment over the plan 
period.  
The LIP can be found at: 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/pdf/WEST-KENT-LOCAL-INVESTMENT-

PLAN.pdf 

 
West Kent Homelessness Strategy  
 
The Borough, along with Sevenoaks District Council and Tonbridge & Malling BC, 
jointly commissioned a Homelessness Strategy 2011-2016. The overall vision is to 
“proactively support and empower people to plan their own futures so that 
homelessness within West Kent is reduced” and the five key priorities are: 
 
1. To maximise homelessness prevention through the provision of appropriate 

housing options and choices   
2. To maximise resources across west Kent, becoming more efficient and effective  
3. To work effectively with private sector landlords  
4. To create strong partnerships to tackle homelessness  
5. To meet the needs of the diverse range of people affected by homelessness. 
 
The Homelessness Strategy can be found at:   
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/Default.aspx?page=1608 

 
4.4 The Local Context 
 
The Housing Strategy also sits within the context of policies and strategies at Borough 
level including: 
 
Vision 2026 
 
The Council has developed a long term vision for the Borough which is for everyone to 
be able to say “Love Where We Live – to enhance and promote community pride”. For 
the Council, this means that, by 2026, it aims to have healthy confident communities 
within a prosperous, accessible and attractive Borough. 
 
Underpinning the strategy – and everything the Council does – are four key themes 
which are:  
 
• Passionate about our community 
• Passionate about our customers 
• Passionate about our people 
• Passionate about providing value.  

Appendix B

Page 144



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
The vision for the community is captured in four words: ‘Prosperous’, ‘Green’, 
‘Healthy’ and ‘Confident’  and the Council has set out a series of projects and 
commitment that will enable it to meet these aspirations.  
 
The Vision 2026 is supported through the Strategic Plan 2010-2015 which, in turn, 

supports the broader Sustainable Community Strategy developed by the Local 
Strategic Partnership. 
The vision can be found at:  
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/pdf/Vision2026final.pdf 

 
The Sustainable Community Strategy 
 
In 2006 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council implemented its Sustainable Community 
Plan 2006-11 to "work in partnership to improve the quality of life for all”. Since then, 
the Local Strategic Partnership (Tunbridge Wells Together) has developed a long-term 
vision for the area and, following this, the new Sustainable Community Strategy 
2010-2026 is being developed.  
 
The Tunbridge Wells Together partnership has agreed a vision that it wants everyone 
in the Borough to ‘Love Where We Live’, meaning that Tunbridge Wells  
 

“is a place where people are all in a position to be satisfied that 
housing meets our needs, that our environment is being 
safeguarded, that all of our communities are stronger than they 
were in the past, that we are healthy and the young people of 
Tunbridge Wells have a bright future to take into the next 
generation”. 

 
To deliver the Sustainable Community Strategy, the partnership has identified 
Seven themes to help achieve this aim. These are: Safer Communities, Stronger 
Communities, Children and Families, Health and Older People, Housing, Economy, 
Skills and Transport and Cleaner and Greener. The housing theme has been delegated 
to the Borough Housing Partnership to implement. The Strategy is due to be published 
in the first quarter of 2012.  
The draft strategy can be found at:   
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=715 

 
Tunbridge Wells Core Strategy 2010 
 
The Core Strategy Development Plan Document (Core Strategy) (2010)   
is a key strategic planning document setting out the overarching principles for 
development in the Borough to 2026. It provides: 
 
� a spatial vision of how the borough should develop 
� strategic objectives for the borough 
� a delivery strategy, setting out what will be developed and where  
� an implementation and monitoring framework. 
 
It is the key contextual document setting out how and where new housing will be 
developed over the next fifteen years. 

Appendix B

Page 145



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
In respect of housing delivery, the Core Strategy aims to deliver 6,000 new homes in 
the period 2006-2026. The affordable housing threshold is set in the document at 
35% on sites of more than 10 homes and allows for local needs affordable housing to 
be built outside the limits to built development on ‘exceptions sites’. 
The strategy can be found at: 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2133 

 
Tunbridge Wells Core Strategy Review 
 
The Tunbridge Wells Core Strategy 2010 was successfully adopted but is subject to a 
current partial review. This is as a result of impending changes to the planning system 
and the abolition of regional housing targets. The purpose of the review is not to re-
examine the full document but to seek views on a number of specific issues including 
the options for setting a local housing target and for distributing housing around the 
Borough.  
 
The review identified that the majority of respondents supported:  
 
� adopting a lower housing target and distribution which makes best use of 

previously developed land and reduces the requirement to use green-field sites, 
including sites in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Green Belt 

 
� making a case to allow for ‘windfall’ (or unplanned/unidentified) development in 

setting its housing targets 
 
� reducing the general housing target to take account of any specialist housing built 

for older people. 
 
Related Borough Strategies and Policy Documents 
 
There are a number of housing sub-strategies which will be reviewed in 2011-2012 
which focus on specific aspects of housing activity. These are: 
 
� The Private Sector Renewal Strategy  
� The Empty Property Strategy  
 
In addition, what were previously stand-alone strategies have now been incorporated 
into this strategy. These are:  
 
� The Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Older Persons Housing Strategy  
� The Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Young Person’s Housing Strategy  
� The Minority Ethnic Housing Strategy and Action Plan (2006-2011). 

Appendix B

Page 146



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

4.5 Partnership working  
 
Tunbridge Wells BC liaises and works closely with colleagues across Kent and, in 
particular West Kent, to ensure consistency in approach. The main forums for joint 
working are:  
 
� Kent Housing Group – this group includes representatives of all local housing 

authorities in Kent, all housing associations with a significant presence and Kent 
County Council. The group aims to be the voice of housing in Kent by providing 
strategic leadership on housing issues and is responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of the new Kent and Medway Housing Strategy  

 
� Kent Joint Policy Planning Board - a strategic partnership between health, 

housing and social care where issues requiring joint working can be raised and 
measures to address them developed 

 
� The Borough Housing Partnership – this is the delivery group of the Tunbridge 

Wells Local Strategic Partnership. It provides a forum where agencies involved in 
housing work together to plan services and programmes, supporting the delivery 
of housing and related issues  

 
� West Kent Policy Board - brings together the local authorities and the Primary 

Care Trust to provide a co-ordinated approach to health issues.  
 

Appendix B

Page 147



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 5. OUR HOUSING PRIORITIES 

 
The overall vision of the Housing Strategy is to provide: 
 

“Housing Solutions for our Residents” 
 
Based on the identified housing needs and demands set out in Section Three and 
working within the national, county-wide and local contexts described in Section Four, 
we have defined five strategic priorities that we will aim to meet over the period of 
this strategy. These are:  
 
Priority 1 – Providing affordable homes for rent and low cost home ownership 
 
Priority 2 – Supporting the regeneration of existing social stock 
 
Priority 3 – Preventing homelessness 
 
Priority 4 - Responding to the needs of vulnerable people to support independent 
living 
 
Priority 5 - Improving the quality and sustainability of existing homes 
 
In this section we set out in detail how we will meet each of our five priorities. Further 
detail is provided in the Action Plan set out in Section 8.  
 
As part of the process in setting the priorities and in determining the areas of focus 
within each priority, a consultation event was held with stakeholders with 
representatives from: the Tunbridge Wells Borough Housing Partnership; the social 
rented sector; the private rented sector; health; youth organisations; older person’s 
organisations; and various organisations in the voluntary sector, to get their views 
and comments. The feedback from the event was then used to inform the final 
document and in particular the detail of the five priorities and Action Plan.   

Appendix B

Page 148



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

5.1  PRIORITY 1 – PROVIDING AFFORDABLE HOMES FOR RENT AND LOW-
COST HOME OWNERSHIP  

 
 

Why this priority? 
 
High house prices and private rents mean that many households are unable to afford 
to buy or rent a home in the Borough. 
 
Taking into account average incomes and house prices, Tunbridge Wells is the second 
least affordable place to live in Kent, after Sevenoaks. People are attracted to the 
area because of its attractive towns, the surrounding countryside and transport links 
to London. The supply of development sites for new housing however is limited. This 
has led to a housing market in which people on lower incomes find it difficult to find a 
suitable home, either through rental or owner occupation. There is evidence to 
suggest that some young people who have grown up in the area are forced to live 
with parents into their 20’s and 30’s as concealed households. 
 
Research undertaken by the Council indicates that tackling the current lack of 
affordable housing locally is a clear priority amongst local people, particularly in the 
rural areas.  

 
Building on success – our achievements to date 
 
During the period of our Housing Strategy 2006-2011, we have: 
 
� developed a rolling five-year affordable housing programme and supported our 

RSL partners in providing 358 affordable homes  
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/pdf/affordable%20housing%20programme

Housing%20strategy%202011%20-%202016.pdf 

 
� achieved 95% of new housing developments on brownfield land sites 
 
� enhanced the affordable housing policy in our Core Strategy so that developers are 

required to provide up to 35% affordable housing within all developments of more 
than 10 homes  
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/PDF/PP_DPD_CoreStrategy_June2010.pdf  

 
� developed and published a ’Supplementary Planning Guidance’ setting out the 

Council’s  policies in respect of affordable housing to assist in the delivery of new 
homes 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/pdf/SPD%20Affordable%20Housing%20ne

w.pdf 

 

� secured 233 affordable homes on s.106 sites including homes provided as part of 
the regeneration of the Medway Road area (formerly a Council-owned depot) 

 
� Continued to improve consultation for new affordable housing development 

between our Housing Association partners and Planning Services to ensure that 

Appendix B

Page 149



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

any affordable housing provided is compatible with the type of housing that is 
needed.  

 
� Implemented our policy to promote the provision of new affordable homes in rural 

areas by undertaking 10 rural housing needs surveys in the parishes, in 
partnership with Parish/Town Councils and Action with Communities in Rural Kent 
(ACRK). This has been identified as an example of positive practise by the National 
Housing Federation’s ‘Save our Villages’ campaign. 

 
� Delivered 29 units of local needs housing on rural exception sites. These homes 

are occupied ‘in perpetuity’ by households with a connection to the parish where 
the homes are built. A further 27 units are currently under construction.  

 
� Completed a Local Investment Programme across West Kent identifying the 

strategic housing requirements for the region to prioritise significantly reduced 
capital funding over the next four years.  

 
� Secured £1.4 million for the period 2006-11 providing 111 units of affordable 

housing in the urban and rural areas. 
 
Issues for the future 
 
� The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2008 (SHMA), indicated an annual 

shortfall of 290 affordable units in the Borough. However this level of need is too 
great to be met within the context of the overall quantity of housing to be provided 
in the Borough.   

 
� The Core Strategy Review indicated that respondents are in support of a reduction 

in the 6,000 new homes target for the Borough as set out in the South East 
Regional Housing Strategy. However this is now being re-considered by Cabinet 
and full Council. 

 
� The increasing trend of developers trying to negotiate down the amount of 

affordable housing to be provided on s.106 sites due to financial viability issues is 
likely to continue, particularly if the housing market remains depressed. 

 
� The change in the way that affordable housing is funded under the recent 

Spending Review and resulting HCA agreements with Housing Associations for new 
development has seen a reduction in capital funding of £40k per unit over the 
period 2011-16. The expectation on housing associations to plug this gap in 
funding by increasing borrowing capacity through the charging of affordable rents 
(at 80% of open market value) has resulted in a reduction in the number of 
housing associations that are willing or financially able to develop in the Borough.  

 
� As a result of the changes in capital funding affordability of rents will need to be 

monitored. This is considered further under Priority 3. 
 
� Despite the reductions in capital funding, we still must try to ensure that new 

homes are designed to the highest possible standards, particularly in terms of 
sustainability.  Included in this is the need to ensure that a proportion of homes 
are built to Lifetime Home standards.  

Appendix B

Page 150



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
� The SHMA and the Housing Register has identified a need to create a more 

sustainable and balanced housing market which includes a range of housing sizes. 
The SHMA recommends that 60% of new homes should have one or two bedrooms 
and 40% should have three or more bedrooms.    

 
� To ensure that the housing needs of specific client groups such as the elderly, 

young vulnerable people and the disabled are reflected when considering new 
housing developments. 

 
What we plan to do 
 
� Continue to develop and implement a rolling five-year affordable housing 

programme to deliver a minimum of 70 homes per annum to meet identified 
needs, including  affordable rented homes, low-cost home ownership and housing 
in the rural areas.   

 
� Work together with Planning Policy to progress the Development Management 

Policies Development Plan document that will underpin the Core Strategy and set 
out in detail our policy on affordable housing requirements to maximise the 
amount of affordable housing that can be achieved and ensure it meets a range of 
housing needs, in terms of location, tenure, size and specific design requirements. 

 
� Following public consultation (planned for May 2012), work with Planning Policy to 

incorporate those sites identified as suitable for housing within the affordable 
housing programme both for urban affordable housing and rural exception sites. 

 
� Continue to challenge developers who offer affordable housing numbers below the 

Planning Policy requirement  
 

� Continue to work with the Parish Councils where housing needs surveys have been 
undertaken and a housing need identified to deliver housing in the rural areas. We 
will also update housing need information in the rural areas where necessary 

 
� Ensure that any housing that is provided is well designed and provides a range of 

housing options reflecting housing need such as life time homes, homes for the 
elderly, disabled adapted units and larger size family units.  

 
� Work with our Housing Association partners to ensure that the existing housing 

stock is used to its full potential, including looking at ways to tackle under-
occupation and encourage tenants of these properties to down-size.  
 

� In partnership with other local authorities in Kent and mortgage lenders, TWBC will 
actively explore the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme. This has been piloted 
nationally and would involve the Council providing mortgage indemnity to first 
time buyers who can afford mortgage payments but not the initial deposit 
required. The scheme does not promote home ownership to those who can’t afford 
it but could help to free up scarce affordable housing and assist with boosting the 
local economy 

 
 

Appendix B

Page 151



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

5.2  PRIORITY 2 – SUPPORTING THE REGENERATION OF EXISTING SOCIAL 
HOUSING  

 

 

Why this Priority? 
 
Since the transfer of council housing to Town and Country Housing Group in 1992, 
TCHG have, and continue to be, the main affordable housing provider in the Borough, 
owning and managing 6161 properties in the Borough. Table 4 shows the tenure and 
size breakdown of this stock, most of which is concentrated on existing social housing 
estates. 

 

Table 4: Tunbridge Wells Stock Profile as at 26/9/2011 

Type of property  Bedsit 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed Total 

General 

Needs 

General Needs Rented  127 1243 1990 1672 105 6 5143 
Sheltered Housing 166 402 49 8 1 0 626 
Leaseholders 172 29 62 5 0 0 268 
Shared Ownership 42 3 20 36 0 0 101 
Market Rent 0 0 0 15 0 0 15 
Rent to Homebuy 0 0 8 0 0 0 8 
Grand total  6161 

 

Building on success – our achievements to date 
 

In order to improve the quality of life for their residents and to diversify the tenure 
options available in these areas, TCHG are embarking on a programme of renewal on 
3 estates, listed and mapped below (see Figure 5): 
 

� The Sherwood Estate lies to the north east of the town centre. At the heart of 
the estate are 176 social rented 2 bed hard-to-let flats which are in urgent need of 
repair. These will be replaced with a more attractive mixed tenure scheme of flats, 
maisonettes, family homes and a care home for older people. These homes will be 
provided alongside the existing community and sports facilities at the TN2 Centre. 
In addition there will be new recreational facilities in the surrounding woodland 
areas and at Sherwood Lake which were originally inaccessible to residents. 

 

� Ropers Gate is at the entrance to the Ramslye Estate on the south side of 
Tunbridge Wells. There are currently 50 flats, some of which are bedsit 
accommodation. The area has a high concentration of single households and there 
are empty shops and garage areas that are subject to repeated vandalism. The 
area will be re-designed to include 27 homes for rent and low-cost sale. In addition 
there will be a new public open space and post office. 

 
� Cranwell Road flats, Rusthall lies to the west of the Town Centre. Forming part 

of an existing housing estate the current mix of 39 mainly two and three bed flats 
are difficult to let and poorly designed. They will be replaced with a mix of flats 
and family homes. 

Appendix B

Page 152



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
Figure 5: Renewal estates 

 
 

Issues for the future  
 
This programme of renewal will involve decanting existing households over the next 
12-18 months. To the end of December 2011, 71 have been re-housed out of 
approximately 250 households.  With decants filling approximately 50% of vacancies, 
(November 2011), every month it is a challenge for the Council to ensure that there 
are properties available for those on the Housing Register and the renewal 
programme will put considerable pressure on the small amount of existing social 
housing stock in Tunbridge Wells. Should there not be sufficient stock in the social 
rented sector the Council may need to explore the use of private rented properties, 
with implications for the Housing Renewal Team as it will require inspections to assess 
the standards of properties offered. 
       
 What we plan to do 
 

� continue to work in partnership with TCHG on the phased decanting of residents 
whilst managing the expectations of other applicants on the housing register   

 
� work with the Sherwood Project Board to ensure that when applications are 

submitted they will be processed efficiently 
 
� continue to involve the Council’s Planning and Housing departments in the plans at 

Ropers Gate and in supporting the redevelopment of Cranwell Road at Parish 
Council and public consultation events 

 

Appendix B

Page 153



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� continue to monitor the development programme and work alongside Planning to 
minimise the period of disruption for ‘Homeseekers’ and homeless households 

 
� work with TCHG and planning to ensure that any new housing built is well 

designed and enhances the community; that it is a place where people want to 
live; that it meets a wide range of housing needs both now and in future years; 
and that the regeneration programme addresses transport, services and 
employment issues 

 
� Monitor the allocation of properties on the new developments to ensure that this 

assists in creating a balanced and sustainable community.  

  

Appendix B

Page 154



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

5.3  PRIORITY 3 – PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS 

 
 

Why this Priority? 
 
The Council has a number of statutory duties to deal with this acute form of housing 
need. Since the last strategy was written, the Housing Options Team has taken a 
more proactive approach to prevent homelessness, through providing customers with 
accurate, timely advice on their housing options as soon as the team becomes aware 
that they are facing homelessness. This has led to a decrease in the numbers of 
households needing to make homelessness applications to the Council.  
 
However, homelessness is still a problem in this Borough – during 2010/11, over 
1250 people approached the Council for advice, most of whom because they believed 
they were threatened with homelessness. In addition, the estimated number of rough 
sleepers in this Borough at the date of the last national count was 9, which was the 
second highest figure recorded in the county after Maidstone Borough Council, who 
submitted an estimate of 27.  The total number of rough sleepers either counted or 
estimated across the 13 Kent local authority areas was 68.  
 
The Council has worked in partnership with the other West Kent local authorities, 
Sevenoaks District Council and Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council, to produce a 
joint Homelessness Strategy. The original joint Strategy, which was in place from 
2007 – 2011, has recently been rewritten and will run from 2011-2016.  

 
Building on success – our achievements to date 
 
During the period of our Housing Strategy 2006-2011, we have: 
 
� exceeded our target of reducing the numbers of households in temporary 

accommodation from 57 in December 2004 to 21 in March 2010 
 

� restructured our Housing Needs Team to create a specialist Housing Options and 
Housing Register teams. We now have 4 FTE and one PTE dedicated Housing 
Options Advisors to prevent homelessness and provide housing options advice. 
Each member of the team is able to provide advice on a customer’s housing 
options, do preventative work to help avoid them becoming homeless and assess 
homelessness applications under homelessness legislation 
 

� continued to operate a drop-in Housing Advice Surgery Monday-Friday at the 
Gateway, Royal Tunbridge Wells, and a weekly Housing Advice Surgery in  
Cranbrook 

 
� built on the success of our Rent in Advance/Deposit Loan Scheme, which continues 

to help households facing homelessness, secure privately rented accommodation 
 

� following a successful bid to obtain government funding, delivered a Trailblazer 
programme, which provided residents of the Borough with employment advice to 
help to get them back into work and a specialist debt advice service 

 

Appendix B

Page 155



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� set up a Sanctuary Scheme to help people at risk of domestic abuse remain safely 
in their home, through providing additional security measures 
 

� in partnership with other Kent authorities, jointly funded an education programme 
for secondary schools in the Borough, which is delivered by Porchlight, a local 
homelessness charity. Following the positive feedback received from participating 
schools, this service will now be provided in-house by officers from the Housing 
Options Team 
 

� worked closely with the Council’s Housing Benefit section to ensure we utilised our 
central government-funded allocations of Discretionary Housing Payment. This 
assists clients who are in receipt of Housing Benefit where there is a shortfall 
between the amount of benefit they receive and the rent they have to pay 
 

� participated in the Government Mortgage Rescue Scheme which has enabled 2  
households facing repossession to keep their home. 
 

Issues for the Future  
 
� As we are facing a rise in homelessness and an increase in demand for housing, a 

key priority for us is to strengthen our relationship with private landlords and 
letting agents, in order to increase the number of privately rented properties 
available to our customers. 

 
� The proposed changes in Housing Benefit (including those proposed to the 

payment of Housing Benefit for supported housing) and the introduction of the 
Universal Credit. We need to monitor the impact this might have on clients 
accessing or maintaining existing accommodation in the private rented sector if 
their benefit is to be reduced.  

 
� The implications of the new affordable rent proposals (both in terms of the ability 

of those in financial hardship to access affordable housing and to sustain their 
tenancies) need to be understood. Early indications are that rents will increase 
between £13 and £18 per week based on evidence of rents in recent Kent 
Homechoice editions.  

 
� It is also very important that we ensure timely housing advice and support is 

provided to households facing the threat of homelessness.  
 

� We also need to work more proactively to assist rough sleepers, in line with the 
Government’s aim to end rough sleeping by 2012. We need to further reduce the 
use of Bed & Breakfast (B&B) accommodation for homeless households. 

 
 
What we plan to do 
 
� implement the actions identified in the West Kent Homelessness Strategy 2011-

2016 
http://www2.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/Default.aspx?page=1608 

 

 
 

Appendix B

Page 156



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� develop closer links with Children’s Social Services to ensure that 16/17 year olds 
are receiving an effective, coordinated service, following the introduction of the 
Kent wide Joint Protocol to address the needs of homeless young people aged 16-
21  

 
� ensure young people are provided with tailored advice on the housing options 

available to them  
 

� continue to make presentations to young people in secondary schools to increase 
their life chances through prevention of homelessness 

 
� further improve the Housing Options service by developing specialist advice for 

people facing homelessness due to domestic abuse 
 

� provide more advice to non-priority need households 
 

� continue to work in partnership with local church groups and other organisations 
who assist rough sleepers to offer practical help to this client group such as the 
setting up of a rolling winter shelter 

 
� improve our links with private landlords to reduce the numbers of customers who 

become homeless from a private rental and to increase the numbers of privately 
rented properties available to those who need alternative accommodation    

 
� monitor the effect that the impending changes in housing benefit and the proposed 

introduction of the Universal Credit has on the ability of clients to access the 
private rented sector or to maintain existing accommodation and the impact this 
has on the number of clients accessing our services  

 
� monitor the impact of the changes on the allocation of affordable homes and the 

affordability of rent to ensure it is fair for all and does not cause unnecessary 
financial hardship and lead to an increase in levels of homelessness 

 
� investigate setting up a tenancy service for both households we have assisted into 

a private rental and their landlords. 
 
 
 

Appendix B

Page 157



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

5.4  PRIORITY 4 – RESPONDING TO THE NEEDS OF VULNERABLE PEOPLE TO 
SUPPORT INDEPENDENT LIVING 

 

 

Why this Priority? 
 
This priority supports the corporate vision of ’passionate about our communities’. It 
seeks to promote inclusive communities by offering housing related support and 
advice to vulnerable households and, more specifically, seeks to ensure that the 
housing needs of specific client groups such as the elderly and young people are 
addressed. For the purposes of this Housing Strategy a person is considered to be 
vulnerable if either through age, physical or mental health, language or cultural 
barriers or financial hardship they are in need of additional support to access services 
or live independently.  

 
Building on success – our achievements to date 
 
During the period of our Housing Strategy 2006-2011, we have: 
 
� Continued the successful Joint Assessment Referral Scheme (JARS) to determine 

options and support packages for people moving in and out of supported housing 
in the Borough. This approach brings together a wide range of stakeholders. To 
date 281 clients have been referred to the Panel and 227 clients have been re-
housed in supported accommodation. 

 
� Secured an increase in funding to provide 505 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to 

assist disabled people with access and care facilities in and around their homes, 
further increasing their independence; and financial assistance to 178 vulnerable 
households to enable them to live safely in warm and decent homes. 

 
� Continued financially to support the Council’s Home Improvement Agency, which 

provides key services to vulnerable people in the community. 
 

� Introduced the Kent-wide Young Persons Protocol, to promote partnership working 
between agencies to provide a seamless service to assess and identify appropriate 
housing solutions for vulnerable young people aged 16 – 21. 

 
� Introduced a new Housing Needs IT system which enables us to identify the needs 

of disabled people (including wheelchair users). This information has assisted us 
when planning new affordable homes for this client group.  

 
� Adopted the Minority Ethnic Housing Strategy in September 2009, with the aim of 

ensuring that local minority ethnic communities have equal access to housing and 
housing services (this will now be incorporated into the Housing Strategy). 

 
� Made improvements to the Cinderhill Gypsy site at Cinderhill Wood, Matfield in 

April 2009. The site now provides 6 permanent plots with purpose-built utility 
blocks. This was achieved with funding from Central Government via the Gypsy & 
Traveller site grant. 

Appendix B

Page 158



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

Issues for the future  
 
� There have been no new supported housing schemes in the Borough since 2006, 

partly due to the difficulty in securing both capital and revenue funding for new 
schemes since the implementation of the Supporting People programme. 

 
� With changes proposed to the payment of Housing Benefit for housing 

management-related support in supported housing, there is a need to monitor any 
effects on services in existing supported housing schemes in the Borough. 

 
� There is a need to identify a suitable site for the development of a “Young Person 

at Risk” housing scheme to provide supported housing for young people who 
become homeless and for which Supporting People funding is currently still ring-
fenced.  

 
� The Localism Bill and the introduction of flexible tenancies for housing association 

properties may have implications for vulnerable tenants and their ability to sustain 
their tenancies.  

 
� With 555 households currently on the Joint Housing Register aged over 55 

(representing 21% of the total demand) and 170 of these households expressing a 
need for sheltered accommodation, the gap in suitable provision needs to be filled.  

 
� The ageing population will lead to an increase in demand for Disabled Facilities 

Grants, health and social care services.   
 

� We need to promote Housing Services to local BME populations, making better use 
of translation services and ensure that older people have access to appropriate 
housing advice and are supported in placing bids on our choice based lettings 
scheme.  

 
What we plan to do 
 
We plan to develop housing options that facilitate independent living in the 
community and meet the needs of vulnerable people across all tenures. We aim to: 
 
� Continue to work with the Health Primary Care Trust, KCC Occupational Therapy 

Bureau, the Kent Supporting People Team and Health services to meet community 
care needs through referral to appropriate services and specialist housing 
providers. 

 
� Reduce domestic hazards to the vulnerable by  upgrading safety and security 

measures in their homes (via the Home Improvement Agency  and other services 
and  decent homes  assistance). 

 
� Continue to hold Disabled Accommodation Review meetings between TWBC and 

TCHG to monitor the needs of disabled people on the Joint Housing Register and 
have a joined up approach to assessing a range of housing options to meet their 
needs. 

 

Appendix B

Page 159



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

� Continue funding for disabled adaptations (including mandatory Disabled Facility 
Grants), home repairs/ improvement and affordable warmth measures and 
promote the existing assistance available. 

 
� Continue to work with KCC and TCHG to reduce the timescale from occupational 

therapy assessment to installation of adaptations. 
 
� In relation to older people, facilitate a range of housing options for people across 

all tenures by: 
o signposting people to the external support that enables them to make the right 

choices for their future needs through either remaining in their own home or 
moving on to alternative accommodation more suitable for their needs    

o continuing financially to support the Home Improvement Agency (HIA) to 
provide support and assistance to enable  people to remain in their own homes  

o ensuring that there is appropriate housing for older people to move on to by: 
o encouraging developers to build a range of houses to meet housing need 

including homes appropriate for the active elderly. 
o continuing to support housing associations with outdated sheltered housing 

stock in the Borough to implement modernisation programmes to 
bring schemes up to date and make units fit for purpose 

o work with planning and RSL providers to bring forward ‘extra care’ 
schemes.  

 
� Continue regularly to monitor use of Kent Homechoice to ensure that it is 

accessible to the whole community. This includes providing support to vulnerable 
applicants who are unable to access the website, including bidding on their behalf. 

 
� Support specialist housing providers such as West Kent YMCA and Christian 

Alliance in meeting the housing needs of young people and developing move-on 
support for those leaving supported housing accommodation to improve their life 
skills, access to employment and tenancy sustainability. 

 
� Continue to look for suitable sites to accommodate an additional Young Persons at 

Risk scheme.  
 
� Seek to secure supported housing for client groups with specific needs such as 

drug and alcohol dependency. 
 
� Continue to identify further work required to promote Housing Services to Minority 

Ethnic Communities including the use of Language Line. 
 

� Continue to maintain the high standards of facilities at Cinderhill Gypsy site; to 
assess the housing needs of Gypsies and Travellers in accordance with Planning 
Policy; and continue to house gypsies and travellers through offers of permanent 
housing. 

 
� Develop a Strategic Tenancy Policy in consultation with our housing association 

partners. This will set out our expectations in relation to the allocation and tenure 
of housing association properties and we will monitor the impact of the changes on 
the allocation of affordable homes and implications of flexible tenancies, 
particularly on vulnerable residents.  

Appendix B

Page 160



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

5.5  PRIORITY 5 – IMPROVING THE QUALITY AND SUSTAINABILITY OF 
EXISTING HOMES  

 

Why this Priority? 
 
The Council’s strategic goal of creating a ‘healthy and green’ Tunbridge Wells is 
supported by this priority, which acknowledges the major impact that poor housing 
conditions can have  on the physical, mental health and well-being of individuals, 
households and communities. 
 
As the majority of the housing that we will be living in in 50 years’ time has already 
been built, improving the quality of the existing housing stock is essential to meet the 
need for quality housing in the Borough.  This priority therefore focuses on promoting 
the improvement of the quality and sustainability of existing properties, in terms of 
their standard of repair, facilities, thermal efficiency and carbon emissions.  
 
The Council also has statutory responsibilities in respect of housing conditions to 
ensure that vulnerable residents can remain living safely in their homes under: 
 
� The Housing Act 2004  
� The Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and 
� The Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
 
We recognise the importance of improving the quality of housing-related services, as 
provided by both the Council and partner agencies. 

 
Building on success – our achievements to date 
 
During the period of our Housing Strategy 2006-11 we have: 
 
� implemented a Private Sector Renewal Strategy 2004–09 to promote the health 

and well-being of residents by improving their living conditions and ensuring that 
all have access to a suitable and decent home 
 

� completed a Borough–wide House Condition Survey 2009/10 to produce a 
comprehensive review of private sector housing 

 
� secured, as a member of the North & West Kent Partnership, over £1.5million for 

initiatives aimed at reducing the number of vulnerable people living in non-decent 
homes, improving the quality of the private rented sector, returning empty 
properties to use, improving energy efficiency and reducing fuel poverty 
particularly in rural communities 

 
� expanded the Housing Renewal Assistance Policy, enabling assistance to be 

provided to households through the following initiatives: 
o 178 Decent Homes  
o 52 Landlords (private rented properties) 
o 11 First time buyers  
o 146 Coldbusters 
o 14 Rural Homes 

Appendix B

Page 161



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

o 15 Hard to Heat 
o 19 Solar Thermal 

 
� brought 877 privately rented properties up to the Decent Homes Standard through 

enforcement action and informal discussions and 97 empty homes back into use 
 
� worked with private landlords to encourage improvement in the private rented 

sector through the launch of the Private Accredited Letting Scheme (PALS) and the 
establishment of the West Kent Landlords partnership in conjunction with the 
National Landlords Association, including holding 15 information forums 
 

� implemented mandatory HMO Licensing and adopted a Non-Licensable HMO 
Strategy to risk assess and prioritise an inspection programme to bring properties 
up to standard 

 
� undertaken a risk assessment with Town & Country Housing Group to bring all 

their HMOs up to standard 
 

� adopted a Protocol with Registered Social Landlords operating in the Borough to 
establish best practice for repairs, avoiding the need for formal action 

 
� undertook promotional activity, in partnership with the Energy Saving Trust, In 

Touch and other organisations, to encourage and make homeowners aware of the 
financial assistance available for energy efficiency improvements and other home 
adaptations  

 
� launched the ‘Energy Doctors’ scheme, carrying out over 670 home visits to advise 

on energy reduction and available funding  
 

� achieved our HECA target of reducing domestic energy consumption in the 
Borough’s homes by 32% between 1996 and 2011  

 
� adopted a Supplementary Planning Document requiring new developments of over 

10 units/1000m2 to provide at least 10% of their energy needs from renewable 
sources 

 
� adopted a Kent-wide protocol with Kent Fire & Rescue to clarify and ensure 

consistency on joint working practices across the county and developed an area 
based, multi-agency programme to improve street scene, fire safety, refuse 
disposal and disrepair 

 
� established a process for responding to complaints from tenants using the Housing 

Health and Safety Rating System to reduce risks and hazards across all tenures 
 
� adopted an Empty Property Strategy which encouraged owners to return empty 

properties to use and help meet local housing needs. 
 
Issues for the future  
� The predicted rise in the numbers of over 60s in the Borough will inevitably 

increase the numbers of households who need access to the services provided by 
the Housing Renewal team (DFGs, affordable warmth advice etc). 

Appendix B

Page 162



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 
� We also need to do more to encourage empty homes to be brought back into use, 

making better use of the existing housing stock and improving the quality of the 
local environment. 

 
� Make the best use of existing housing association properties ensuring that, as 

household’s circumstances change, they move on to more appropriate 
accommodation, freeing up larger family sized homes for those that need them.  

 
� The introduction of the Green Deal and Energy Companies Obligation and the 

review of HECA changing the national schemes available to help households reduce 
domestic carbon emissions and the way local authorities engage with them. 

 
What we plan to do 
 
We will undertake a range of activities to increase the number of safe, sustainable 
and decent homes, including: 
 
� review and update our Private Sector Renewal Strategy 2004–09 (in 2011/12), 

having regard to the results of the House Condition Survey that we undertook in 
2010, proposed legislative changes and funding availability 

 
� continue to inspect and implement mandatory HMO licensing and continue to 

inspect non-licensable HMOs as part of the risk assessment programme 
 
� review the Empty Property Strategy and promote existing and new initiatives to 

bring empty properties back into use 
 
� respond to changes in ‘green’ legislation to encourage residents to take advantage 

of opportunities to reduce domestic carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty. In 
particular we need to prepare for the requirements for improved energy efficiency 
in private rented properties 

 
� continue to work with private landlords, in partnership with other West Kent local 

authorities, to encourage improvements in the standard of private rented 
accommodation, such as the Private Accredited Lettings Scheme (PAL) 

 
� provide financial assistance in accordance with the Housing Renewal Assistance 

Policy 2011 to increase the number of Decent Homes in the Borough to make 
better use of the existing stock to meet local housing needs  

 
� continue to promote and improve home safety, housing conditions, fire prevention, 

and energy efficiency and to reduce households in fuel poverty and the numbers of 
empty homes, both independently and by partnership working, with other Local 
Authorities and external organisations 

 
� work with our housing association partners to ensure that the existing housing 

stock is used to its full potential, to look at ways to reduce levels of under-
occupation and encourage tenants of these properties to down-size. 

 
 

Appendix B

Page 163



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

6. RESOURCING OUR SERVICE 

 

This section outlines the funding provided by the Council and other sources to support 
the housing priorities identified in this Strategy. 
 
6.1 Borough Council Funding 
 
The Council transferred its housing stock to High Weald housing association (now part 
of the Town & Country Housing Group) in 1992 and no longer retains a Housing 
Revenue Account.  This means that all housing expenditure is managed within the 
Council’s General Fund.  
 
Capital Expenditure 
 
Capital investment in private sector housing renewal and disabled adaptations is 
delivered through the Council’s Capital Programme.  
 
The Council has continued to fund housing renewal and the provisions of adaptations 
to facilitate improvements in the living conditions of vulnerable households  , In 
2010/11, we set a budget of £100k for Housing Renewal in addition to a budget of 
£706k for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs), of which £262k was Borough-funded and 
the rest provided by central government. 
 
Receipts from the repayment of housing assistance will be recycled to assist with the 
provision of funding in the future. 
 
Revenue Funding 
 
Revenue funding is required to meet the ongoing costs of running the housing service. 
The Council’s total revenue budget for housing–related services amounts to £874k for 
2011/12. Of this, 78% relates to staffing costs. 
 
The Council also contributes revenue funding alongside other partner agencies 
towards the day-to-day running costs of the Tunbridge Wells Home Improvement 
Agency. 
 
The Council’s planned revenue expenditure on housing services for 2011/12 is as 
follows: 
 

Service Area Total (£) 

Housing Needs 463,640 

Housing Renewal  301,730 

Temporary accommodation for homeless households 64,120 

Cinderhill Wood Gypsy site 5,590 

Tunbridge Wells Home Improvement Agency 39,000 

Total 874,080 

 
We anticipate that capital and revenue funding will be maintained at the same level 
during the period of this Housing Strategy. 
  

Appendix B

Page 164



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

6.2 External Funding 
 
Through its partnership working, the Council has succeeded in attracting inward 
investment from other funding agencies to deliver improvements in Housing Services. 
In 2011/12, this will include: 
 
� an allocation of HCA funding to HA’s totalling £1.4 million for the period 2011-2014  
to fund 111 new affordable homes in the Borough, including intermediate housing 
 
� an allocation of Grant of £444k towards the cost of providing DFGs. 

 
� an estimated £250,000 through Warm Front and the Carbon Emissions Reduction 
Target schemes to provide thermal comfort to 400 homes and reduce the risk of fuel 
poverty. 

 
� an allocation of Homelessness Grant from the ODPM of £88k in 2011/12 to fund 
homelessness prevention initiatives and we are working on the assumption that we 
will continue to receive around £80k per year during the lifetime of this strategy 

 
6.3 Asset Management Plan 
 
A new Asset Management Plan was adopted in 2010/11, enabling the Council to make 
best use of its land/ building assets.  
  
The Council has already disposed of two parcels of land for outright affordable housing 
which, together, will provide 18 units of housing and the new Asset Management Plan 
has identified a small number of other sites which might be appropriate for selling on 
to housing associations for affordable housing. 
 
6.4 Proposed Capital Investment 2011/12 and beyond 
 
The Council will continue to work with the Homes and Communities Agency and its 
other partners to ensure that the housing needs of the Borough are reflected in future 
resource allocations. 

 

6.5 Monitoring the delivery of the Housing Strategy  
 
Monitoring of the delivery of the Housing Strategy Action Plan will involve: 
 
� quarterly review by the Council’s Housing Services Management Team 
� annual monitoring update  to the Borough Housing Partnership 
� annual monitoring report to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

Appendix B

Page 165



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

7. FURTHER INFORMATION 

 
For further information on the Tunbridge Wells Housing Strategy 2011-2016, 
please contact: 
 
Kevin Hetherington 
Head of Housing and Wellbeing  
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Civic Way 
Royal Tunbridge Wells 
Kent TN1 1RS 
 
Telephone: (01892) 554192 – direct line  
E-mail:Kevin.Hetherington@Tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 
If you require this Strategy in an alternative format or language please contact 
Kevin Hetherington on the contact details above 

Appendix B

Page 166



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

8. HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN  

 

PRIORITY ONE: PROVIDING AFFORDABLE HOMES  FOR RENT AND LOW COST HOME OWNERSHIP 

Item Objective  

 

Actions 

 

Target  Key 

milestones 

Responsibilit

y 

1a 

 

Increase supply of 

affordable housing 

 

Continue to develop and implement the 5 

year affordable housing programme (AHP) 

to meet a range of identified needs across 

the borough. 

 

Minimum of 70 

new affordable 

homes per annum 

 

AHP targets 

achieved each 

year.  

 

Affordable 

Housing 

Officer’s 

(AHOs) 

 

Maximise affordable housing through 

planning gain and continue to challenge 

developers who offer affordable housing 

numbers below the threshold. 

 

Achieve 35% 

affordable housing 

on sites with 10+ 

units. 

 

Maximise 

affordable 

housing 

contribution on 

s.106 sites. 

 

Continue to work with parish councils where 

a housing need has been identified to 

deliver affordable housing. 

 

 

100 new homes in 

the rural areas by 

2016 

AHP rural 

targets 

achieved each 

year 

 

Explore whether TWBC should be part of 

the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme in 

Kent 

Options appraised 

and decision made 

Ideas presented 

to Management 

Board and 

Councillors 

AHO/Head of 

Housing/ 

Finance 

Officers 

Work with Property and Planning Services 

to maximise the use of Council owned 

Assets for affordable housing 

Empty Council 

owned properties 

and surplus land 

for affordable 

housing 

Council owned 

land/properties 

suitable for 

affordable 

housing 

identified. 

Some new 

housing 

developed 

AHO’s/Planning

/Property 

Services 

A
ppendix B

P
age 167



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

1b 

 

Develop  affordable 

housing planning 

policies to maximise 

amount of affordable 

housing 

 

Work with planning to agree relevant 

policies on affordable housing 

Affordable housing 

planning policies 

developed 

DPD on 

Affordable 

housing 

completed 

AHOs/Planning 

Policy 

 

1c 

Ensure that any 

housing provided is 

well designed and 

meets a range of 

housing needs 

Work with Planning Services to ensure that 

affordable housing policies provide for a 

range of housing sizes and designs to meet 

specific housing needs 

 

 

 

 

Affordable Housing 

Planning Policies 

developed 

 

Agree % of life 

time homes to be 

achieved on each 

scheme 

 

DPD document 

completed   

 

 

On-going 

 

 

 

 

AHOs/Planning 

Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Work with developers and HA’s to ensure 

that housing is well designed and where it 

is needed includes housing for the elderly; 

disabled adapted units; and larger size 

family units 

JHR information 

used to assess 

type, size of 

housing need and 

to negotiate 

affordable housing 

need on a.106 

sites. 

On s.106 sites 

60% of new 

homes -1/2 bed 

and 40% of homes 

are 3/4 bed. 

 

On-going 

 

 

 

 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 168



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

PRIORITY TWO: SUPPORTING THE REGENERATION OF EXISTING SOCIAL HOUSING  

Item Objective  

 

Actions 

 

Target  Key 

milestones 

Responsibility 

2a 

 

Work with Town and 

Country Housing 

Group on the 

regeneration of 

existing housing 

estates 

Assist in ensuring that all tenants  are 

successfully decanted from the schemes due for 

renewal 

 

 

Regeneration 

plans 

implemented 

 

 

All tenants 

successfully 

decanted  

 

Ongoing 

 

Housing Register 

Manager 

 

 

 

Maintain regular communication with TCHG on 

progress of regeneration plans including 

attendance at the Sherwood Project board 

meetings.  

 

To provide 

accurate and 

appropriate 

advice to 

external 

enquiries 

 

 Head of Housing 

and Wellbeing 

 

Work alongside TCHG and Planning to maintain 

communication links at all stages of the process 

and to ensure planning applications are 

submitted and processed efficiently 

Regeneration 

plans  

delivered in 

a timely 

manner 

Planning 

application 

submitted and 

responded to 

Head of Housing 

and 

Wellbeing/AHO’s 

2b 

 

Effectively manage the 

Housing Register and 

expectations of  other 

applicants bidding 

through CBL 

Communicate effectively with applicants on the 

Housing Register and homeless households to 

raise awareness of implications of regeneration 

process.  

 

 

 

Housing 

Register 

applicants 

kept 

informed of  

process 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Register 

Manager/ 

Housing Options 

Manager 

Monitor development programme and ensure all 

other housing association vacancies as well as 

homes specifically designed for specific groups of 

people are available to homeseekers only. 

Homeseeker 

and 

homeless 

applicants 

continue to 

be housed 

 

On-going  

A
ppendix B

P
age 169



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

2c Work with TCHG and 

Planning to ensure 

that the regeneration 

project has a positive 

impact on the area 

Work alongside TCHG and Planning to ensure 

that the new units proposed are of a high 

standard, meet a wide range of housing needs 

and enhance the area, including addressing 

transport, services and any employments issues. 

 

 

A range of 

good quality 

homes are 

provided 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

AHO’s/Planning 

 

 

 

 

 

Effectively monitor the allocation of any new 

homes to ensure that this assists in creating 

balanced sustainable communities  

 

Properties 

allocated to 

wide range 

of people   

Agree local 

lettings plan 

Housing Register 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 170



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

PRIORITY THREE: PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS 

 
Item Objective  

 

Actions 

 

Target  Key milestones Responsibility 

3a 

 

Further improve the 

Housing Options 

service by developing 

specialist advice for 

people facing 

homelessness due to 

domestic abuse; and 

for non-priority need 

households 

Seek advice from Tunbridge Wells Domestic 

Abuse Advisory Service and other agencies 

who specialise in assisting victims of domestic 

abuse to obtain suggestions for improvement 

of our existing service 

 

Advice sought by 31 

March 2012 

 

Meet with 

TWDAAS and 

obtain advice 

 

Housing Options 

Manager 

Ensure the Housing Options team receive 

appropriate training on providing advice to 

domestic abuse victims 

 

Training completed 

by 31 March 2012 

 

Identify a 

training provider 

and organise 

training 

Create an ‘Accommodation Guide’ containing 

advice on housing options for people who are 

not in priority need 

 

Guide completed by 

31 March 2012 

 

Plan content of 

guide; draft and 

complete it 

 

Continue to work closely with homelessness 

groups to set up a rolling winter shelter  

 

Investigate the 

feasibility of setting 

up a winter shelter 

 

Winter Shelter 

options   

explored 

3b 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increase the number 

of privately rented 

properties available to 

our clients  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Improve links with private landlords  

 

25% increase in 

private rentals 

obtained year on 

year between 2011-

2013. Base line: 69 

tenancies set up in 

2010/11 

 

Create a 

Landlords’ leaflet 

 

Housing Options 

Manager 

 

Pursue other options for obtaining privately 

rented accommodation such as HALS (housing 

association Leasing Schemes) 
 

Identify options 

available 

 

Start using a 

HALS type 

scheme 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 171



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Develop a tenancy service for households we 

have assisted in private rental and their 

landlords  

 

Investigate the 

feasibility of  setting 

up a Tenancy service 

by 2013 

 

Tenancy service 

option explored 

 

Monitor the impact that the changes to 

housing benefit and universal credit have on 

the ability of clients to access or maintain 

accommodation on the private rented sector 

 

 

Review casework and 

types of cases 

dealing with to 

assess the impact of 

the changes on the 

service  

On-going 

3c 

 

 

 

 

Improve the Housing 

Options service for 

young people  

 

 

 

 

Develop closer links with Children’s social 

services and establish a joint assessment of 

16/17 year olds 

 

 

 

Joint assessments 

carried out for 50% 

of 16/17 year olds 

who approach either 

service as homeless 

 

 

Joint Assessment 

Procedure 

written and 

agreed by both 

services by 

31/3/12 

 

Housing Options 

Manager 

 

 

Ensure young people are provided with 

tailored advice on the housing options 

available to them 

 

Review current  

process for giving 

advice to young 

people to ensure a 

consistent approach 

is adopted 

 

Review carried 

out by 31/3/13 

 

Continue to liaise with secondary schools to 

provide homeless prevention presentations to 

year 11 students.  

 

To educate young 

people about 

homelessness 

Presentations 

delivered to 1 

school per year 

from 2012 

 

3d 

 

Work with our RSL 

partners to ensure that 

clients have fair access 

to the social rented 

sector.  

 

Monitor the impact of the changes on the 

allocation of affordable homes to ensure that it 

is fair for all and that clients are able to access 

a sufficient proportion of properties advertised 

on CBL. 

 

Work with our RSL 

partners in 

developing their 

tenancy strategies 

and monitor no of 

clients being 

On-going 

 

All 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 172



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

rehoused through 

CBL 

 

Monitor the impact of the new affordable rent 

regime to ensure it does not cause 

unnecessary financial hardship and lead to an 

increase in levels of homelessness 

Monitor 

homelessness cases 

as a result of eviction 

from an RSL 

 

On-going 

 

Housing Options 

Manager 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 173



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

PRIORITY FOUR: RESPONDING TO THE NEEDS OF VULNERABLE PEOPLE TO SUPPORT INDEPENDENT 

LIVING 
 
Item Objective  

 

Actions 

 

Target  Key 

milestones 

Responsibility 

4a 

 

Improve the  

accessibility of the 

housing service 

 

 

Explore ways to enhance the accessibility of the 

service to applicants requiring support including 

assisting vulnerable applicants to participate in 

the bidding process through Kent Homechoice. 

 

 

To monitor and 

support 

vulnerable 

people on CBL   

 

Housing 

Register 

monitored on 

a quarterly 

basis 

 

Housing Register 

Manager  

 

 

 

 

Continue to identify further work to promote 

Housing Services to minority ethnic groups   

 

Promote service 

to ME groups 

 

On-going All 

4b Maximise the provision 

of supported housing 

for young people and 

make best use of 

existing supported 

housing units  

Maximise the use of existing supported 

accommodation, ensuring that access to schemes 

is widely promoted and good support is provided 

when required. 

 

 

Assist young 

people to 

access 

supported 

accommodation 

when it is 

needed 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Register 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

Assist support agencies such as YMCA and 

Chapter One to develop move-on support for 

young people. 

 

Ensuring 

tenants are 

able to 

maintain 

tenancies 

 

On-going 

 

Housing Register 

Manager 

 

Identify a site for a Young Persons at Risk 

Scheme in Tunbridge Wells 

 

Site identified 

and scheme 

progressed 

 

Scheme built 

 

AHO’s 

 

Seek to ensure there is supported housing for 

client groups with specific needs such as drug 

Identify 

existing 

Work with 

providers on a 

Housing Register 

Manager/ Housing 

A
ppendix B

P
age 174



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

and alcohol dependency. supported 

housing units 

suitable for 

clients with 

specific needs 

 

case by case 

basis to find 

suitable 

accom-

modation 

Options Manager 

4c Meet the housing  

needs of gypsies and 

travellers  

Continue to maintain the high standard of 

facilities on TWBC owned gypsy sites  

 

 

Provide 

alternative 

accommodation 

for gypsies and 

travellers 

On-going 

 

 

 

Housing Register 

Manager 

 

 

 

Assess the needs of Gypsies and Travellers in 

accordance with Planning Guidance and continue 

to house gypsies and travellers in permanent 

accommodation 

 

 On-going Housing Register 

Manager/Housing 

Options Manager 

4d 

 

Meet the housing 

needs of older people 

by providing a range of 

housing options.  

 

Continuing to financially support the Home 

Improvement Agency 

 

 

 

 

Enable people 

to remain in 

their own 

homes  

 

On-going 

 

 

 

Housing Renewal 

Team 

 

 

 

Signposting older people to specialist advice 

services to meet their housing need or 

aspirations 

 

Older people 

offered tailored 

advice 

 

Equity release 

scheme 

promoted 

 

Housing Options 

Team 

 

Increase the supply of affordable housing for the 

elderly.  

 

Sites identified 

and progressed 

 

New sheltered 

and extra care 

housing built  

 

AHOs 

 

Support housing associations in modernising 

existing outdated sheltered stock 

Sheltered stock 

made fit for 

purpose 

On-going 

 

AHO’s 

4e To enable vulnerable 

people to continue 

living independently 

To promote and continue to fund  Decent Homes 

Assistance for home improvements to meet 

current minimum standards for housing and 

200 homes 

improved and 

75 homes with 

By March 

2017 

Housing Renewal 

Team 

A
ppendix B

P
age 175



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

and safely in their own 

homes  

Coldbusters assistance for energy efficiency 

measures 

 

improved 

energy 

efficiency 

Fund the Home Improvement Agency to provide 

advice and support to vulnerable residents to 

enable them to access assistance 

 

200 households 

given advice 

annually 

 

On-going 

 

 

Continue to work with health services, Kent Adult 

& Children’s Service, Kent Supporting people and 

other organisations to meet community care 

needs through referral to appropriate services 

 

Hold annual 

information day 

for partners 

 

On-going 

 4f 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To assist in meeting 

the housing needs of 

people with disabilities 

 

 

 

 

Promote and provide Disabled Facilities Grants to 

fund aids and adaptations as appropriate and as 

recommended by occupational therapists 

450 DFGs 

completed  

 

By March 

2017 

Housing Renewal 

Team 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue to review and monitor the waiting times 

for occupational therapy assessments through 

regular meetings with Kent Adult & Children’s 

Service 

 

 

HR team to 

attend 

minimum of 6 

meetings 

annually 

 

On-going 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue with Disabled Accommodation Review 

meetings with TCHG and TWBC to monitor the 

needs of applicants on the JHR requiring disabled 

adapted accommodation and to have a joined up 

approach to identifying ways of meeting their 

needs. 

Quarterly 

meetings held 

 

On-going 

 

All 

 

Work with KCC to adopt a protocol for housing 

advice/assistance for disabled households 

 

KCC protocol 

introduced 

Adoption by 

2013 

4g Assist  vulnerable in 

accessing and 

sustaining housing 

association properties 

Develop a tenancy strategy  

 

Tenancy 

Strategy 

produced 

 

April 2012 AHO’s/ Housing 

Options Manager/ 

Housing Register  

Manager 

A
ppendix B

P
age 176



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

PRIORITY FIVE: IMPROVING THE QUALITY AND SUSTAINABILITY OF EXISTING HOMES 
Item Objective  

 

Actions 

 

Target  Key 

milestones 

Responsibility 

5a Improve the condition 

of the stock in the 

borough  

 

Develop a new  Housing Renewal Strategy for 

2011 -2016 having regard to the results of the 

House Condition Survey 2010, funding availability 

and proposed legislative changes 

 

 

 

Adoption by 

Cabinet of 

new Housing 

Renewal 

Strategy 

2011-2016 

 

By end July 

2012 

 

 

 

 

Housing 

Renewal Team 

Increase the number of homes meeting the decent 

homes standard through responding to complaints, 

providing advice, possible financial assistance and 

taking enforcement action as appropriate. 

 

450 

dwellings 

improved 

 

By March 

2017 

 

Promotion of assistance available to improve 

housing conditions through the council website, 

newsletter and other media. 

 

1 annual 

article in the 

newsletter 

 

On-going 

 

Continue to work with private landlords to improve 

the quality of homes in the private rented sector 

 

3 Landlord 

events held 

1 landlord 

bulletin 

produced 

 

By March 

2012 and 

ongoing 

 

Continue with the Private Accredited Lettings 

Scheme 

5 New Pal 

accreditation 

per annum 

 

On-going 

5b 

 

 

 

 

 

Increase the number 

of HMOs meeting the 

statutory minimum 

standards 

 

 

Re-inspect and re- issue licences to all licensable 

HMOs and issue new licences when required. 

 

 

 

32 licences 

re-issued 

 

 

 

 

By March 

2017 

Housing 

Renewal Team 

A
ppendix B

P
age 177



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue with inspection programme of non-

licensable HMOs, giving advice and if appropriate 

taking enforcement action to ensure mandatory 

standards are met 

160 non 

licensable 

HMOs 

inspected 

125 HMOs 

brought up 

to standard 

350 dwelling 

units 

brought up 

to standard 

By March 

2017 

5c Increase the energy 

efficiency of local 

housing reducing 

carbon emissions and 

the risk of fuel 

poverty. 

Monitor the new legislative requirements of the 

Energy Act and the review of the Home Energy 

Conservation Act and introduction of the Green 

Deal, amending policies and procedures as 

necessary including the restriction on letting 

properties with poor EPC ratings. 

 

Revision of 

Council 

policy as 

necessary 

Jan 2013 Housing 

Renewal Team 

Promote the advice and assistance available 

through national and local schemes to improve 

domestic energy efficiency working with external 

partners such as the Energy Advice Service, fuel 

utilities and other local authorities as appropriate. 

 

700 homes 

improved 

through 

national 

schemes 

By March 

2017 

Housing 

Renewal Team 

5d Maximise the use of 

existing stock in the 

borough, including 

reducing the number 

of long term empty 

homes in the borough 

and making best use of 

HA stock 

Review and revise the Empty Homes Strategy 

taking account of new initiatives, national policy 

and available funding 

 

Adoption of 

new Empty 

Homes 

Strategy 

By July 2012 Housing 

Renewal Team 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Encourage owners of empty properties to return 

them to use through advice, enforcement and the 

promotion of existing and new initiatives and 

funding options  

 

70 empty 

properties 

returned to 

use 

By March 

2017 

Work with the corporate Empty & Difficult Property 

Group to prioritise problem properties, resolve 

issues and return to use as appropriate 

Attend a 

minimum of 

6 meetings 

On-going  

 

 

A
ppendix B

P
age 178



Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Housing Strategy 2012-2017:  

Housing Solutions for our Residents  

 

 
 

 

 

per year 

 

 

 

 

 

Work with our housing association partners, to 

look at ways to reduce the number of homes that 

are under-occupied and encourage tenants of 

these properties to down-size.  

 

Develop local 

letting 

policies 

which 

prioritise 

some 

housing for 

households  

downsizing 

On-going Affordable 

Housing 

Officers/ 

Housing 

Register 

Manager 

 
 

A
ppendix B

P
age 179



Page 180

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Civic Medallion Award Scheme 2012 

 
To: Full Council 
 
Date: 18 July 2012  
 
Main Portfolio Area: Leader of the Council  
 
Author of report: Jane Clarke, Local Democracy Officer 
 
Classification: Non-Exempt  
 
Ward: All wards  
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council operates a Civic Medallion Award Scheme which seeks to 
give official recognition to people who have given ‘meritorious services’ to the Borough, over 
many years, most likely (though not exclusively) through the voluntary sector. The Scheme was 
set up in 1981 and during this time twenty-three medallions have been awarded. 
 
 

 
LINK TO STRATEGIC COMPASS 
 
This report links to the Confident Tunbridge Wells segment of the Strategic Compass. 
 

Report status 

 
For decision. 
 

Route to Implementation/Timetable:  

 
Following a Full Council decision to approve the nominations, the Civic Medallions will be 
awarded at the next Full Council meeting on 17 October 2012. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 181



BACKGROUND/INTRODUCTION 
 
1. In April 2012 three nominations were submitted for consideration under the Civic 

Medallion Award Scheme: Dr Philip Whitbourn, OBE, FSA, from the Civic Society and 
supported by Councillor Dr Linda Hall; the late Councillor Peter Crawford, from the Royal 
Tunbridge Wells Town Forum and supported by Councillor David Neve; and the late 
Councillor Kevin Lynes from Councillor Paul Barrington-King and supported by 
Councillors Backhouse, Williams and Weatherly. Both Councillors Crawford and Lynes 
were originally nominated under the Love Where We Live Awards, but it was felt by the 
then Leader of the Council, Councillor Atwood, that a Civic Medallion would be a more 
appropriate award for these nominees. 

 
2. In accordance with the first stage of the nomination process, the nominations were 

circulated to a small group of Councillors to include the Leader of the Council, the 
Mayor, and the relevant Group Leaders, for approval, before submission to Cabinet. 
Councillors Jukes, Smith, Neve, Hill and Webb were sent the nominations for approval.  

 
3. Councillors Jukes, Smith, Neve and Hill agreed all three nominations for submission. 

Councillor Webb agreed to Dr Whitbourn’s nomination, but did not agree to the 
nominations for Councillors Lynes and Crawford. Councillor Webb did not feel that 
Councillors should be given awards by the Council, and raised concerns that the 
scheme was very similar to the Love Where We Live Awards. As the majority view was 
to agree all the nominations, all three were submitted to Cabinet for discussion and 
consideration. 

 
4. The second stage in the nomination process was for the nominations to be considered at 

Cabinet for recommendation to Full Council. Cabinet considered the nominations on 27 
June 2012 and decided to recommend all three nominations to Full Council. 

 
WHAT IS THE ISSUE THAT REQUIRES A DECISION AND WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR 
THE PEOPLE OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS? 
 
5.  Full Council must now decide whether to award none, some, or all of the nominations, 

which will then be awarded formally at the Full Council meeting on 17 October 2012. 
Families members of the late Councillor Lynes and Councillor Crawford have been 
contacted regarding the possibility of a medallion being awarded, and have agreed to 
accept the award on behalf of their relative, should this occur.  

 
The Civic Medallion Scheme was set up to award meritorious service by residents in the 
Borough, and is a formal recognition of the nominee’s contribution to the Borough over 
several years. Following receipt of the award, the winners will be invited to high level 
civic events to demonstrate the Borough’s continued appreciation of their efforts.  

 
WHO HAVE WE CONSULTED AND HOW? 
 
6. Award nominations must be supported by a Member of the Borough Council. A small 

group of Councillors to include the Leader, Mayor and opposition Leaders have been 
consulted as part of the first stage, and Cabinet have recommended all three 
nominations as part of the second stage. Full Council will approve the final nominations. 

 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 182



HOW WILL THE DECISION BE COMMUNICATED? 
 
7.   The award winners will be presented with their medallions at a subsequent Full Council 

meeting. (In the cases of Councillors Lynes and Crawford, family members will be 
present to accept the award.) 

 
WHAT ALTERNATIVE ACTION COULD WE TAKE? 
 
8. Full Council could: 
 

• Decide not to award the nominations; 

• Award one nomination; 

• Award two nominations; 

• Award all three nominations. 
 
CONCLUSIONS   
 
9. Full Council is now asked to assess the nominations and decide which, if any, should be 

awarded. The citations, in each case, have been circulated to members of the Council 
under separate cover. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: That Full Council decides which, if any, of the nominations to award. 
 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
As part of the Civic Medallion nomination process, Full Council must decide which nominations 
to award. 
 
Contact Officer: Jane Clarke, Local Democracy Officer 
 

 
Name of Director/Head of Service 
Nazeya Hussain, Head of Policy & Partnerships 
 
Background Papers 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Civic Medallion Scheme 
 

APPENDICES TO REPORT 
 
APPENDIX A - Cross Cutting Issues 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 183



Page 184

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

 

Civic Medallion Award Scheme 2012 
 

CROSS CUTTING ISSUES  

 

LEGAL 

 

Legal  

1. Under the Civic Medallion Award Scheme it is for Full Council to make the final  decision 
to award civic medallions. 

 
Human Rights Act  

2. There are no specific issues. 
 
VALUE FOR MONEY AND USE OF RESOURCES 

 

Finance and other resources, including ICT  

3. The Awards are organised at minimal cost to the Council, with the Awards ceremony 
taking place as part of a pre-existing Council meeting, and subsequent invitations being 
sent to award winners for civic functions that would ordinarily take place in any case.  

 
Staffing  

4. There are no relevant staffing issues. 
 
Value for Money  

5. There are no relevant value for money issues.  
 
Risk Management 

6. There are no relevant risk management issues. 
 
COMMUNITY 

 

Safer & Stronger Communities  

7. There are no relevant safer and stronger communities issues. 
 
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
8. There are no relevant issues under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 
Environment / Sustainability  

9. There are no relevant issues under environment or sustainability. 

Appendix A

Page 185



 
 
Equalities 

10. The Awards Scheme is open to all residents of the Borough and based on meritorious 
service. 

 
 
Consideration of impacts under the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

Question Answer Explanation / Evidence 

a. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have potential to disadvantage or 

discriminate against different 

groups in the community? 

Yes / No  

b. Does the decision being made or 

recommended through this paper 

have the potential to promote 

equality of opportunity? 

Yes / No  

c. What steps can be taken to 

mitigate, reduce, avoid or minimise 

the impacts identified above? 

 N/A 

 
Health and Wellbeing 

11. The Civic Medallion Awards Scheme encourages civic pride and contributes to the 
overall wellbeing of the Borough. 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 186


	Agenda
	4 The minutes of the previous meetings
	Appendix A to minutes 23 May 12
	Full Council Minutes 19 June 2012

	7 New 'Standards Arrangements' for the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Area (TWBA) under the Localism Act 2011
	Appendix A Standards Report to FC 18 July 2012
	Appendix B Kent Code 2012
	Appendix C Kent procedures
	Appendix D Terms of Reference

	8 Audit, Standards and Overview and Scrutiny Committees Annual Reports 2011/12
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D O&S annual report

	9 Housing Strategy 2012-17
	TW Housing Strategy Appendix A
	TWBC Housing Strategy 2012-2017 Appendix B

	10 Civic Medallion Award Scheme 2012
	Civic Medallion Awards 2012 Appendix A


